Academic Catalog



BMIU

Bethel Ministries International University

2025-2026

Contents	
ABOUT US	5
HISTORY	6
ACCREDITATION	7
EDUCATIONAL PHILOSOPHY & MISSION STATEMENT PHILOSOPHY OF EDUCATION	8
STATEMENT OF MISSION AND PURPOSE	8
STATEMENT OF FAITH	10
THEOLOGY OF DIVERSITY, INCLUSION & EQUITY	11
COMMUNITY LIFE STATEMENT	13
STATEMENTS OF COMPLIANCE	15
FACULTY	19
BOARD OF TRUSTEES	19
ADMISSIONS REQUIREMENTS	19
DEGREE PROGRAMS	21
BACHELORS DEGREE	
BIBLICAL STUDIES CHRISTIAN EDUCATION	
MINISTRY AND LEADERSHIP	
THEOLOGICAL STUDIES	
WORSHIP LEADERSHIP	
MASTER OF DIVINITY	
MASTER OF ARTS IN CHRISTIAN COUNSELING	26
MASTER OF ARTS IN THEOLOGICAL STUDIES	27
MASTER OF ARTS IN CHRISTIAN EDUCATION	
MASTER OF THEOLOGY	
MASTER OF DIVINITY IN CHRISTIAN APOLOGETICS	48
MASTER OF DIVINITY IN LEADERSHIP	50
CERTIFICATE PROGRAMS	52
DOCTOR OF MINISTRY	53
DOCTOR IN CHRISTIAN EDUCATION	
APOLOGETICS (DIVISION OF CHRISTIAN THOUGHT)	61
CHURCH HISTORY (DIVISION OF CHRISTIAN THOUGHT)	63

COUNSELING (DIVISION OF PRACTICAL THEOLOGY)	72
M.A. IN COUNSELING STUDENTS	
CHRISTIAN THOUGHT (DIVISION OF CHRISTIAN THOUGHT)	80
EDUCATIONAL MINISTRIES (DIVISION OF PRACTICAL THEOLOGY)	
CHRISTIAN ETHICS (DIVISION OF CHRISTIAN THOUGHT)	
INVITATION FROM DIVISION	85
EVANGELISM (DIVISION OF PRACTICAL THEOLOGY)	86
GREEK LANGUAGE (DIVISION OF BIBLICAL STUDIES)	
INTERCULTURAL STUDIES (DIVISION OF CHRISTIAN THOUGHT)	
MINISTRY OF THE CHURCH (DIVISION OF PRACTICAL THEOLOGY)	
MENTORED MINISTRY (DIVISION OF PRACTICAL THEOLOGY)	94
NEW TESTAMENT (DIVISION OF BIBLICAL STUDIES)	
ORIENTAL LANGUAGES (DIVISION OF BIBLICAL STUDIES)	
OLD TESTAMENT (DIVISION OF BIBLICAL STUDIES)	
PASTORAL CARE/PSYCHOLOGY (DIVISION OF PRACTICAL THEOLOGY)	
PREACHING (DIVISION OF PRACTICAL THEOLOGY)	
SPIRITUAL FORMATION (DIVISION OF PRACTICAL THEOLOGY)	117
THEOLOGY (DIVISION OF CHRISTIAN THOUGHT)	119
WORLD MISSIONS (DIVISION OF CHRISTIAN THOUGHT)	
YOUTH MINISTRY (DIVISION OF PRACTICAL THEOLOGY)	
DOCTOR OF MINISTRY RESIDENCY COURSES	
MINISTRY TO EMERGING GENERATIONS	
MISSIONS, DEVELOPMENT, AND LEADERSHIP IN THE GLOBAL CONTEXT TRACK	
LEADERSHIP IN A CHANGING CHURCH CONTEXT TRACK	
OUTREACH AND DISCIPLESHIP TRACK	141
PASTORAL THEOLOGY IN PRACTICE / LIDERAZGO PASTORAL TRACK	
REDEMPTIVE LEADERSHIP TRACK	145
SPIRITUAL FORMATION FOR MINISTRY LEADERS TRACK	147
WORKPLACE THEOLOGY AND ETHICAL LEADERSHIP TRACK	
SEX-BASED MISCONDUCT	
SEX-BASED HARASSMENT	
SEXUAL ASSAULT	
NON-CONSENSUAL SEXUAL CONTACT	
SEXUAL EXPLOITATION	
CONSENT	194
INCAPACITATION	194
INITIAL ASSESSMENT AND INTERIM MEASURES	
WRITTEN NOTICE OF ALLEGATIONS:	
DISMISSAL OF A COMPLAINT:	
INVESTIGATION:	
TRANSCRIPT RECORDS	

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

ABOUT US

BMIU is owned and operated by Bethel Ministries International, Inc. Bethel Ministries is a registered 501 (c)(3) federal nonprofit organization established in 2000. Our main objective is to reconcile lost souls to Christ through the propagation of the Gospels of Jesus Christ.

BMIU offers educational training in the areas of Theology, Christian Ministry, Divinity and Biblical Matters.

BMIU does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, age, gender, national or ethnic origin, or physical handicap.

If you come to BMIU, what can you expect? You can anticipate being pushed to think in ways you never imagined, for the Church needs thinking Christians who can address our contexts from a Christian worldview

perspective. You will be prodded to deepen your walk with Christ, while looking outward to the needs of the world.

You will meet professors and fellow students who may think differently than you do about those parts of our faith that are secondary to the core. And, they will expand your own theological and spiritual horizons. You will find professors who are world renowned while giving themselves personally to your needs and concerns. You will be encouraged to have a passion for a world without Christ, while giving attention to the needs of the whole person and the whole of society. You will sometimes be nudged beyond your comfort zone to become prepared to serve Christ wherever he calls you.

God is doing exciting things at and through BMIU. We'd love to have you join this dynamic community. Whether you sense a leading to pastoral ministry, teaching ministries, counseling or a lay person serving Christ in the marketplace, I encourage you to consider BMIU, a seminary helping the Church to think and live.

Blessings,

Christopher L. Cookhorne, Ph.D. President & Professor of Apologetics

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

HISTORY

BMIU has a rich heritage. Founded in 2001 in Charlotte, NC; BMI has grown from a small Ministry and Bible Institute into a University with students and partners all around the world.

The purpose of the seminary is to equip persons for leadership in a variety of ministries in Christ's name. The times in which we live demand Christian workers who have an unshakable conviction regarding the authority and trustworthiness of Scripture, a sure grasp of the responsibilities of ministry, and a firm sense of calling to be God's servants in the world. Toward these ends, the seminary has structured its degree programs: the Master of Divinity, the Master of Arts in Theological Studies (with concentrations in various theological disciplines), the Master of Arts in Christian Ministries, the Master of Arts in Counseling, the Master of Theology, and the Doctor of Ministry. The seminary offers this variety of training programs because contemporary ministry requires specialized studies and skills.

The Lord has prospered this institution with trustees who are firm in their witness and support, faculty members

widely recognized for their academic acumen and pastoral emphasis, a skilled group of staff members known

among us for their dedication and competence, and a student body whose calling and enthusiasm strongly benefit the school. The alumni has many persons serving Christ around the world.

With the Apostle John we say, "This is the message we have heard from him and declare to you: God is light; in him there is no darkness at all. If we claim to have fellowship with him yet walk in the darkness, we lie and do not live by the truth. But if we walk in the light, as he is in the light, we have fellowship with one another, and the blood of Jesus, his Son, purifies us from all sin." (I John 1:5-7).

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

ACCREDITATION

BMIU is fully accredited by the International Association for Quality Assurance in Higher Education (QAHE). This ensures our institution's academic integrity for exceptional student education.



Educational Philosophy & Mission Statement Philosophy of Education

BMIU is a distinctively Christian academic community. As such, BMIU continues the philosophy of education which first gave rise to the seminary, and which is summarized in the following propositions.

God, the infinite source of all things, has shown us truth through scripture, nature, history, and above all, in Christ.

Persons are spiritual, rational, moral, social, and physical, created in the image of God. They are, therefore, able to know and to value themselves and other persons, the universe, and God.

Education as the process of teaching and learning involves the whole person, by developing the knowledge, values, and skills which enable each individual to change freely. Thus, it occurs most effectively when both instructor and student are properly related to God and each other through Christ.

Statement of Mission and Purpose

Maintaining the vision of the founder, Dr. Christopher L. Cookhorne BMIU develops Christcentered men and women with the values, knowledge, and skills essential to impact the world. Through its residential and online programs, services, facilities, and collaborations, the Seminary educates men and women who will make important contributions to their workplaces and communities, follow their chosen vocations as callings to glorify God, and fulfill the Great Commission.

BMI University will:

- 1. Emphasize excellence in teaching and learning.
- 2. Foster university-level competencies in communication, critical thinking, information literacy, and mathematics in all undergraduate programs.
- 3. Ensure competency in scholarship, research, and professional communication in all graduate programs and undergraduate programs where appropriate.
- 4. Promote the synthesis of academic knowledge and a Christian worldview in order that there might be a maturing of spiritual, intellectual, social and physical value-driven behavior.
- 5. Enable students to engage in a major field of study in career-focused disciplines built on a solid foundation in the liberal arts.
- Promote an understanding of the Western tradition and the diverse elements of American cultural history, especially the importance of the individual in maintaining democratic and free market processes.
- 7. Contribute to a knowledge and understanding of other cultures and of international events.
- 8. Encourage a commitment to the Christian life, one of personal integrity, sensitivity to the needs of others, social responsibility and active communication of the Christian faith, and, as it is lived out, a life that leads people to Jesus Christ as the Lord of the universe and their own personal Savior.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

STATEMENT OF FAITH

- I. The sixty-six canonical books of the Bible as originally written were inspired of God, hence free from error. They constitute the only infallible guide in faith and practice.
- II. There is one God, the Creator and Preserver of all things, infinite in being and perfection.He exists eternally in three Persons; the Father, the Son and the Holy Spirit, who are of one substance and equal in power and glory.
- III. Man, created in the image of God, through disobedience fell from his sinless state at the suggestion of Satan. This fall plunged man into a state of sin and spiritual death and brought upon the entire race the sentence of eternal death. From this condition man can be saved only by the grace of God, through faith, on the basis of the work of Christ, and by the agency of the Holy Spirit.
- IV. The eternally pre-existent Son became incarnate without a human father, by being born of the virgin Mary. Thus, in the Lord Jesus Christ divine and human natures were united in one Person, both natures being whole, perfect and distinct. To effect salvation, He lived a sinless life and died on the cross as the sinner's substitute, shedding His blood for the remission of sins. On the third day He rose from the dead in the body which had been laid in the tomb. He ascended to the right hand of the Father, where He performs the ministry of intercession. He shall come again, personally and visibly, to complete His saving work and to consummate the eternal plan of God.
- V. The Holy Spirit is the third Person of the Triune God. He applies to man the work of Christ.
 By justification and adoption man is given a right standing before God; by regeneration, sanctification and glorification man's nature is renewed.
- VI. The believer, having turned to God in penitent faith in the Lord Jesus Christ, is accountable to God for living a life separated from sin and characterized by the fruit of the Spirit. It is his responsibility to contribute by word and deed to the universal spread of the Gospel.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

VII. At the end of the age the bodies of the dead shall be raised. The righteous shall enter into full possession of eternal bliss in the presence of God, and the wicked shall be condemned to eternal death.

THEOLOGY OF DIVERSITY, INCLUSION & EQUITY

As a Christian learning community whose mission is to prepare men and women for ministry, we have a charge to work with churches towards the maturing of students so that their experiential knowledge of God in Christ is evidenced in their character, outlook, conduct, relationships and involvement in society. In this work, we are guided by the following theological understanding of diversity, inclusion and equity. The foundation for our understanding of diversity as an essential element in Divine unity is: creation, the Trinity, the Gospel (Luke 4:16–30), the Church's mission (Matthew 28:16–20) and eschatology (Revelation 7:9–10).

God's creation is tremendously diverse while also unified in bringing glory to the one, triune God. God's creation of humans is described as "very good," and that included the diversity already present (Genesis 1:31). This diversity in image-bearers reflects the Trinity's unity-in-diversity.

Adam and Eve's rebellion and the brokenness of the relationship between humans and God has marred all human relationships, including broken relationship between races and ethnicities. God condemns all injustice and oppression, but especially preying on the weak or marginalized (Isaiah 10:1–4). God's great love brought the incarnation, and its expression on earth culminated in the cross as Jesus died for our sins. Divine love flowed from divine justice toward healing human injustice preeminently through Christ's self-sacrifice. God's holiness, justice and resurrection power is our hope for reconciliation with God and the foundation for our life together as the people of God (Ephesians 2:14–18).

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

God calls us toward a community of love, justice and righteousness. As members of the household of faith, we come together in our differences—we cannot be the family of God without those who are different from us (Romans 12:3–8). This inclusionary posture, characterized by love in our communities, our discipleship and our mission is evidence of life in the Spirit of God (1 Corinthians 12:12–27). Additionally, we must be a just community—one of equity and respect as we serve and honor one another as better than ourselves (Philippians 2:3).

Amid a world that is far from the Garden of Eden, we find easy evidence of evil in the form of corruption, discrimination, abuse, enmity, slander, hatred and more—both in systems and in individual practices. Therefore, we lament and repent from any way which we have participated in this evil, actively or passively, and pursue the manifestation of God's love, seeking forgiveness from each other and from the Lord. God intends for us to live in shalom, and we long for the vision of Revelation in which humanity flourishes together worshipping in the unmediated presence of God in His holy city:

"After this I saw a vast crowd, too great to count, from every nation and tribe and people and language, standing in front of the throne and before the Lamb. They were clothed in white robes and held palm branches in their hands. And they were shouting with a great roar, 'Salvation comes from our God who sits on the throne and from the Lamb!" (Revelation 7:9–10, NLT). While we wait, we are called to pray for and work toward a community that reflects the nature of the triune God: one of love, justice and righteousness.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

COMMUNITY LIFE STATEMENT

Our community life at BMIU is bounded and illumined by Scripture. We recognize the unique calling we have as an institution of theological education and seek to live faithfully to our mission of forming women and men to serve the global church. We seek to be a thoughtful, loving, and Christ-centered community of global discipleship, whether in-person or in-digital spaces. As such, the following are our commitments to each other for the sake of our love for Christ, and for our sanctification and witness as we seek to thrive and flourish in this place.

- I. We affirm that the Scriptures of the Old and New Testaments are the ultimate guide for our values, attitudes, and behaviors in all relationships. Our statement of faith provides our common commitment to Scripture.
- II. We will foster the development of spiritual maturity by deepening a personal relationship with Jesus and through participating in corporate worship and prayer and other communal activities.
- III. We will keep the unity of the Spirit through the bond of peace, and in gentleness, patience, and humility; we will accept one another in love.
- IV. We will encourage one another to mature in Christ-likeness by empathetically speaking the truth in love in all areas of our common life.
- V. We will value our families, attending to their emotional, spiritual, and physical health and well-being, as well as our own. We will affirm the full value of singleness alongside marriage, childless alongside children; and we will resist actions that threaten these values, such as unaddressed addictions, domestic abuse, and divorce.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

- VI. We will respect and encourage each person's uniqueness in Christ, which includes our diversity of denomination, race, culture, personality, experience, gifts, and goals.
- VII. We will each become involved individually in a local church and ministering to spiritual and social needs within and beyond our own community. We will practice hospitality and regular rhythms of rest and worship.
- VIII. We hold to a biblical standard for human flourishing and thus will leave behind all behaviors and desires Scripture calls sin, such as gossip, falsehood, stealing, drunkenness, racism, violence, an unforgiving spirit, and sexual immorality of all types, such as, by example only, pornography, and any sexual activities outside of the covenant of marriage between one man and one woman, including premarital intercourse and adultery.
 - IX. Imago Deiek justice, rooted in an understanding that we, as men and women created in the Imago Dei, will treat each other with respect and love without regard to academic abilities, socio-economic status, race, ethnicity, nationality, age, disability status, or any other Godordained distinction. Injustice and prejudice have no place at BMIU.
 - X. We believe where conflict or sin occurs in the BMIU community, a biblical process, such as stated in Matthew 18:15-20, should be followed to seek correction, forgiveness, restitution, and reconciliation. We will seek truth and peace in love.
 - XI. We will seek to practice a humble attitude of mutual submission according to the mind of Christ, recognizing that at times our personal freedoms must be put aside for the sake of others' conscience and the good of the community. We will do so joyfully.
- XII. We will seek to encourage the exercise of such spiritual attributes as love, joy, peace, patience, kindness, goodness, faithfulness, gentleness, and self-control. Whether we are physically present or in digital spaces, we intend to love our neighbors well.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

The Board of Trustees is the final arbiter with respect to determining what is in conformity with the Community Standards. Approved May 2021

STATEMENTS OF COMPLIANCE

Federal Laws and Regulations

General Statement

BMIU does not discriminate on the basis of race, gender, color, national or ethnic origin, age, handicap, or veteran status.

Specific Federal Laws and Regulations

1. Civil Rights Act of 1964. BMIU complies, and is required by law to comply, with the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (Title VI, Section 601). The act provides that "no person in the United States shall, on the ground of race, color, or national origin be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any program or activity receiving federal financial assistance." We adhere Civil Rights Act of 1964. BMIU complies, and is required by law to comply, with the Civil Rights Act of 1964. BMIU complies, and is required by law to comply, with the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (Title VI, Section 601). The act provides that "no person in the United States shall, on the ground of race, color, or national origin be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any program or activity receiving federal financial assistance." We adhere to the letter and spirit of the law with a policy of nondiscrimination on the basis of race, color or national origin. This policy applies to our educational program and activities and extends to employment, to admissions and to recruitment of both students and employees. Inquiries concerning the Seminary's obligations under this act may be addressed to the Registrar's Office,

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

2. Internal Revenue Service Procedure 75-50. BMIU admits students of any race, color, national and ethnic origin to all the rights, privileges, programs and activities generally accorded or made available to students at the Seminary. We do not discriminate on the basis of race, gender, national or ethnic origin, age, handicap, or veteran status in administration of our educational policies, admissions policies, scholarship and loan programs and other Seminary-administered programs.

This policy meets the requirements of the Internal Revenue Service's Revenue Procedure 75-50, dated March 1976.

3. Title IX of the Higher Education Amendments of 1972. BMIU complies with Title IX of the Higher Education Amendments of 1972, as amended, and with Part 86 of the Rules and Regulations of the Department of Education to effectuate Title IX. The Seminary is required to comply with Title IX and with part 86. Title IX provides that "no person in the United States shall, on the basis of sex, be excluded from participation in, be subjected to discrimination under any educational program or activity receiving federal financial assistance," with certain exceptions. We adhere to the letter and spirit of the law with a policy of non-discrimination on the basis of sex. This policy applies to our educational program and activities and extends to employment, to admissions and to recruitment of both students and employees.

Inquiries concerning the application of Title IX and the regulations pertaining to it may be referred to the Title IX Coordinator's Office. Title IX Coordinator is the Dean of Students.

4. Rehabilitation Act of 1973. BMIU complies with Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, and with part 84 of the Rules and Regulations of the Department of Education to effectuate that act. The Seminary is required to comply with Section 504 and with part 84.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

Section 504 provides that "no otherwise qualified handicapped individual in the United States... shall, solely by reason of his handicap, be excluded from the participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any program or activity receiving federal financial assistance." We adhere to the letter and the spirit of the law with a policy of non-discrimination on the basis of handicap, whether physical or mental. This policy applies to our educational program and activities and extends to employment, to admissions and to recruitment of both students and employees. Whenever a disabled student wishes to attend or participate in a program or activity which is inaccessible, that program or activity will be relocated to an accessible area. Forty-eight-hour notice by the disabled individual of the need for relocation should be made to the Office of Student Life Services. (This is in compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990.) Inquiries concerning the application of Section 504 and the regulations pertaining to it may be referred to the Registrar's Office.

5. Family Education Rights and Privacy Act. BMIU complies with the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (Section 438 of the General Education Provisions Act, Title IV of Public Law 90-247), as amended, and with Part 99 of the Rules and Regulations of the Department of Education to effectuate that act. The Seminary is required to comply with the act and with Part 99. The act provides that students attending any postsecondary educational institution which receives federal funds are entitled to have access to their education records kept by the institution in order to inspect and review those records. Students are entitled to request the amendment of any information in their education of their privacy or other rights. Students are also entitled to have some control over the disclosure of information from their education records. Inquiries concerning the application of the Family Education and Privacy Act and the regulations pertaining to it may be addressed to the Registrar's Office.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

- 6. Student Consumer Information. BMIU complies with Section 493A of Title IV of the Higher Education Act of 1965, as added to that act by Section 131 (b) of the Education Amendments of 1976, and with Part 178 of the Rules and Regulations of the Department of Education to effectuate Section 493A. The Seminary is required to comply with Section 493A and Part 178. Section 493A requires that student consumer information be provided any student or prospective student who requests such information. The types of information to be provided are: (1) a description of the student financial aid programs available at BMIU, including the rights and responsibilities of students receiving assistance through federally funded programs; (2) a description of the Seminary's faculty, academic program, and educational facilities; (3) a description of the Seminary's refund policy; and (4) data regarding the Seminary's student retention rate. In addition to the foregoing information, BMIU is required by Part 177 of the Rules and Regulations of the Department of Education to provide recent information concerning placement of students in professional degree programs (i.e., the Master of Divinity and professional Master of Arts programs). As per Section 485 of the Educational Amendments of 1980, BMIU must provide information on facilities and services available to handicapped students.
- 7. Drug Free Schools and Campuses Act. BMIU is in compliance with the Drug-Free Schools and Campuses Act Amendment of 1989 relating to the illegal use of alcohol and drugs. Following is the policy statement pertaining to this act: BMIU seeks to provide a safe setting and to protect the public health for all members of the seminary community by securing a drug-free environment in compliance with the Drug Free Schools and Campuses Act of 1989 (federal law). The law declares that students and employees have the right to study and work in a setting free from the effects of drug or alcohol abuse. In keeping with the principles outlined in our Community Life Statement and our Christian tradition as a theological seminary that prepares men and women for Christian ministry, policies dealing with the illegal and abusive use of alcohol or drugs are adopted in compliance with the law (see Student Handbook).

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

 Department of Veterans Affairs requirements under 38 CFR 21.4253, 38 US Code 3675, 38 CFR 21.4254, 38 US Code 3676.

FACULTY

Dr. Christopher Cookhorne, Professor Dr. Melba Layne, Professor Dr. Paul, Professor Dr. George Njoroge, Professor Dr. Joseph Kiai, Professor Lillian Nduta, Professor

BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Richard Lawrence, Vice Chairman Renee Wilson, Secretary Michelle Cookhorne, Treasurer Derrick Sanders David Byangu

ADMISSIONS REQUIREMENTS

BMIU seeks students who are committed to Christ and whose lives demonstrate consistency with the teachings of Scripture. It is expected that such students will be emotionally suited for Christian service and intellectually capable of rigorous academic discipline. Decisions regarding admission are made on the basis of an individual's total application file. Enrollment is open to qualified

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

students who, without distinction of race, sex, handicap, or denomination, desire to undertake serious theological study and who show promise of success in such an endeavor.

To qualify for admission, the applicant must possess a baccalaureate (or its academic equivalent) from an accredited institution of higher learning and have demonstrated intellectual capability. Applicants should generally have at least a 2.5 (on a 4.0 scale) for acceptance. Applicants to the Master of Arts in Counseling, Master of Arts in Christian Counseling or Master of Arts in Theological Studies programs must have an earned baccalaureate with a GPA of 3.0 or higher (on a 4.0 scale). Applicants to the Master of Theology (Th.M.) and Doctor of Ministry (DMIN) should have previously earned a Master of Divinity or its educational equivalent from an accredited seminary and earned a final GPA of at least 3.0 (on a 4.0 scale). All applicants should complete the online application form which will also require the following:

1) Two Uploaded Essays

- A 1–2-page personal statement addressing questions about your vocational goals, church involvement, encouragement from others, reasons for applying to BMI University, and an assessment of your own strengths and weaknesses.
- A 1–2-page autobiographical statement.

2) Three Recommendations

- Pastor or Church Official (Master of Divinity applicants must also submit a Church Endorsement. Pastoral references have an opportunity to provide a church endorsement when completing the pastoral recommendation).
- Friend or Associate.
- Former Professor or Professional Colleague (references should be individuals whom the applicant has known for at least one year and is not a relative.

3) Official Transcripts

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

- Official transcripts must be sent directly to BMIU, or hand-delivered in a sealed envelope. Copies and opened transcripts are not considered official.
- Transcripts may be sent by any means your college(s) uses for transmitting official transcripts; official electronic transcripts are accepted.
- BMIU is a partner school of Parchment. If your college uses this service for transmitting electronic transcripts, search for and have the transcripts sent to "BMI University.
- We do need transcripts from all colleges/universities attended, even if the classes were transferred to another school and are reflected on their transcripts.

4) Application Fee: \$50

DEGREE PROGRAMS

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

Bachelors Degree

- Biblical Studies
- Christian Education
- Ministry and Leadership
- Theological Studies
- Worship Leadership

BMIU offers eight advanced degree programs through residential, online, and hybrid education models.

- a. Master of Divinity
- b. MA in Christian Counseling
- c. MA in Theological Studies
- d. MA in Christian Education
- e. MA in Christian Apologetics
- f. MA in Christian Leadership
- g. Doctor of Ministry
- h. Doctor in Christian Education

MASTER OF DIVINITY

The Master of Divinity (MDiv) program is intended for people seeking strong academic preparation for ministry.

Prospective students should be committed Christians called to ministry who are dedicated to serving the church and the world. The MDiv can be a steppingstone to a Th.M. or a D.Min. Students participating in the Master of Divinity degree must complete 90 credit hours and maintain a grade point average of 2.0 or higher.

Legend:

TH = Theology

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

SF = Spiritual Formation WM = World Missions NT = New Testament OT Old Testament ET = Ethics CO = Counseling MM Mentored Ministry

Degree Requirements:

Christian Thought Core Requirements (8 courses/24 credits)

CH501 The Church to the Reformation CH502 The Church Since the Reformation IS/WM520 Understanding Culture Ethics Elective (ET or SE Course) TH501 Theology Survey I TH502 Theology Survey II TH Elective WM601 World Mission of the Church or

Biblical Studies Core Requirements (12 courses/36 credits)

OT500 Exploring the Old Testament NT501 Exploring the New Testament GL501 Basic Greek I GL502 Basic Greek II NT502 Interpreting the New Testament NT Narrative Book Exegesis (NT611-619) NT Epistle Exegesis (NT620-649) OL501 Hebrew I

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

OL502 Hebrew II OT511 Interpreting the Old Testament OT 600-Level Hebrew Exegesis (OT625-670) OT 700-Level Hebrew Exegesis (OT750, 765, or 770)

Practical Theology Core Requirements (7 courses/21 credits)

SF Course (MC/SF501 Spiritual Formation for Ministry or CH/SF591 Dynamics of Spiritual Life)
PC Course (PC511 Intro. to Pastoral Counseling or MC/PC513 Healthy Relationships in Ministry)
PR601 Preaching: Principles & Practices in Preparing Relevant Biblical Sermons
Pastoral Communication Course (Select from: MC520 Communication for Ministry and Career, PR602
Preaching for Modern Listeners, or PR717 Cultural Exegesis for Preaching).
Pastoral Skills Course (any Leadership (CL) or Evangelism (EV) Course)
Practical Theology Elective (any CL, CO, EM, EV, MC, PC, PR, SF or YM Course)

Mentored Ministry Requirements (3 courses/3 credits)

MM505 Mentored Ministry Course 1 MM605 Mentored Ministry Course 2 MM705 Mentored Ministry Course 3

General Electives (2 courses/6 credits)

Elective 1

Elective 2

Master of Divinity Program Goals:

- Graduates will be spiritually grounded. They will understand who they are as children of God and will be faithful in developing their relationships with Christ and with his people.
- Graduates will be biblically grounded. They will acknowledge the authority of God's inerrant Bible and its centrality in governing Christian life and practice. They will understand the main themes and emphases of the Old and New Testaments and have a grasp of the overall message of the Bible and its implications for all aspects of life.
- Graduates will be exegetically skilled. They will be adept at using the biblical languages, will grasp the basics of interpretive methodology, and will have practice in using tools and techniques to handle the Bible well.
- Graduates will be historically and theologically adept. They will appreciate the historical and doctrinal heritage both of the Christian church as a whole and of the specific group or groups of which they are a part. They will have significant exposure to historical and theological studies.
- Graduates will be culturally and globally aware. They will recognize the importance of understanding the culture in which one ministers and will possess experience in interpreting their particular ministry context in light of Scripture. They will be aware of what the Lord is doing to establish his kingdom throughout the world and will see their own ministries in direct connection to the worldwide mission of his church.
- Graduates in some concentrations will have detailed exposure to cultural and global studies.
- Graduates will be equipped with ministry skills. They will be adept at public proclamation of God's Word, discipling God's people, and guiding the church's ministries.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

MASTER OF ARTS IN CHRISTIAN COUNSELING

The Master of Arts in Christian Counseling program. The program prepares students for licensure through the CACREP-accredited program. The Counseling program seeks to provide Christian training in biblical, theological, and psychological disciplines. Those who complete this training program in counseling may expect significant growth in their professional development in preparation for Christian and/or secular employment opportunities. A major feature of the program is its commitment to supervised clinical practicum and internship experiences. Students will experience a variety of clinical training sites as well as regular supervision in a clinical setting. Students will often have opportunities to participate in seminars, workshops, town hall meetings, group supervision, and other professional development.

Students must complete 66 credit hours, including 22 courses (66 credit hrs.) and the completion of annual three-day counseling residencies. Students must maintain a grade point average of 3.0 or higher in order to graduate. For all counseling (CO) courses, students must obtain a C- or higher; students will have to retake the course in which a grade below C- was obtained. Students will also be required to attend 12 Personal Counseling sessions, and successfully complete an Exit Evaluation and the Counselor Preparation Comprehensive Exam (CPCE). The program consists of three courses in Biblical Studies, two courses in Christian Thought, 12 foundational courses in the field of counseling, two counseling electives, and three semesters of practicum/internship.

Degree Requirements:

General Core Requirements (5 courses/15 credits)

OT500 Exploring the Old Testament NT501 Exploring the New Testament NT/OT517 Interpreting the Bible TH501 Theology Survey I TH502 Theology Survey II

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

Counseling Concentration Requirements (14 courses/42 credits) CO502 Introduction to Counseling & Systems Theory CO540 Helping Relationships CO610 Lifespan Development: Implications for Counseling CO699 Research Methods & Design CO710 Psychopathology CO712 Multicultural Diversity in Counseling CO/PC718 Group Dynamics CO735 Assessment in Counseling CO/PC750 Counseling for Crisis and Addictions CO770 Career Counseling CO790C Professional Standards and Ethics CO850 Advanced Christian Counseling Models and Practice

Counseling Elective

Practicum/Internship & Professional Seminars (3 courses/9 credits)

CO867/CO875 Clinical Counseling Practicum & Supervision

CO868/CO875 Clinical Counseling Practicum & Supervision

CO869/CO875 Clinical Counseling Practicum & Supervision

Co-curricular Requirements (0 credits)

CO851 – Exit Evaluation (0 credits)

CO852 – Personal Counseling (0 credits)

CPCE – Counselor Preparation Comprehensive Exam (0 credits)

MASTER OF ARTS IN THEOLOGICAL STUDIES

The Master of Arts in Theological Studies (MATS) is intended for those seeking strong academic preparation for ministry. Prospective students should be committed Christians called to ministry

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

who see their academics as a central part of their ministries. The program's base curriculum includes eight-to-ten core courses, a six-to-eight course concentration in an area that may be academic, ministry-related, or a combination, and other requirements such as language study that relate to the area of concentration. Students may pursue an open 6 course concentration in consultation with their advisor or they may follow a prescribed concentration: Biblical Languages, Church History, Intercultural Studies, Old Testament, New Testament, Spiritual Formation, Theology.

Depending on concentration, the MATS can be a steppingstone to a Th.M., or with additional ministry coursework, to a D.Min. Students participating in the MATS degree must complete 60 credit hours and maintain a grade point average of 3.0 or higher.

Degree Requirements – Standard MATS track:

General Core (10 courses/30 credits)

OT500 Exploring the Old Testament

NT501 Exploring the New Testament

NT/OT517 Interpreting the Bible (or NT 502 or OT 511)

CH500 Survey of Church History

Ethics Course (any ET Course)

TH501 Theology Survey I

TH502 Theology Survey II

World Missions or Evangelism Course (Any WM or EV Course)

MC/SF501 Spiritual for Ministry or CH/SF591 Dynamics of Spiritual Life

IS/WM520 Understanding Culture

Concentration Courses (6 courses/18 credits)

6 Concentration Courses (no more than two should be taken at the 500 level)

Language Courses (2 courses/6 credits)

Language I (first semester)

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

Language II (second semester)

General Electives (2 courses/6 credits)

2 Elective Courses

Co-curricular Requirement (0 credits)

Summative Evaluation

MATS – BIBLICAL LANGUAGES TRACK

GENERAL CORE REQUIREMENTS (7 courses)

OT500 Exploring the Old Testament*

NT501 Exploring the New Testament*

CH500 Survey of Church History

Ethics course (any ET course) or OT595 OT Ethics

TH501 Theology Survey I

TH502 Theology Survey II

SF Course (MC/SF501 or CH/SF591) or IS/WM520 Understanding Culture

LANGUAGE REQUIREMENTS (4 courses)

OL501 Hebrew I*

OL502 Hebrew II*

GL501 Greek I*

GL502 Greek II*

CONCENTRATION REQUIREMENTS (9 courses)

OT511 Interpreting the Old Testament

OL910 Intermediate Hebrew or OL915 Advanced Hebrew

OT600 level Hebrew Exegesis course

OT700 level Hebrew Exegesis course

NT502 Interpreting the New Testament

GL601/901 Intermediate Greek

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

NT Narrative Greek Exegesis course NT Epistle Greek Exegesis course Advanced Language or Advanced GL or OL (700 level or higher) SUMMATIVE EVALUATION (no credit)

MATS – CHURCH HISTORY TRACK

GENERAL CORE REQUIREMENTS (9 courses)

OT500 Exploring the Old Testament NT501 Exploring the New Testament NT/OT517 Interpreting the Bible (or NT502 or OT511) Ethics course (any ET course) TH501 Theology Survey I TH502 Theology Survey II Any World Missions (WM) or Evangelism (EV) IS/WM520 Understanding Culture MC/SF501 Spiritual Formation or CH/SF591 Dynamics of Spiritual Life

LANGUAGE REQUIREMENTS (2 courses)

Language I (first semester) Language II (second semester)

CONCENTRATION REQUIREMENTS (8 courses)

CH501 The Church to the Reformation CH502 The Church Since the Reformation CH812 Historiography CH elective (600 level or higher)

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

CH elective (600 level or higher) CH elective (600 level or higher) CH elective (600 level or higher) CH860 Research in Church History or CH elective

ELECTIVE (1 course) Elective course SUMMATIVE EVALUATION (no credit) MATS – INTERCULTURAL STUDIES TRACK

GENERAL CORE REQUIREMENTS (9 courses)

OT500 Exploring the Old Testament NT501 Exploring the New Testament NT/OT517 Interpreting the Bible (or NT502 or OT511) Ethics course (any ET course) CH501 The Church to the Reformation CH502 The Church Since the Reformation TH501 Theology Survey I TH502 Theology Survey II MC/SF501 Spiritual Formation or CH/SF591 Dynamics of Spiritual Life

LANGUAGE REQUIREMENTS (2 courses)

Language I (first semester) Language II (second semester)

CONCENTRATION REQUIREMENTS (8 courses)

WM601 The World Mission of the Church
Evangelism (EV) course 600 level or higher
IS/WM520 Understanding Culture
WM or IS elective (600 level or higher)

ELECTIVE (1 course)

Elective course SUMMATIVE EVALUATION (no credit) MATS – NEW TESTAMENT TRACK

GENERAL CORE REQUIREMENTS (9 courses)

OT500 Exploring the Old Testament* NT501 Exploring the New Testament* CH500 Survey of Church History Ethics course (any ET course) or OT595 OT Ethics TH501 Theology Survey I TH502 Theology Survey II Any World Missions (WM) or Evangelism (EV) or NT918 NT Missions IS/WM520 Understanding Culture Spiritual Formation course (MC/SF501 or CH/SF591)

CONCENTRATION REQUIREMENTS (9 courses)

GL501 Greek I* GL502 Greek II*

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

GL601/901 Intermediate Greek or Advanced GL course NT502 Interpreting the New Testament NT Narrative Greek Exegesis course NT Epistle Greek Exegesis course NT elective (600 level or higher) NT elective in History/Archaeology or Cultural Backgrounds ** OT Elective (OT511 or other) **BIBLICAL STUDIES ELECTIVES (2 courses)** Any GL, NT, OL, or OT course Any GL, NT, OL, or OT course SUMMATIVE EVALUATION (no credit)

MATS - OLD TESTAMENT TRACK

GENERAL CORE REQUIREMENTS (9 courses)

OT500 Exploring the Old Testament* NT501 Exploring the New Testament* CH500 Survey of Church History Ethics course (any ET course) or OT595 OT Ethics TH501 Theology Survey I TH502 Theology Survey II Any World Missions (WM) or Evangelism (EV) or NT918 NT Missions IS/WM520 Understanding Culture Spiritual Formation course (MC/SF501 or CH/SF591)

CONCENTRATION REQUIREMENTS (9 courses)

OL501 Hebrew I * OL502 Hebrew II * OL course (900 level or higher)

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

OT511 Interpreting the Old Testament OT600 level Hebrew Exegesis course OT700 level Hebrew Exegesis course OT elective (600 level or higher) OT elective in History/Archaeology or Cultural Backgrounds** NT elective (NT502 or other)

BIBLICAL STUDIES ELECTIVES (2 courses)

Any GL, NT, OL, or OT course Any GL, NT, OL, or OT course SUMMATIVE EVALUATION (no credit)

MATS – SPIRITUAL FORMATION TRACK

GENERAL CORE REQUIREMENTS (11 courses)

OT500 Exploring the Old Testament NT501 Exploring the New Testament NT/OT517 Interpreting the Bible (or NT502 or OT511) Any Biblical Studies course (GL, NT, OL, OT) Ethics course (any ET course) CH501 The Church to the Reformation CH502 The Church Since the Reformation TH501 Theology Survey I TH502 Theology Survey II IS/WM520 Understanding Culture World Missions (WM) or Evangelism (EV) course

CONCENTRATION REQUIREMENTS (6 courses)

MC/SF501 Spiritual Formation for Ministry

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

CH/SF591 Dynamics of Spiritual Life CH/SF elective Any Counseling elective (CO or CO/SF) Any SF elective Any SF elective

ELECTIVE (3 courses)

Elective course Elective course Elective course SUMMATIVE EVALUATION (no credit) MATS – THEOLOGY TRACK

GENERAL CORE REQUIREMENTS (9 courses)

OT500 Exploring the Old Testament NT501 Exploring the New Testament NT/OT517 Interpreting the Bible (or NT502 or OT511) Ethics course (any ET course) CH501 The Church to the Reformation CH502 The Church Since the Reformation Any World Missions (WM) or Evangelism (EV) IS/WM520 Understanding Culture MC/SF501 Spiritual Formation or CH/SF591 Dynamics of Spiritual Life

LANGUAGE REQUIREMENTS (2 courses)

Language I (first semester) Language II (second semester)

CONCENTRATION REQUIREMENTS (8 courses)

TH501 Theology Survey I TH502 Theology Survey II Any Ethics (ET or SE) or Apologetics (AP) course TH elective (600 level or higher) TH860 Research in Theology or TH elective **ELECTIVE (1 course)** Elective course SUMMATIVE EVALUATION (no credit)

MATS students will complete a summative evaluation in one of the following ways, dependent on Divisional preference:

- An oral interview before one or two members of the respective division. This interview is based on the content of the courses the student has taken in the major field of study, either at BMI University or at other schools, if the student has transferred to BMI University and is intended to be integrative in nature.
- An integrative paper which deals with questions concerning integration of curriculum, intellectual development, worldview, spirituality, vocational calling, and a plan for lifelong learning.
- Students writing a one or two part Thesis or completing an 800-level Research course as part of their concentration are not required to complete a summative evaluation.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

MA in Theological Studies Program Goals:

- Graduates will be spiritually grounded. They will understand who they are as children of God and will be faithful in developing their relationships with Christ and with his people.
- Graduates will be biblically grounded. They will acknowledge the authority of God's inerrant Bible and its centrality in governing Christian life and practice. They will understand the main themes and emphases of the Old and New Testaments and have a grasp of the overall message of the Bible and its implications for all aspects of life.
- Graduates will be exegetically skilled. They will grasp the basics of interpretive methodology and will have practice in using tools and techniques to handle the Bible well.
- Graduates in some concentrations will have significant exposure to the biblical languages and their use in exegesis.
- Graduates will be historically and theologically adept. They will appreciate the historical and doctrinal heritage both of the Christian church as a whole and of the specific group or groups of which they are a part. Graduates in some concentrations will have significant exposure to historical and theological studies.
- Graduates will be culturally and globally aware. They will recognize the importance of understanding the culture in which one ministers and will possess experience in interpreting their particular ministry context in light of Scripture. They will be aware of what the Lord is doing to establish his kingdom throughout the world and will see their own ministries in direct connection to the worldwide mission of his church.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

- Graduates in some concentrations will have detailed exposure to cultural and global studies.
- Graduates will be equipped with ministry skills. They will understand the nature of teaching and academic work as a ministry to the church and the world.

MASTER OF ARTS IN CHRISTIAN EDUCATION

The Master of Arts in Christian Education (MACE) is intended for those preparing for a variety of Christian ministries. Prospective students should be committed Christians called to ministry, and perhaps already engaging in ministry. The program's base curriculum includes nine core courses, six courses concentrating in an area of ministry, and one elective. Students may consult with their adviser to build their own concentration from among the seminary's practical theology offerings or may take one of the prescribed concentrations in Christian Leadership, Church Planting and Spiritual Formation.

Students participating in the MACE degree must complete 48 credit hours and maintain a grade point average of 2.0 or higher.

Degree Requirements – Standard MACE track: General Core (9 courses/27 credits) OT500 Exploring the Old Testament NT501 Exploring the New Testament NT/OT517 Interpreting the Bible CH500 Survey of Church History Ethics Course (any ET course) TH501 Theology Survey I TH502 Theology Survey II MC/SF501 Spiritual for Ministry or CH/SF591 Dynamics of Spiritual Life

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

IS/WM520 Understanding Culture

Concentration Courses (6 courses/18 credits)

6 Concentration Courses

General Electives (1 course/3 credits)

1 Elective Course

MACM – CHRISTIAN LEADERSHIP TRACK GENERAL CORE REQUIREMENTS (9 courses)

OT500 Exploring the Old Testament NT501 Exploring the New Testament NT/OT517 Interpreting the Bible CH500 Survey of Church History Ethics Course (any ET course) TH501 Theology Survey I TH502 Theology Survey II MC/SF501 Spiritual Formation or CH/SF591 Dynamics of Spiritual Life

IS/WM520 Understanding Culture

CONCENTRATION REQUIREMENTS (6 courses)

CL503 Foundations for Leadership CL630 The Person of the Christian Leader CL709 Leading Change in Church Organizations CL Elective CL Elective CL720 Christian Leadership Project Course

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

ELECTIVE (1 course)

Elective Course

MACM – CHURCH PLANTING TRACK GENERAL CORE REQUIREMENTS (9 courses)

OT500 Exploring the Old Testament NT501 Exploring the New Testament NT/OT517 Interpreting the Bible CH500 Survey of Church History Ethics Course (any ET course) TH501 Theology Survey I TH502 Theology Survey II MC/SF501 Spiritual Formation or CH/SF591 Dynamics of Spiritual Life IS/WM520 Understanding Culture

CONCENTRATION REQUIREMENTS (7 courses)

CL503 Foundations for Leadership EV/WM665 Church Planting and Growth EV701 Evangelism & Discipleship PC511 Introduction to Pastoral Counseling CL640 Managing Conflict or CL/MC634 Conflict Management in Life and Ministry MC701 Pastoral Ministry or MC850 Readiness for Ministry PR601 Preaching: Principles & Practices MACE – SPIRITUAL FORMATION TRACK

GENERAL CORE REQUIREMENTS (9 courses)

OT500 Exploring the Old Testament

NT501 Exploring the New Testament

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

NT/OT517 Interpreting the Bible CH500 Survey of Church History Ethics Course (any ET course) TH501 Theology Survey I TH502 Theology Survey II MC/SF501 Spiritual Formation IS/WM520 Understanding Culture

CONCENTRATION REQUIREMENTS (5 courses)

CH/SF591 Dynamics of Spiritual Life Any Church History & Spiritual Formation Elective (CH/SF) Any Counseling elective (CO or CO/SF) Any Spiritual Formation elective Any Spiritual Formation elective

ELECTIVE (2 courses)

Elective Course Elective Course

MA in Christian Education Program Goals:

- Graduates will be spiritually grounded. They will understand who they are as children of God and will be faithful in developing their relationships with Christ and with his people.
- Graduates will be biblically grounded. They will acknowledge the authority of God's inerrant Bible and its centrality in governing Christian life and practice. They will understand the main themes and emphases of the Old and New Testaments and have a grasp of the overall message of the Bible and its implications for all aspects of life.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

- Graduates will have a basic competence as biblical interpreters. They will grasp the basics of interpretive methodology and will have practice in using tools and techniques to handle the Bible well.
- Graduates will be historically and theologically adept. They will appreciate the historical and doctrinal heritage both of the Christian church as a whole and of the specific group or groups of which they are a part.
- Graduates will be culturally and globally aware. They will recognize the importance of understanding the culture in which one ministers and will possess experience in interpreting their particular ministry context in light of Scripture. They will be aware of what the Lord is doing to establish his kingdom throughout the world and will see their own ministries in direct connection to the worldwide mission of his church.
- Graduates will be equipped with ministry skills. They will gain experience and skills in the particular ministry to which they are called.

MASTER OF THEOLOGY

This program is intended for those seeking in-depth academic study of a given discipline. Prospective students should possess either an M.Div. or a MATS with a GPA of 3.0 in the discipline they wish to pursue. The Th.M. degree can stand on its own as preparation for advanced teaching ministries, or it can serve as a stepping-stone to a Ph.D. and a teaching/research ministry in a college or seminary setting.

Students in the Th.M. program will concentrate in one of the following areas of study: Ancient Languages & Cultures, Old Testament, New Testament, Church History, Missiology, Theology, and Ministry. (NOTE: students pursuing biblical studies concentrations must show competency in Greek and/or Hebrew language). Students participating in the Th.M. degree must complete 24 credit hours and maintain a grade point average of 3.0 or higher.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

Degree Requirements

General Requirements (8 courses/24 credits)

- □ One Course in academic research/writing
- \Box Concentration Course
- □ Elective Course outside the student's concentration
- □ Thesis Course or Elective Course designated as writing course

THM – ANCIENT LANGUAGES & CULTURES TRACK

OT975 Methods and Developments in OT Study OR NT970 Advanced New Testament Research Methods

Th.M. Language or Cultural/Historical Backgrounds Course

Th.M.-Level Elective in GL/NT or OL/OT**

Th.M. Thesis Course**

*Up to two of the above courses may be fulfilled through BTI courses.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

**Students concentrating in OL/OT courses should take their elective in either GL/NT. Students concentrating in GL/NT should take their elective in OL/OT.

*** Students may petition to complete a 6-credit thesis which counts for two courses rather than one.

Students may also request to take a standard course and designate it as a Th.M. Writing Course in lieu of athesis.

THM – OLD TESTAMENT TRACK

OT975 Methods and Developments in OT Study

Th.M.-Level Old Testament Course:

Th.M.-Level Elective in GL, NT, or OL

Th.M. Thesis Course**

*Up to one of the concentration courses may be fulfilled by a 900 level OL language and up to two can be fulfilled through BTI or CTC courses.

** Students may petition to complete a 6-credit thesis which counts for two courses rather than one. Students may also request to take a standard course and designate it as a Th.M. Writing Course in lieu of a thesis.

THM – NEW TESTAMENT TRACK

NT970 Advanced New Testament Research Methods OR NT993 Old Testament in the New

Th.M.-Level New Testament Course:

Th.M.-Level New Testament Course:

Th.M.-Level New Testament Course:

Th.M.-Level New Testament Course:

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

Th.M.-Level New Testament Course:

Th.M.-Level Elective in GL, OL, or OT

Th.M. Thesis Course**

*Up to one of the concentration courses may be fulfilled by a 900 level GL language and up to two can be fulfilled through BTI or CTC courses.

** Students may petition to complete a 6-credit thesis which counts for two courses rather than one. Students may also request to take a standard course and designate it as a Th.M. Writing Course in lieu of a thesis.

THM – CHURCH HISTORY TRACK

CH/TH/WM901 Th.M. Research Seminar in Christian Thought

Church History Course Elective Course

Th.M. Thesis Course*

* Students may complete this requirement by completing a 3-credit thesis course or a Th.M. Writing course. A Th.M. Writing Course is a standard class which the student designates as their writing course and within which the student completes additional research and writing.

THM – MISSIOLOGY TRACK

CH/TH/WM901 Th.M. Research Seminar in Christian Thought

World Missions or Intercultural Studies Course

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

World Missions or Intercultural Studies Course

Elective Course

Th.M. Thesis Course *

* Students may complete this requirement by completing a 3-credit thesis course or a Th.M. Writing course. A Th.M. Writing Course is a standard class which the student designates as their writing course and within which the student completes additional research and writing.

THM – THEOLOGY TRACK

CH/TH/WM901 Th.M. Research Seminar in Christian Thought

Theology Course Theology Course Theology Course Theology Course Theology Course Elective Course Th.M. Thesis Course *

* Students may complete this requirement by completing a 3-credit thesis course or a Th.M. Writing course. A Th.M. Writing Course is a standard class which the student designates as their writing course and within which the student completes additional research and writing.

THM – MINISTRY TRACK

Preaching (PR) Course

Preaching (PR) Course

Christian Leadership Course (CL)

Christian Leadership Course (CL)

Practical Theology Elective Course **

Practical Theology Elective Course **

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

Elective Course Elective Course ** Practical Theology electives include courses in the following teaching areas: Leadership (CL) Counseling (CO) Educational Ministries (EM) Evangelism (EV) Ministry of the Church (MC) Pastoral Counseling (PC) Preaching (PR), and Youth Ministry (YM).

Students must take one "Writing Course." This is a course which the student designates in consultation with the program director. The course should require a significant piece of writing that requires research.

Students may also petition to complete a 3 or 6 credit thesis that serves as the writing course.

Master of Theology Program Goals:

- To gain greater competence in an academic discipline by employing the most valuable research methods and resources for that area of concentration.
- To sharpen skills in interpretation and understanding of God's inerrant Word, as it applies to the area of concentration.
- To carry out the specialized studies within the highest tradition of Christian scholarship with rigor and excellence.
- To engage with contemporary issues in the area of concentration from the framework of a biblical worldview.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

• To formulate productive questions for further investigation in an academic discipline, so as to prepare for Ph.D. studies.

MASTER OF DIVINITY IN CHRISTIAN APOLOGETICS

The Christian Apologetics track provides specialized studies for those students who are interested in developing expertise in the defense of the Christian faith.

Students with good reasoning skills and with a desire to engage the culture will find the Christian Apologetics track to be an excellent opportunity to develop proficiency in apologetics. Those seeking to prepare for youth ministry, college ministry, and international or home missions ministries will find this course of study especially useful. Those preparing for pastoral and educational ministries will need to use elective hours to ensure that they are properly prepared for those vocations, as the church pulpit is a primary platform for biblical exposition and apologetic reasoning.

Students who apply for admission should have an accredited Bachelor's degree and must fulfill all the other general requirements for admission to the Seminary. Those who have no previous background in apologetic studies are welcome.

NTS 5110 - New Testament Introduction and Interpretation I: Jesus and the Gospels

NTS 5120 - New Testament Introduction and Interpretation II: Acts, Epistles, and Revelation

OTS 5110 - Old Testament Introduction and Interpretation I: Pentateuch and Former Prophets

OTS 5120 - Old Testament Introduction and Interpretation II: Latter Prophets and Writings

Greek (6)

GRK 5110 - Biblical Greek for Ministry I 3 semester hr(s).

GRK 5120 - Biblical Greek for Ministry II 3 semester hr(s).

Hebrew (6)

HEB 5110 - Biblical Hebrew for Ministry I

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

HEB 5120 - Biblical Hebrew for Ministry II

Theological Studies (12)

ETH 5100 - Introduction to Christian Ethics

PHI 5100 - Christian Philosophy: Worldview, Western Thought, and Apologetics

THE 6110 - Christian Theology I

THE 6120 - Christian Theology II

Christian History (9)

HIS 5110 - Church History I: Patristic, Medieval, and Pre-Reformation

HIS 5120 - Church History II: Reformation and Modern

HIS 5130 - Baptist History: Identity, Heritage, and Polity

Bible Exposition (6)

Select either the PRS or the CED sequence:

PRS 6100 - Bible Exposition I: Hermeneutics and Preparation

PRS 6500 - Bible Exposition II: Communication and Delivery

OR

CED 6300 - Bible Exposition for Ministry to Women I

CED 6310 - Bible Exposition for Ministry to Women II

Ministry Studies (12)

BCO 5500 - Biblical Counseling

EVA 5100 - Evangelism: Nature and Practice

EVA 6610 - Personal Discipleship & Disciple-making

MIS 5100 - Christian Missions: Principles and Practice

Leadership Selective (3)

Select one of the following courses:

PMN 6500 - Pastoral Ministry and Leadership

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

PMN 6730 - Christian Leadership
Practicum Selective (3)
Select one of the following courses:
MIS 6901 - Missions Practicum
MIS 6990 - Practicum in International Missions: [Location of trip]
MIS 6991 - Practicum in North American Missions: [Location of trip]
PMN 7900 - Mentored Internship

MASTER OF DIVINITY IN LEADERSHIP

The Ministry Leadership track is designed to equip students with the competencies necessary to serve as effective servant leaders in churches, Christian organizations, and other contexts. The MDiv Ministry Leadership track builds upon the requirements of the MA in Ministry Leadership, giving the student an opportunity to do focused study in a particular area of ministry. Prior to registration each semester, students should meet with their academic advisor.

Biblical Studies Leadership

NTS 5110 - New Testament Introduction and Interpretation I: Jesus and the Gospels NTS 5120 - New Testament Introduction and Interpretation II: Acts, Epistles, and Revelation OTS 5110 - Old Testament Introduction and Interpretation I: Pentateuch and Former Prophets OTS 5120 - Old Testament Introduction and Interpretation II: Latter Prophets and Writings

Greek (6)

GRK 5110 - Biblical Greek for Ministry I

GRK 5120 - Biblical Greek for Ministry II

Hebrew (6)

HEB 5110 - Biblical Hebrew for Ministry I

HEB 5120 - Biblical Hebrew for Ministry II

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

Theological Studies (12)

ETH 5100 - Introduction to Christian Ethics PHI 5100 - Christian Philosophy: Worldview, Western Thought, and Apologetics THE 6110 - Christian Theology I THE 6120 - Christian Theology II

Christian History (9)

HIS 5110 - Church History I: Patristic, Medieval, and Pre-ReformationHIS 5120 - Church History II: Reformation and ModernHIS 5130 - Baptist History: Identity, Heritage, and Polity

Bible Exposition (6)

Select either the PRS or the CED sequence: PRS 6100 - Bible Exposition I: Hermeneutics and Preparation PRS 6500 - Bible Exposition II: Communication and Delivery OR CED 6300 - Bible Exposition for Ministry to Women I CED 6310 - Bible Exposition for Ministry to Women II

Ministry Studies (12)

BCO 5500 - Biblical Counseling EVA 5100 - Evangelism: Nature and Practice

EVA 6610 - Personal Discipleship & Disciple-making

MIS 5100 - Christian Missions: Principles and Practice

Leadership Selective (3)

Select one of the following courses:

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

PMN 6500 - Pastoral Ministry and Leadership

PMN 6730 - Christian Leadership

Practicum Selective (3)

Select one of the following courses:

- MIS 6901 Missions Practicum
- MIS 6990 Practicum in International Missions: [Location of trip]
- MIS 6991 Practicum in North American Missions: [Location of trip]
- PMN 7900 Mentored Internship 3 semester hr(s).

Ministry Leadership - 15 Hours

Select five of the following courses:

- CED 6500 Organizational Change and Conflict Resolution
- CED 6610 Ministry of Teaching & Discipleship
- CED 6630 Ministry of Leadership and Equipping
- CED 6640 Team Ministry Leadership
- CED 6800 Spiritual Formation and Discipleship
- PMN 6720 Administration and Education in the Local Church
- PMN 6760 Leading Self and Others
- PMN 6765 Organizational Design

CERTIFICATE PROGRAMS

All Graduate Certificates through BMIU are six courses (18 credit hours) *. Each Graduate Certificate is focused and modular, providing non-degree seeking students a simplified path to specific areas of study. Certificate courses can also be applied toward a master's degree. Students must maintain a grade point average of 2.0 or higher.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

CERTIFICATE IN CHRISTIAN STUDIES (Hamilton, Charlotte, Jacksonville, online; also available in Spanish and Portuguese) OT500 Exploring the Old Testament

□ NT501 Exploring the New Testament

□ NT/OT517 Interpreting the Bible

□ TH501 Theology Survey I

□ TH502 Theology Survey II

□ MC/SF501 Spiritual for Ministry or CH/SF591 Dynamics of Spiritual Life

*CT500 (3 credits) is a requirement in the Certificate in Christian Studies for Mature Admission students.

CERTIFICATE IN SPIRITUAL FORMATION (Hamilton, online with faculty approval)

- □ MC/SF501 Spiritual for Ministry
- CH/SF591 Dynamics of Spiritual Life
- □ CH/SF Course
- □ Counseling Elective (any CO or PC course)
- □ Two Spiritual Formation (SF) Electives

DOCTOR OF MINISTRY

The Doctor of Ministry (D.Min.) is the highest professional degree for men and women already successfully engaged in ministry. This program enables leaders in Christian ministry to increase their effectiveness in the church, parachurch organization or mission in which they minister. Graduates of this program will have improved their skills and understandings in a specialized area of ministry to such an extent that they can impact their congregation or community more powerfully for God.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

Students participating in the Doctor of Ministry degree must complete 9 courses (46 credits), maintain a grade point average of 3.0 or higher and be present for graduation exercises. The program must be completed within a ten-year period. The program is cohort-based, specialized, and designed to be taken in an uninterrupted sequence over three years. It generally includes two continuous weeks of intensive course residency each year and one major on-site project between the first and second residency and the between the second and third residency.

About six months before each residency, extensive reading and preparation are assigned by the track mentor(s).

Participants should plan to devote twelve hours per week in preparation for the residency.

<u>General Requirements</u>: Year One – Admission Reading and preparation for first residency (refer to syllabus)

Year One – First Residency

- Coursework with Mentors
- Completion of Learning Covenant
- Preparation of first Project Proposal
- Year One Up to Second Residency
- Finish reading and written work from first residency
- Write first Project Report
- Prepare Learning Covenant in final form
- Complete reading and preparation for second residency (refer to syllabus)

Year Two – Second Residency

- Coursework with Mentors
- Admission to Candidacy assessment with Mentor
- Preparation of second Project Proposal

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

- Year Two Up to Third Residency
- Finish reading and written work from second residency
- Write second Project Report
- Begin work on Thesis-Project Proposal
- Complete reading and preparation for third residency (refer to syllabus)

Year Three – Third Residency

- Coursework with Mentors
- Final form of Thesis-Project Proposal (Supervisor and Reader approved)
- Thesis-Project Proposal audit
- DMin Dean Thesis-Project Proposal approval
- Year Three Up to Graduation
- Finish reading and written work from third residency
- Write Thesis-Project (submit chapter by chapter to Supervisor)
- Defend Thesis-Project and submit final Thesis-Project for Post-Defense Format Review

Doctor of Ministry Goals

- To resource students through a biblically-grounded educational program taught by faculty who are committed to God's Word and the application of principles of Scripture to the issues of contemporary culture.
- 2. To form in students a sound foundation of theological and biblical inquiry in their professional doctoral program's specialized track that they are able to integrate into the life of Christian ministry.
- 3. To provide students with the skill set and understandings in a specialized area of ministry to such an extent that they can impact their congregation or community more powerfully for God.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

- 4. To create through the cohort model of the program a dimension of Christian community and spiritual nurturing so that students form strong friendships with one another and enter long-term mentoring relationships with the scholars who guide the learning experience.
- 5. To develop in students a deeper understanding of Christ's lordship in all areas of life for the common good of the contemporary world.
- 6. To cultivate within students through critical reflection and careful research through the residencies and projects an enriched Christian witness in the places of society they are called to serve.
- To instill in students a refreshed view of their ministry as it relates to the proclamation of the Gospel among all peoples.

Credits Degree Component Hours (on Campus & Additional)

5 Residency I: Intro 1 30 Hrs (1 wk) + 170 Hrs

5 Residency I: Intro 2 + 30 Hrs (1 wk) + 170 Hrs

— Personal Learning Covenant —

5 Project 1 — + 200 Hrs

5 Residency II: Intermediate 1 30 Hrs (1 wk) + 170 Hrs

5 Residency I: Intermediate 2 30 Hrs (1 wk) + 170 Hrs

- Candidacy Oral Exam -

5 Project 2 - +200 Hrs

5 Residency III: Advanced 1 30 Hrs (1 wk) + 170 Hrs

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

5 Residency III: Advanced 2 30 Hrs (1 wk) + 170 Hrs 6 Thesis – Project — + 240 Hrs Total: **46 Hours Credit**

DOCTOR IN CHRISTIAN EDUCATION

The Doctor of Education at BMI University is an advanced, terminal research degree. Students in this program design and carry-out their own research study in order to discover more about a particular educational component from a biblical perspective. The end product is a dissertation which makes an original contribution to the student's field of study. Meeting the highest standards of academic excellence, the dissertation will have value recognizable across denominational, political, and religious lines.

The EdD program provides an atmosphere of rigorous study for men and women called to serve in churches, denominations, schools, colleges, seminaries, universities, and para-church organizations. Our curriculum addresses both the teaching and administrative aspects of educational leadership.

Students in the Doctor of Education program will strengthen these academic areas:

- Educational Theory
- Teaching Methods and Techniques
- Critical Thinking and Problem Solving
- Programming and Curriculum Design
- Online Teaching and Learning
- Facilitation of Groups for Team Building
- Quantitative and Qualitative Analytical Skills to Read, Evaluate, and Conduct Research
- Oral and Written Communication
- Reflective Practice

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

- Leadership Theory
- Local Church Teaching and Administration
- Christian School Teaching, Administration, and Leadership
- University and Higher Education Administration and Leadership
- Institutional Planning and Accreditation Standards
- Legal Issues in Education and Ministry
- Denominational Leadership
- Spiritual Formation and Discipleship Ministry
- Theology, Faith, and Culture

Core Requirements - 25 Hours

GEN 0000 - Sexual Abuse Prevention & Response Training 0 semester hr(s).

- EDD 8010 EdD Program Orientation 1 semester hr(s).
- EDD 8100 Leadership of Educational Ministries 3 semester hr(s).
- EDD 8110 Leading and Managing the Non-Profit Organization 3 semester hr(s).
- EDD 8120 Learning Theory and Instructional Design 3 semester hr(s).
- EDD 8130 History and Philosophy of Education 3 semester hr(s).
- EDD 8140 Spiritual Formation and Discipleship 3 semester hr(s).
- EDD 8150 Psychological Foundations for Education 3 semester hr(s).
- EDD 8160 Sociological Foundations for Education 3 semester hr(s).
- EDD 8170 The Doctrine of Humanity 3 semester hr(s).

Research Methodology - 3 Hours

- EDD 8900 Advanced Statistics for Educators 3 semester hr(s).
- EDD 8910 Research Methods 3 semester hr(s).

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

Integrative Seminars - 6 Hours

EDD 8201 - Integrative Seminar I: Current Trends in the Classroom 3 semester hr(s). EDD 8202 - Integrative Seminar II: Research in Educational Settings 3 semester hr(s).

Specialized Study Courses - 3 Hours

EDD 8301 - Specialized Study I: Organizational Change & Conflict Management 3 semester hr(s).
Mentorship and Guided Research - 6 Hours
EDD 8501 - Mentorship and Guided Research I 3 semester hr(s).
EDD 8502 - Mentorship and Guided Research II 3 semester hr(s).

Dissertation - 12 Hours

EDD 8911 - Comprehensive Exam 0 semester hr(s).

EDD 8921 - Dissertation I 3 semester hr(s).

EDD 8922 - Dissertation II 3 semester hr(s).

EDD 8923 - Dissertation III 3 semester hr(s).

EDD 8924 - Dissertation IV 3 semester hr(s).

Total Hours - 55

FINANCIAL AID REQUIREMENTS

Financial aid is funding provided through federal and state agencies that students can use to help cover educational expenses. This funding includes, but is not limited to: grants, loans, and scholarships. BMIU is not accepting federal funding presently. However, students may also access funding through available scholarships, sponsorships, and private sources as funding options are tentative to change in the future.

Note: Students may independently apply to these funding sources, as they are not connected to BMIU. Below lists funding opportunities BMIU offers, if the student is seeking other tuition funding sources.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

BMIU is grant funding opportunity: If you are seeking help in paying for your tuition, we offer volunteer opportunities to supplement the costs.

<u>Please note</u>: the days/time that you are requested to volunteer are subject to your approval of receiving any assistance. If the student refuses to participate/attend the volunteering event they are assigned to or does not have a formal excuse, will postpone their admission offered until the student has completed the volunteer hour assigned. This is to ensure that the student is in compliance with their tuition fees as required.

Tuition and Fees

Applicants (Certifications, Undergraduate, and Graduate)1. Submit the Non-refundable Application Fee of \$50.00 and Non-RefundableRegistration Fee of \$50.00 (\$100.00 Total)

Graduation Fee: \$150

Transfer Credits

Less than 30 credits \$ 50.00 30 to 60 credits \$100.00 61 to 90 credits \$150.00 More than 90 credits \$200.00 **Assessed Credits** Assessing Life Learning Credit Fee \$70.00 per credit hour Audit Fee US-\$100.00 per course

<u>NOTE</u>: The tuition fees do not include the textbook(s), workbook(s), or reference reading materials. Upon request, additional book fees will be charged to the student's account, based on

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

the particular course criteria. In addition, tuition and fee costs can change at any time without notice from the institution.

Thesis and Dissertation Fees

To cover administrative and review expenses: Thesis US-\$300.00 fee. Dissertation US-\$400.00 fee.

Undergraduate Tuition

\$4,500.00

Graduate Tuition

\$5,000.00 - Master's Degree\$6,000.00 - Doctorate of Ministry Degree

COURSE DESCRIPTIONS

Courses are designated by a letter-number sequence which indicates the department(s) and the level at which the course is taught. Except where indicated, all courses at any level are open to all qualified students, subject to prerequisites, course limits and seniority provisions. Unless otherwise noted, all courses are three semester hours of credit.

Apologetics (Division of Christian Thought)

- AP601 Introduction to Christian Apologetics The course examines models of apologetics found in Scripture and throughout church history in order to make application of them to contemporary challenges to the Christian faith.
- AP602 Cultural Apologetics A biblical examination of unbelief with attention to the anatomy and dynamics of idolatry as expressed in contemporary culture. Basic purpose is

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

to equip students to effectively present the gospel to unbelievers in their own cultural setting.

- AP/MC612 Practical Apologetics The purpose of this course is to help students hone their apologetic skills, and build their confidence, by combining theory and praxis in a variety of secular settings (i.e. workplace, educational settings, the public square, etc.). Students will increase their awareness of various arguments for and against the existence of God, develop an appreciation for the art of rhetoric and build confidence in the efficacy of the Gospel in the "marketplace of ideas".
- AP/WM629 Radical Islam and Christian Responses This course will study the genesis of Radical Islam from the early years of the Islamic community to the present. We will study the historical, theological and political contexts within which Radical Islamic movements have arisen. The role of the state, Islamic law, political ideology, and methods of interpretation will be investigated. This course will ask the question whether Radical Islam can function peacefully in modern, global, civil society. To give us a view from other Muslim perspectives we will also study contemporary hermeneutic theories of liberal Muslim scholars. This should help us to understand how Radical Islamic movements have constructed their interpretations of Islam. Developing an accurate understanding of Radical Islam's theology and political ideology will be essential for developing an effective, thoughtful and biblical response to Muslims in the coming years.
- AP/WM647 Introduction to Islam An introduction to the Islamic faith with a special emphasis on communicating the gospel to Muslims who comprise over 1 billion adherents and is the second largest world religion. The whole of the Qu'ran is read in English.
- AP/WM649 Introduction to Hinduism & Buddhism An overview of the Hindu and Buddhist traditions. We will examine their histories, beliefs, rites, and impacts upon various cultures and societies in Asia and other parts of the world. Efforts will be made to develop a Christian response to the traditions and appropriate missiological thinking and strategies. Not for students who have taken AP/WM645 or AP/WM646. AP/MC687 The Bible and Race The course is designed to lead students to a comprehensive theological

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

understanding of the diversity of the human race and the accompanying ministry implications through a Biblical worldview.

• AP/WM747 Critical Issues in the Christian Mission to Muslims This course explores some of the major contemporary issues confronting those in ministry to Muslims as well as the church in the West. Some of the topics covered in this course are apocalyptic views of history in Islam and Christianity, the theological nature of Islam, Islam in the West, the relationship between Islam and the State, the influence of Radical Islam, Contextualization and Insider Movements, the status and role of women in contemporary Islamic societies, movements within Islam, theological misunderstandings, approaches to Muslims, dialogue between civilizations, and how modern Islamic societies are responding to secularization and pluralism.

Church History (Division of Christian Thought)

- CH500 Survey of Church History A general survey of the history of the Christian church from its founding at Pentecost to the present day.
- CH501 The Church to the Reformation A general survey of the history of the Christian church from its founding at Pentecost to the Protestant Reformation of the sixteenth century.
- CH502 The Church since the Reformation A general survey of the history of the Christian church from the beginnings of the Protestant Reformation in the sixteenth century to the present time.
- CH503 American Evangelicalism A study of the development of Protestant Evangelicalism in America, with background material from other European and American streams, comparing movements of evangelical awakening with other responses to Western secularization.
- CH/SF591 Dynamics of Spiritual Life Drawing on the Creation-Redemption narrative and the riches of the history of Christian Spirituality, the course presents a comprehensive model of spirituality that can be used in personal renewal, spiritual formation, direction,

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

discipleship, and counseling. Combining theory and praxis, it explores key spiritual dynamics, equipping for ministry to those seeking a deeper life with Christ.

- CH/TH601 History and Theology of the African-American Church This course will explore the history of the African American Church, how we have known God through our social, political, economic, and religious context, review major themes in African American theological reflection, and suggest areas for further reflection and praxis.
- CH/WM603 History of Missions This course provides an overview of the historical progress of the Christian missions from its inception to the present. It seeks to explore Christian missions from historical and missiological perspectives and identify the different mission patterns or paradigms characteristic of different eras and regions.
- CH/WM610 The Churches in the Global South: Past and Present The conventional approach to the global spread of Christianity is quite Euro-centric. In this course, after surveying the global outreach and existence of churches in the ancient and medieval times, we will focus on modern worldwide missionary movement since the 19th Century and rise of the churches in the global south and east in the 20th Century. We will examine the characteristics of the rising churches in Asia, Africa and Latin America, evaluate their profound implications and impacts on the global Christian community and reflect on how we in the West respond and relate to these churches in the non-western world.
- CH611 American Christianity an analysis of the major themes in American religious history from colonial times to the present. Special attention will be given to the relation between the church and the social, economic and political context within which it seeks to minister.
- CH/TH614 Jonathan Edwards Surveys the work of America's greatest theologian, exploring the biblical and philosophical roots of his thinking and evaluating his contributions to theology, history, aesthetics and spiritual renewal. Readings include: The Freedom of the Will, Original Sin, The Religious Affections and many shorter works.
- CH/SF616 Spiritual Autobiographies of Women This course will explore the writings of women about their own spiritual lives. We will do close readings of the autobiographies,

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

diaries, journals, letters, blogs, and poetry of women throughout the 2000 years of the history of the Church.

- CH/SF618 Medieval Spirituality Medieval approaches to knowing God through mysticism, monasticism, popular piety, sacraments, worship, art, music, architecture, symbolism; exploring relevance to spirituality today.
- CH/SF/TH619 Reformation Era Spirituality. Spirituality represents the interface between ideas and life, between Christian theology and human existence. The new evangelical spirituality as developed in Luther's Wittenberg

Reformation is at once Christological, eschatological and experiential. This course on Reformation Era Spirituality will highlight the distinctive contributions of the Reformers over against the background of the dominating medieval spirituality to which it is an answer and the context of ongoing competing spiritualities of the time. To do so, the student will read widely in primary resources from Luther, Calvin, the Anabaptists and St. Ignatius of Loyola.

CH/TH621 World Religions on the Silk Road Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair.

CH/EM/TH635 Catechesis: History, Theology, and Practice This course explores the ministry of instructing people in the essentials of Christian faith and practice. Attention is given to the biblical bases for, and historic practice of, catechesis, with the aim of encouraging contemporary applications of this ministry.

CH/TH638 Early Eastern Christianity beyond Byzantium This course considers the theology and practice of the Eastern Christian churches outside the Greek-speaking world prior to the rise of Western colonialism and the Western missionary activity that accompanied it. Students give attention to the early Syrian, Persian, and East African churches, and to Eastern missions work in Asia and the Slavic world.

CH/TH639 Early Latin North African Christianity This course considers the theology and practice of the Christian Church in Latin-speaking North Africa up to the Arab conquest in the late seventh

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

century. Students focus in particular on the central role of African writers in the development of Latin theology. Readings include selected writings by Tertullian, Cyprian of Carthage, Augustine of Hippo, and Fulgentius of Ruspe.

CH/TH642 John Calvin and the Swiss Reformation Life, work, and times of the consolidator of the Reformation: Geneva, Institutes, letters, theology, polity, pastoral issues.

CH/TH643 Martin Luther A seminar on the life, work, and times of Luther, pioneer of the Reformation. Attention will be given to his spiritual pilgrimage and to his development and influence as a leader, particularly through his debates and writings.

CH651 Protestant to Evangelical: Christianity in New World This course covers the changes and continuities between Old World Protestantism of the first centuries after the Reformation as they came to the New World.

Protestantism evolved in many ways in a 'melting pot' so familiar to many aspects of life in North America. Old fault lines became new partnerships between, for example, Puritanism and Pietism. Many of these changes were sped up by the democratic spirit of America, the rise of revivalism, and the breakdown of older establishment models of church government. What arose was a new brand of Evangelicalism, that still retained the essential qualities of Protestantism. Issues looked at include: slavery, revival, the rise of new denominations (e.g., Methodists, Baptists), and the theological struggles to define this new evangelical faith.

CH/WM653 Islamic-Christian Relations through the Ages Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair.

CH654 Models of Christian Spirituality This course studies a variety of approaches to the dynamics of Christian spirituality.

CH/TH655 Great Confessions of the Faith A seminar designed to read and analyze the major creeds and confessions of the Christian church.

CH/TH656 The Life and Theology of Dietrich Bonhoeffer As a pastor and member of the German resistance to Hitler, Bonhoeffer distinguished himself as one of the twentieth century's most important theologians. This course presents his life, writings, and theology through lecture and class presentations.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

CH/TH657 Life and Theology of Karl Barth This course presents Barth's life and theology through lectures, readings and discussions in order to gain a critical understanding of the main themes in his theology and their relevance for our own understanding of Christian faith and ministry.

CH/WM658 History of Christianity in Asia Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair.

CH/MC/TH664 The History and Theology of Worship This course explores worship (individual and/or collective engagement with God) using biblical analysis and theological reflection.

CH/SF667 C.S. Lewis' Life, Works, and Spirituality Explores the writings and spiritual pilgrimage of one of the most influential figures of the twentieth century. From County Down to Cambridge University, through two World Wars and a wardrobe, to Narnia and Perelandra, the course follows the life and work of the myth-loving medieval professor, apologist, children's author, and Inkling. CH/TH668 The Trinitarian and Christological Controversies A detailed look at the two greatest doctrinal controversies of the patristic period. This course focuses on reading and discussion of primary sources from the Trinitarian and Christological controversies, in an effort to discern both the depth of the Church's consensus on these crucial doctrines and the soteriology that lay beneath this consensus.

CH/TH669 Soteriology in Christian History This examination of the Christian Church of the last 20 centuries focuses on the various ways salvation has been expressed. Students are encouraged to learn from past expressions of soteriology in order to formulate a theology of salvation that is comprehensive, consistent, and powerful for preaching and ministry today.

CH/WM672 Women in World Christianity This course introduces students to a global history of women's involvement in the church and makes the case for the centrality of women's contributions to global Christianity, both past and present.

CH/TH681 Christian Thought & Classical Philosophy This course examines the changing relations between Christian thought and Western philosophy up to the time of Kant in the late 1700s, in order to help students understand Christian thought more fully and express it more cogently in our world today.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

CH/TH682 The Black Christian Experience: From Africa to the Americas This course explores the rich and often neglected historical and theological contributions of the Black Christian Experience to global Christianity. Merging biblical analysis, historical narratives and theological reflection, this course will challenge students to define/ describe characteristics of Christianity found within the global African Diaspora that may establish shared distinctives of a global Black Christian Experience.

CH695 Lutheranism in North America Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair.

CH760 Reading in Church History Independent study, any session by petition. See section on reading and research courses for information.

CH/TH765 Readings in Augustine A study of the life and work of the most influential theologian of the early Western church. Attention is focused on Augustine's historical context, including the philosophical and religious factors that shaped his early response to Christianity and colored his mature work.

CH/TH766 Readings in Orthodoxy and Gnosticism The interaction between orthodox Christianity and Gnosticism in the second and third centuries is of vital importance for at least two reasons. First, because various Gnostic ideas have continued to plague the Christian Church throughout its history and must still be addressed today.

Second, because contemporary scholarship radically re-construes the relation between Gnosticism and orthodoxy in the early centuries, in a way that casts doubt on the validity of orthodox Christianity. This course explores the orthodox/Gnostic interaction from both of these vantage points.

CH/TH767 Readings in Greek Patristic Theology The patristic period (from the end of the New Testament until about A.D. 800) was the formative period in the articulation of Christian doctrine. This reading course gives students both a general familiarity with patristic theology and the opportunity to explore the thought of several influential patristic theologians in some detail. CH860 Research in Church History Independent study, any session by petition. See section on reading and research courses for information.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

CH891 Church History Thesis - Part I Any session by petition. Intensive research into a topic leading to the production of a thesis under the guidance of a thesis director. By invitation of the Christian Thought Division. <u>Prerequisite: Invitation from division</u>.

CH892 Church History Thesis - Part II A continuation of CH891. Prerequisite: CH891.

CH/TH/WM901 Th.M. Research Seminar in Christian Thought The seminar is designed to instruct students in the area of research skills for Christian thought. The course will consist of lectures, reading, writing, and discussion.

Required of all Th.M. students with a concentration in the Christian Thought Division (CH, TH, WM). Th.M. students only.

CH960 Research in Church History Th.M.-level independent study, any session by petition. See section on reading and research courses for information.

CH991 ThM Thesis - Part I Any session by petition. Intensive research into a topic leading to the production of a thesis under the guidance of a thesis director. By invitation of the Christian <u>Thought Division. Prerequisites</u>:

CH/TH/WM901 and invitation from division.

CH992 ThM Thesis - Part II A continuation of CH 991. Prerequisite: CH991.

Christian Leadership (Division of Practical Theology)

CL/MC503 Foundations for Leadership/Ministry This course is designed to equip individuals to serve effectively as leaders, as agents of change, as facilitators of mission, as administrators in the parish or in other related vocational settings. Systems theory is utilized as the major theoretical/theological approach to the foundation of leadership.

CL503 Foundations for Leadership This course is designed to equip individuals to serve effectively as leaders, as agents of change, as facilitators of mission, as administrators in the parish or in other related vocational settings. Systems theory is utilized as the major theoretical/theological approach to the foundation of leadership.

CL510 Global Leadership The course is an overview of global leadership and will address the dynamics that led to the rise of this movement around the world. The lenses through which this

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

course will be examined include the theology of leadership, history of leadership, the sociology of leadership, and the globalization of leadership.

Students in the course will be challenged to undertake original research projects on the persons, organizations and issues that contributed to these movements worldwide.

CL/NT/OT574 Biblical Theology of Leadership This course explores the foundational teachings and primary metaphors of leadership in the Bible. These teachings and metaphors are understood in the context of God's larger calling on the covenant community in redemptive history. Some attention is also given to contemporary metaphors

for ministry. Prerequisites: OT 500, NT 501, NT/OT517.

CL/WM615 Cross-Cultural Leadership Different leaders have different skill sets and competencies. This individual-level variance is coupled with external factors: cultural & social environments present different demands, limits, rights, and processes. Though all leaders have unique gifts, they must be able to work within the boundaries of such variants. The focus of this course is the study of leadership, specifically learning how to lead in cross cultural contexts. The course is designed to help students reflect deeply on their cultural values, evaluate one's leadership focus, and analyze (with peers) their own leadership failures.

CL/EM622 Administration for Ministry This course provides an overview of theory and practical tools of administration in the context of church, religious public benefit organizations, and para church. Students will work toward the goal of being healthy, effective, and fruitful in their approach to administration. Administration requires skills and capacities to lead change, navigate conflict, and to faithfully steward the people and programs and resources which are part of our responsibility. In this course, students will explore tools and mindsets while building the planning and leadership skills necessary for administration. Students will also reflect on administration with a theological and biblically-informed perspective in pursuit of faithful ministry.

CL630 The Person of the Christian Leader This course helps the student examine the integrity and spiritual vitality necessary to be a godly leader. Various areas such as family, marriage and the "dark" side of leadership will be discussed.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

CL/MC634 Conflict Management in Life and Ministry As recipients and ambassadors of reconciliation, Christ followers need to follow the call to be at the forefront of efforts to pursue peace in life, church and in society. This course focuses on the dynamics of interpersonal conflict management, with principles broadened to apply to contexts of church, ministry, and other systems. Reflection on a biblical survey of conflict scenarios will be provided as well as discussion of a variety of effective (biblical) and ineffective (unbiblical) conflict styles. Laced with discussion and analysis from a variety of case studies, this course follows an interdisciplinary approach, including introduction to systems theory, identifying patterns of relating in systems, church discipline strategies, emotional health of the leader, and formulating strategies for conflict management and/or resolution in personal and/or group contexts. As emerging leaders for the church and in the world, students will craft strategies for inculcating a culture of peace in their personal and ministry contexts, and through this Kingdom peacemaking, will further commend and obviate the gospel a needy world.

CL640 Managing Conflict This course trains leaders to facilitate change in an organization and resolve the conflict associated with that change in a healthy manner. Key skills and strategies will be discussed and developed for healthy conflict resolution.

CL654 Leadership in Urban Ministry Emphasis is given to equipping, leading, and supporting urban Christians in and for their various callings in home, community, church, and workplace through the educational ministry of the local congregation. Helps students to identify their own leadership opportunities, to consider their own leadership assets, and to develop others.

CL670 Team and Team Building The purpose of this course is to help students develop the theological and managerial rationale for the use of teams in ministry. In addition, the student will acquire and develop the skills needed to build and sustain an effective team ministry.

CL709 Managing Change in Churches and Organizations This unit explores the complex dynamics of change within the context of church environments and other organizations. Students will gain a deeper understanding of the causes, processes, and resolutions of change, and the possibility of conflicts that can arise within the church and other organizations. They will also examine the theological, ethical, and practical dimensions of change in church settings. Through a combination

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

of theological reflection, case studies, and practical exercises, students will develop the skills and knowledge necessary to navigate and manage change in a constructive and biblically grounded manner.

CL/MC707 Transforming Leadership in the Local Church The elements of leadership in a Christian context will be examined from a biblical and historical basis. Particular focus will be upon self-understanding and what parts of leadership will be natural and which ones will need to be acquired.

CL/PR722 Preaching, Persuasion, and Leadership Examines the nature and place of persuasion in communication and homiletics. Appreciation of rhetorical theory as a tool for analyzing and improving preaching.

Students assess their own ethos and preach persuasive messages. Consideration of the ethics of persuasive preaching. Lectures, reading, discussion, and exercises. <u>Prerequisite: PR601</u>.

CL/MC801 Leadership, Management and Strategy for Ministry A triple workshop: Creative Life Planning, Management Theory and Plan for Future Ministry. Provides powerful small group experience and application of dynamic theory to future practice.

CL/PR922 Preaching, Persuasion, and Leadership Examines the nature and place of persuasion in communication and homiletics. Appreciation of rhetorical theory as a tool for analyzing and improving preaching.

Students assess their own ethos and preach persuasive messages. Consideration of the ethics of persuasive preaching. Lectures, reading, discussion, and exercises. <u>Prerequisite: PR601 or Th.M.</u>

Counseling (Division of Practical Theology)

CO500 Introduction to Counseling An introduction to the basic skills necessary for effective counseling. A review of some of the basic counseling models. Open to M.A. in Counseling students only.

CO501 Introduction to Counseling Studies Students focus on the learning objectives of CT500 with the addition of learning proper citation formats in the Publication Manual of the American

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

Psychological Association. Students also focus on the integration of Psychology and Theology. CO501 is one credit hour.

CO502 Introduction to Counseling and Systems Theory This course is an introduction to the fields of counseling and marriage and family therapy. Basic skills required for ethical and effective treatment of individuals, couples, and families will be presented. Models of intervention related to the major clinical orientations will be covered, highlighting key emphases, techniques, and distinctions between individually oriented therapy and systems-oriented therapy. Course objectives will be met through a combination of lecture, videotapes, experiential exercises regarding course content, and classroom discussions.

CO507 Clinical Counseling Skills This course will serve as a bridge between the study of the theories and systems of counseling and the supervised practice of counseling. It is experiential and aimed at helping students develop a foundation as strong, effective therapeutic agents for their clients. This is a clinical skills course emphasizing the acquisition of therapeutic helping relationship skills through role playing and modeling.

Instructor and peer feedback will be given. Pre-/co-requisite: CO500.

CO540 Helping Relationships This course covers the theological ground for helping relationships, counseling theories and application for helping relationships, including skills in listening, attending, and empathy needed in consultation and bringing about change.

CO575 MACC Counseling Residency Three day required residency every Fall semester for students in the MACC program.

CO602 Human Sexuality This course provides students with an overview of biological, psychological, behavioral, and theological material concerning human sexuality. Topics will cover the basics of theology of sexuality, human anatomy, sexual cycles/phases, sexual problems, dysfunctions, and treatments. Special topics may include sexual abuse, disability, aging, pornography, commercial sex, homosexuality, transgender, contraception, and pregnancy, abortion, sexually transmitted infections, sex and the media, the connection between sexuality and spirituality, with considerations of theological perspectives on the preceding topics.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

CO/SF610 Lifespan Development: Implications for Counseling This survey of major models of human development and life-span includes integration and critique of related theories from a biblical and theological perspective.

CO610 Lifespan Development: Implications for Counseling This survey of major models of human development and life-span includes integration and critique of related theories from a biblical and theological perspective.

CO611 Theories of Personality An understanding and critique of the historical and contemporary theories of personality development.

CO614 Family Systems Theory A review of the major theories of family systems development with emphasis on a critical analysis of these theories from an orthodox Christian perspective.

CO616 Cognitive Therapy This course will examine the major models and techniques of cognitivebehavioral therapy and their application to the understanding of normal and abnormal human functioning, the evaluation of approaches to prevention and treatment, and the techniques and relational skills to apply theory and research in real-life clinical contexts with those seeking counseling treatments. Pre-requisite: CO500. Open to M.A. in Counseling students only.

CO635 Crisis and Trauma Counseling This course addresses the impact of powerlessness experienced in crises, disasters, sexual assault and other trauma-causing events on individuals and communities, as well as the treatment of trauma related disorders. Emphasis will be placed on providing clinical interventions in disaster, crisis, and traumatic situations. Special attention will be given to counselor self-care as a prevention measure against vicarious traumatization; emphasis on wellness; suicide prevention, stress management and psychological first aid.

CO/SF/TH635 Augustine's Theography & Heart Therapy: Confessions, Community & Health This course will present the perspective of Augustine of Hippo (354-430) on heart therapy and health as prescribed by his Confessions (397-401). His hopeful vision will offer contributions to: one's personal story, by retelling it in the light of grace; to distressed and wounded people around you, by learning to counsel others through an ancient tradition of theological therapy; to narcissistic and individualistic cultures, by placing a humble and prayerful theology as its antidote.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

CO/MC/SF642 Ministering to Women in Pain Students explore the broad range of stressful issues with which many contemporary women deal. The course focuses on helping students refine their pastoral care to such women.

CO/PC671 Suicide Prevention for Professional Caregivers The goal of this course is to introduce the student to all relevant and basic aspects of suicide prevention for professional caregivers including counselors, chaplains and pastors. The emphasis is on helping the student develop understanding and skills needed to help suicidal individuals, individuals who have attempted suicide and their family members, and the family members and a faith community following a suicide death. Special emphasis will also be on the importance of self-care for the professional caregiver. Specific aspects of suicide prevention that will be emphasized will include the unique role of pastoral caregivers in suicide prevention and the development of a theology of suicide.

CO699 Research Methods and Design An overview of the basic approaches to research methods and design.

Particular attention is given to the application of research in the counseling setting. Open to M.A. in Counseling students only.

CO709 Counseling in Addictive Behaviors This course will cover prevention and intervention with addictions, both neurobiological and behavioral. The course will address etiology, assessment and models of treatment, with an emphasis on Stages of Change and Motivational Interviewing. CO710 or CO710C Psychopathology This course provides an overview of the basic theories, concepts and structures that form an understanding of psychopathology. Special emphasis is given to the development of skills in diagnosis and treatment planning, using the DSM-5 and ICD. CO711 Group Process Application in theory and practice of the use of groups and group process. Class members become part of an active group for the purpose of an effective learning process. CO712 Multicultural Diversity in Counseling Overview of considerations in conducting therapy with those of different cultural backgrounds. Emphasis is given to family roles, structures and functions, and to the context in which individuals develop and relate. Prerequisite: CO502.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

CO/WM712 Multicultural Diversity in Counseling Overview of considerations in conducting therapy with those of different cultural backgrounds. Emphasis is given to family roles, structures and functions, and to the context in which individuals develop and relate.

CO713 Foundations of Play Therapy This course provides an overview of the essential elements and principles of play therapy, including history, theories, modalities, techniques, applications, and skills. A theological foundation for engaging children through play will be emphasized along with an experiential component focused on basic play therapy skill development within the context of ethical and diversity-sensitive practice. <u>Prerequisites:</u> One of the following CO500/CO502, CO507/CO540, CO610 or CO/SF610.

CO714 Family Counseling/Therapy A clinical course to develop basic skills in counseling families. Evaluation of the most applicable methods for counseling interventions with families. Open to M.A. in Counseling students only. <u>Prerequisite</u>: CO614.

CO715 Advanced Psychopathology This advanced course in the theories, concepts and structures that form an understanding of psychopathology focuses on the development of skills in using DSM-5 and understanding of psychopharmacology. Prerequisite: CO710. Open to M.A. in Counseling students only.

CO716 Couples Counseling Basic theories of marital therapy with particular attention to biblical and theological issues. The process of marital therapy is introduced by carefully constructed role-play/feedback sessions.

CO/PC717 Counseling in Abuse and Intimate Partner Violence The purpose of this course is to provide an introduction to the issues associated with abuse and intimate partner violence (IPV). Students will be introduced to the broad scope of abuse and intimate partner violence and the inevitable consequences for the individuals and the systems involved. Students will examine the issues around abuse and violence from a biblical and theological perspective in order to form a substantial Christian response to this growing problem. Students will develop evidence-based models for treatment and prevention.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

CO/PC718 Group Dynamics This course is designed to provide a theoretical and practical understanding of the use of groups and group process. Each member will also become part of an active group to understand by experience the nature of group process.

CO719 Human Sexuality An overview of biological, psychological, behavioral, and theological material concerning human sexuality. Include DSM diagnostic categories and treatment options. Open to M.A. in Counseling students only.

CO724 Child and Adolescent Counseling This course presents theories, techniques, and strategies for working with children, adolescents, and their families. Emphasis is placed on a multidimensional view of counseling interventions, giving attention to developmental, cognitive, behavioral, affective, cultural, educational, social, and environmental issues. Ethical and legal concerns are also considered. The course is designed to help students become more knowledgeable about current research and approaches for working with this population. Course assignments are adaptable to ministry settings and to focused attention on either child or adolescent populations if desired.

CO725 Counseling Adolescents This course gives special attention to understanding the role of preadolescents and adolescents as the focus for family counseling and learning to develop appropriate intervention strategies in working with preadolescents and adolescents in the context of the family.

CO726 Advanced Trauma Counseling: Diagnosis and Treatment This course is an in-depth examination of trauma counseling. The course provides an overview of trauma and trauma-related mental health concerns, with an emphasis on diagnosis and treatment planning of PTSD and other trauma-related disorders. Therapeutic theory and methodology for the treatment of trauma will be emphasized. <u>Prerequisite</u>: CO710 or CO710c.

CO735 Assessment in Counseling This study explores a broad understanding of group and individual educational and psychometric theories as well as approaches to personal appraisal. Emphases are placed the collection and analysis of data, factors that influence validity and reliability, and the specific skills associated with administering and interpreting tests for personal characteristics. Prerequisites: CO 500/502 and CO 710. Open to

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

M.A. in Counseling students only.

CO740 Career Counseling and Lifestyle Development An overview of the process of evaluation and counseling persons in choosing a career path. A variety of evaluation instruments will be studied and utilized as the application component of this course. Open to M.A. in Counseling students only.

CO/EM/PC741 Counseling the Aged: Introduction to Gerontology The significant growth of the population of older citizens necessitates a clearer understanding of the unique issues and needs of this population. This course is designed to take a holistic approach to counseling older persons. Specifically we will study the ways in which biological, psychological, sociological, economic, and spiritual interact in the lives of this population.

CO/PC750 Counseling for Crisis and Addictions This course focuses on counseling methods of prevention and intervention with addictions, both neurobiological and behavioral, and in crisis scenarios. Biblical and theological perspectives are integrated with social science focusing on healing processes. Various crises will be studied, and etiology, assessment, and models of treatment in crisis counseling will be addressed.

CO770 Career Counseling The student will explore studies that provide a broad understanding of career development theories, occupational and educational information sources and systems, career and leisure counseling, educational guidance, and lifestyle and career decision-making. Open to M.A. in Counseling students only.

CO790 or CO790C Professional Standards and Ethics A comprehensive review of the process of professional specialization in the counseling field. Topics include: professional organizations, ethical standards, legal responsibilities, etc. Open to M.A. in Counseling students only.

CO801 Integrative Seminar This seminar addresses the important issues of the relationship between biblical, theological and psychological perspectives on a wide variety of topics. Led by faculty from all three divisions of the seminary.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

CO850 Advanced Christian Counseling Models and Practice Taken in the final semester/year, this seminar-format course focuses on integration and consolidation of students' model of therapy, integrating theory, practice and theology. Co/pre-requisite: CO 868 or instructor permission. Open to M.A. in Counseling students only.

CO851 MACC Exit Evaluation Completed concurrently with Internship II, students undergo a rigorous and comprehensive evaluation of their clinical, personal, and professional development in preparation for entry into the field of professional counseling. Co/pre-requisite: CO 869.

CO863 Clinical Practicum A specific clinical experience under individual supervision in a variety of settings throughout the community. Approximately 10 hours per week is spent in these clinical settings to provide beginning level counseling experience. Must be taken with CO871.

CO865A Clinical Counseling Internship 1 A continuation of clinical experience at a more advanced level under individual supervision. Approximately 20 hours per week in a variety of clinical settings. Must be taken with CO873A.

CO867 Clinical Counseling Practicum The Clinical Practicum is designed to provide the student with an introduction to the practice of counseling in a variety of agencies in the local area. Individual and group supervision will be an integral part of this learning experience. Prerequisite: CO502, CO540, CO710C. Corequisite: CO875.

CO868 Clinical Counseling Internship I This internship follows the clinical practicum experience. Individual and group supervision will be an integral part of this learning experience. Prerequisite: CO867. Corequisite: CO875.

CO869 Clinical Counseling Internship II This internship is a continuation of the clinical experience at a more advanced level. Individual and group supervision will be an integral part of this learning experience. Corequisite: CO875.

CO870 Clinical Counseling Internship III This internship is a continuation of the clinical experience at a more advanced level, or in special situations requiring students to obtain additional hours. Individual and group supervision will be an integral part of this learning experience. Assignments and requirements are determined with the clinical training coordinator and/or program director. Prerequisite: CO869. Corequisite: CO875.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

CO871 Professional Practicum Seminar For all counseling students. An opportunity to work in small groups with the clinical faculty to evaluate, integrate and develop insight into the professional aspects of counseling. Must be taken with CO863B.

CO873 Professional Internship Seminar For all Mental Health Counseling Track students. A small group experience with the clinical faculty to clarify issues and develop advanced understanding of the role of the Mental Health Counselor. Must be taken with CO865.

CO875 Clinical Counseling Group Supervision This course provides is a group supervision experience with afaculty supervisor. Students are required to meet an average of 1.5 hours per week in a group setting with a faculty

supervisor during each clinical counseling placement (CO 867, 868, 869, 870).

Christian Thought (Division of Christian Thought)

CT490 Writing Skills Workshop This one-credit hour refresher course introduces university students to essential grammar and composition skills necessary for pursuit of graduate-level writing, including sentence writing, paragraph writing, textual analysis, and essay writing. The course as a whole guides students toward more effective written communication, which is essential for both academic work and ministry endeavors.

CT500 Introduction to Theological Studies This course provides a foundational understanding of academic research including knowledge of research and writing standards, proper citation and use of sources, understanding and avoiding plagiarism, and introduction to theological reflection as part of the research process.

CT/MC614 Theology, Art, and Christian Formation This course elucidates biblical and theological foundations for the arts and provides a holistic framework for how the arts can impact Christian theology and spiritual formation. Using a variety of examples from many artistic genres, students will consider the practical implications of this framework for personal discipleship, corporate worship, pastoral leadership, global mission, cultural engagement, and creative fidelity in everyday life.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

CT620 Christianity, Politics, and Culture Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair.

CT760 Readings in Christian Thought Independent study, any session by petition. See section on reading and research courses for information.

Educational Ministries (Division of Practical Theology)

EM502 Educational Ministry of the Church This course provides a broad overview of the critical issues concerning the teaching ministry of the church. Students will be challenged to develop a philosophy of educational ministry with a focus on Christian formation.

EM/EV/YM591 Theology and Principles of Dynamic Youth Ministry Beginning with a look at the ministry of Jesus and your own life, this course presents an overview of youth ministries today and then works though necessary ministry support bases, community research and networking, contacting youth and families, activities, counseling, Gospel-preaching, discipleship formation, recruiting volunteers and sustaining ministries.

EM603 Educational Ministry with Adults The nature of educational ministry with adults is set forth with a focus on the local church. The special needs, developmental issues and potentialities of adults are considered, with a view to helping them toward genuine Christian maturity.

EM604 The Teacher and the Teaching Task This course provides an orientation to formation and development of the teacher as well as an understanding of the skills needed to teach. Reading/discussion as well as practice will be required. The majority of the class will focus on teaching adults in the context of teaching the faith. Students will work toward the goal of being healthy, effective, and fruitful in their approach to teaching. Teaching requires skills and capacities so this class will provide content, as well as opportunities for practice and reflection to faithfully teach. In this course, students will explore tools and mindsets while building out a framework for educational philosophy. Students will also reflect on themselves as teachers and the teaching task with a theological and biblically-informed perspective of faithful ministry.

EM/CL622 Administration for Ministry This course provides an overview of theory and practical tools of administration in the context of church, religious public benefit organizations, and para

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

church. Students will work toward the goal of being healthy, effective, and fruitful in their approach to administration. Administration requires skills and capacities to lead change, navigate conflict, and to faithfully steward the people and programs and resources which are part of our responsibility. In this course, students will explore tools and mindsets while building the planning and leadership skills necessary for administration. Students will also reflect on administration with a theological and biblically-informed perspective in pursuit of faithful ministry.

EM/CH/TH635 Catechesis: History, Theology, and Practice This course explores the ministry of instructing people in the essentials of Christian faith and practice. Attention is given to the biblical bases for, and historic practice of, catechesis, with the aim of encouraging contemporary applications of this ministry.

EM654 Leadership in Ministry Emphasis is given to equipping, leading, and supporting urban Christians in and for their various callings in home, community, church, and workplace through the educational ministry of the local congregation. Helps students to identify their own leadership opportunities, to consider their own leadership assets, and to develop others.

EM656 Leadership Development The course will help church leadership understand leaders in the church by analyzing church leader-ship roles, responsibilities and strategies for developing leaders in the church. Special attention will be given to leadership styles, group dynamics, listening skills and decision-making.

EM/MC668 The Practice of Worship: Adv Studies in Worship Planning Designed to challenge students to envision, plan, staff and lead a variety of worship experiences with special attention focused on congregational formation. Students will explore worship through biblical analysis and theological reflection while also engaging in conversations on the role and function of the church and culture relative to worship.

EM687 Educational Ministry in Urban Settings Participants explore the impacts of urbanization, economic deprivation and racism on the theory and practice of Educational Ministry in urban settings. Consideration is given to the development of educational strategies for the local urban church.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

EM/WM/YM689 Theological Issues and Models of Urban Youth Ministry: U.S. This overview stresses the inner-city context, how poverty and racism produce street culture and a code of the streets. Emphasis on topical and community research, a relevant and holistic collaborative approach.

EM720 Project Course in Educational Ministries Independent study, any session by petition. See section on reading and research courses for information. Prerequisite: EM502 or EM603 or equivalent ministry experience.

EM/CO/PC741 Counseling the Aged: Introduction to Gerontology The significant growth of the population of older citizens necessitates a clearer understanding of the unique issues and needs of this population. This course is designed to take a holistic approach to counseling older persons. Specifically we will study the ways in which biological, psychological, sociological, economic, and spiritual interact in the lives of this population.

EM760 Reading in Educational Ministries Independent study, any session by petition. See section on reading and research courses for information.

EM/MC801 Leadership, Management and Strategy for Ministry A triple workshop: Creative Life Planning, Management Theory and Plan for Future Ministry. Provides powerful small group experience and application of dynamic theory to future practice.

EM860 Research in Educational Ministries Independent study, any session by petition. See section on reading and research courses for information.

Christian Ethics (Division of Christian Thought)

ET501 Christian Ethics An exploration of how Christians can make and enact good, wise, and faithful ethical choices and develop moral character and community in the midst of a complex world. The course will examine:

- (1) the foundations of Christian Ethics, especially in Holy Scripture;
- (2) the contexts of contemporary ethical issues;

(3) the methods of moral discernment and decision-making; and (4) the relationship of Christian ethics to that of the surrounding culture and society. Lectures, case studies, and discussion will be

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

employed in an attempt to gain wisdom, understanding, character, and a prophetic voice relative to the moral issues in church and society.

ET/OT542 Old Testament and Christian Ethics An examination will be made of key ethical passages in the Old Testament with special application to the issues raised in modern life. Focus is given to the interaction between Old Testament studies and Christian Ethics as well as Old Testament theology and Old Testament ethics.

ET/SE635 Social and Political Ethics Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair.

ET642 Workplace Ethics Building good individual character and organizational culture . . . discerning and doing the right thing in personal and organizational contexts . . . how does a robustly biblical ethics (method and content) guide us in this domain? It is partly about faithfully, effectively responding to ethical problems that arise in the workplace; it is mostly about proactively building mission-driven, value-embedded, principle-guided ethically healthier individuals and organizations.

ET/NT647 Biblical Ethics This English based course explores significant topics for Christian Ethics as they are addressed within the NT. Students are provided an understanding of the interaction between NT Studies and Christian Ethics and NT Theology and NT Ethics.

ET/TH648 Workplace Theology We map out the workplace, its challenges, opportunities, arenas, topics, and trends. Then we build a biblical theology of work in the perspective of Creation, Fall, Providence, Incarnation, Redemption, and Fulfillment. We identify the starting points, backgrounds, perceived callings, and desired goals of each member of our cohort.

ET650 Interpretation of Christian Ethics Facility in critical interpretation in Christian ethics is gained through readings in classical works of Christian ethics. Prominent writings throughout the history of Christian ethics are chosen for reading and analysis in this interpretation course.

ET/TH651 The Theological Ethics of Dietrich Bonhoeffer The ethics of Bonhoeffer, forged in the crucible of the rise of National Socialism, seeks to establish a new foundation for Christian ethics upon the reconciliation between God and humanity, which has already taken place in Jesus Christ.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

This course will lead students through a close reading of Bonhoeffer's Ethics as well as other pertinent literature to reveal the driving force of Bonhoeffer's approach to ethics.

ET/TH653 Theological Ethics Central themes of theological ethics are approached by examining key scriptural texts from Paul on the Christian life, as viewed through the eyes of the early history of exegesis.

ET681 Issues in Sexual Ethics and Bioethics The complexities of our contemporary world raise ethical questions that the Church and Christians are often not equipped to tackle. This course will explore some of those issues in the areas of sexual ethics and bioethics, in light of God's Word and a Christian world view. Among the issues to be addressed are: a theology of sexuality, premarital sex, homosexuality, reproductive technologies, abortion, stem cell research, genetic engineering, treatment termination, and euthanasia. Attention is given to how the Church and Christians can address these issues in secular, pluralistic contexts.

ET760 Reading in Ethics Independent study, any session by petition. See section on reading and research courses for information.

ET860 Research in Ethics Independent study, any session by petition. See section on reading and research courses for information.

ET891 Ethics Thesis - Part I Any session by petition. Intensive research into a topic leading to the production of a thesis under the guidance of a thesis director. By invitation of the Christian <u>Thought Division. Prerequisite:</u>

Invitation from division.

ET892 Ethics Thesis - Part II A continuation of ET891. Prerequisite: ET891.

ET960 Research in Ethics Th.M.-level independent study, any session by petition. See section on reading and research courses for information.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

Evangelism (Division of Practical Theology)

EV510 Evangelism: Theories and Practice This study focuses on the theoretical foundations of evangelism. Topics include the nature and transmission of the gospel message, persuasion theory and evangelism, liturgical evangelism, kingdom evangelism, and evangelism and social responsibility.

EV/EM/YM591 Theology and Principles of Dynamic Youth Ministry Beginning with a look at the ministry of Jesus and your own life, this course presents an overview of youth ministries today and then works though necessary ministry support bases, community research and networking, contacting youth and families, activities, counseling, Gospel-preaching, discipleship formation, recruiting volunteers and sustaining ministries.

EV/WM665 Church Planting and Growth A practical and biblical-theological perspective on planting and development of churches. Research projects concentrate on sharpening skills in planning, establishing and nurturing churches which will equip members for ministry to their communities, and for continued planting of new churches.

EV701 Evangelism & Discipleship Through the Local Church Practical theological foundation for the practice of evangelism and for evangelistic leadership in the church. Includes content and communication of the gospel within cultural context at home and abroad. Preparation in class, followed by community experience. Prayer is primary throughout.

EV705 Church Revitalization Congregations go through predictable stages in their history. While the birth stage and growth stages review lots of attention, it is common for most congregations to go through a plateau, and then into a decline. At those points the congregation need special leadership to be helped back toward vitality. This course examines both the reasons for decline and malaise in congregations, and poses solutions to get those congregations back on track. This course is an intersection of ecclesiology, evangelism, leadership, preaching, sociology, and pastoral ministry.

EV720 Project Course in Evangelism Independent study, any session by petition. See section on project courses for information.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

EV760 Reading in Evangelism Independent study, any session by petition. See section on reading and research courses for information.

EV860 Research in Evangelism Independent study, any session by petition. See section on reading and research courses for information.

Greek Language (Division of Biblical Studies)

GL501 Basic Greek I Students with little or no prior knowledge of Greek study the basic grammar and vocabulary of New Testament Greek. Course comprises plenary lectures, smaller sectional meetings, translation of selected New Testament passages, tutorials, and computer assisted instruction.

GL502 Basic Greek II Continues GL501 expanding grammar and vocabulary. Emphasis on translation and analysis of basic grammatical structures and functions. Students continue in same format and small sections as GL501. Prerequisite: GL501.

GL601 Intermediate Greek Systematic study of Greek beyond GL 502, combined with close reading and detailed grammatical analysis of several complex passages in the New Testament. Emphasis on grammatical analysis, notfull exegesis, of passages. Prerequisite: GL502.

GL710 Advanced Reading in Greek Reading course in differing genres of extra-biblical literature, with special attention to grammatical, syntactical, and lexical forms not ordinarily found in the New Testament. Intermediate Greek strongly recommended. Independent study, any session by petition. Prerequisite: GL502 with permission of the professor.

GL711 Independent Reading in a New Testament Language A minimum number of passages appropriate to full course credit will be required, with appropriate examination at the conclusion. Language reading may be undertaken at either the beginning or the advanced level. Independent study, any session by petition. Prerequisite:GL502.

GL860 Research in Greek Language Independent study, any session by petition. See section on reading and research courses for information. Prerequisite: GL502.

GL901 Intermediate Greek (ThM Level) Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

GL914 Biblical Greek: Advanced Concepts Advanced language students examine the place of Koine Greek within the history of the language, and selected problems in Greek lexicography and grammar. Special emphasis on Septuagint studies and Semitic background of New Testament. Offered at the ThM level. Prerequisite: GL502, NT502 and either GL601 or at least one course in NT exegesis or Greek readings.

Intercultural Studies (Division of Christian Thought)

IS/WM520 Understanding Culture The subject of this course is the cultural anthropological and missiological study of culture. It is designed to both challenge and support students to grow in their cultural awareness, and to also develop cross-cultural competence for building healthy and God-honoring relationships within diverse communities. Lectures, guided by the Bible and theories and data of anthropology, will encourage students to create environments that make God's reconciling initiatives apparent in church life and in our missional engagement with our neighbors and express the gospel in ways that both celebrate our differences and bring us toward unity in Jesus Christ.

Ministry of the Church (Division of Practical Theology)

MC/SF501 Spiritual Formation for Ministry The foundational course in the Division of Practical Theology and an introduction to theological seminary. A beginning working knowledge of spiritual formation leading to a lifetime of continuing education. Spiritual exercise and small group practice for personal application and for leadership in the church.

MC/CL503 Foundations for Leadership/Ministry This course is designed to equip individuals to serve effectively as leaders, as agents of change, as facilitators of mission, as administrators in the parish or in other related vocational settings. Systems theory is utilized as the major theoretical/theological approach to the foundation of leadership.

MC520 Communication for Ministry and Career Effective communication in professional and ministry settings—public speaking, seminars, small groups, meetings, blogging, and podcasting. Application of communication theory to praxis.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

MC585 The Christian Communicator A survey course designed to equip persons to serve as effective and authentic communicators in the contemporary Church, related Christian ministries and in daily secular life. Includes a comprehensive and holistic overview of factors inherent in the communications process on the interpersonal and congregational levels. Research-based theories and models of communications will be presented, discussed and evaluated from biblical-theological and cultural perspectives. Includes a significant developmental and practical component to enable participants to enhance their abilities to communicate through personal conversations, oral presentations and public communications. Prerequisite: CT500.

MC601 Conservative Congregational Christian Conference Denom Stds Polity and standards of the C.C.C.C. Graded pass/fail.

MC601D United Church of Christ Denominational Standards Policy and standards for the U.C.C. Available as independent study, any session by petition. Graded pass/fail.

MC601E American Baptist Denominational Standards Polity and standards of the American Baptist churches in the USA. Available as independent study, any session by petition. Graded pass/fail.

MC601F Conservative Baptist Denominational Standards Polity and standards of the Conservative Baptist Association. Available as independent study, any session by petition. Graded pass/fail.

MC601G Baptist General Conference Denominational Standards Polity and standards of the Baptist General Conference. Available as independent study, any session by petition. Graded pass/fail.

MC601I Christian and Missionary Alliance Denominational Standards Polity and standards of the C.M.A. Available as independent study, any session by petition. Graded pass/fail.

MC601K Reformed Ecclesiology and Polity "The Word was made flesh, and dwelled among us; to that flesh is joined the church, and there is made Total Christ, head and body." – St. Augustine. This course seeks to construct an ecclesial and pastoral theology in conversation with the historic reformed tradition together with its practical relevance to contemporary issues and ministry. The various topics are studied as an investigation in ascensionChristology applied, or Augustine's Totus Christus thesis through the reformed trajectory and qualifications. More than a source of

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

missions, the temple-church is considered as a locus of mission, or Christ vis-à-vis history, in in our search for a missional ecclesiology and polity. Graded pass/fail.

MC601L Advent Christian Denominational Standards A study of the organizational structure, standards and ministry procedures of the Advent Christian denomination. Available as independent study, any session by petition. Graded pass/fail.

MC601M Church of God of Prophecy History Polity and standards for the COGOP. Graded pass/fail.

MC601N Evangelical Presbyterian Church Denominational Standards Polity and standards for the Evangelical Presbyterian Church. Available as independent study, any session by petition. Graded pass/fail.

MC/SE602 Church & Community: Introduction to the Public Ministry of t... This course introduces students to important strategies for social ministry, such as, congregation-based community organizing, community development, and others, designed to facilitate a holistic social ministry and prophetic role in the community and exploring as avenues towards gospel faithfulness and shalom in the city. The biblical/theological bases for social responsibility are explored. MC/PC606 Pastoral Care in Crisis Situations How does one effectively minister in crisis situations? Course interactions will include case studies, discussions, and role playing.

MC/PC608 Pastoral Care in the Urban Church This seminar will seek to help the urban pastor to discern some of the chronic problems and conflicts confronted by youth, adults, and senior citizens as they struggle for survival amid tension, frustration, and change in the daily, inner-city experience of living and how to deal creatively and constructively with such problems.

MC609 Book of Common Prayer/Liturgics The purpose of this course is to equip students with knowledge of the theology, history and practices of Christian liturgy, with a particular focus on the Anglican tradition, and to assist in their formation as liturgical leaders who are both knowledgeable and capable. The course begins with the emergence of the Book of Common Prayer and covers the basics of liturgics and liturgical theology of Anglicanism in history and present practice. Participants will increase their vocabulary in Anglican worship and understand the theology of the Book of Common Prayer.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

MC/AP612 Practical Apologetics The purpose of this course is to help students hone their apologetic skills, and build their confidence, by combining theory and praxis in a variety of secular settings (i.e. workplace, educational settings, the public square, etc.). Students will increase their awareness of various arguments for and against the existence of God; develop an appreciation for the art of rhetoric and build confidence in the efficacy of the Gospel in the "marketplace of ideas". MC/CT614 Christianity and the Arts Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair.

MC621 Living Systems in the Urban Context Treats problems of communication in the city, using models of cross-culturalism from cultural anthropology. The city is discussed as a complex system, and significant urban social problems are highlighted. Specialists in various areas of the urban environment will address the class.

MC/CL634 Conflict Management in Life and Ministry As recipients and ambassadors of reconciliation, Christf ollowers need to follow the call to be at the forefront of efforts to pursue peace in life, church and in society. This course focuses on the dynamics of interpersonal conflict management, with principles broadened to apply to contexts of church, ministry, and other systems. Reflection on a biblical survey of conflict scenarios will be provided as well as discussion of a variety of effective (biblical) and ineffective (unbiblical) conflict styles. Laced with discussion and analysis from a variety of case studies, this course follows an interdisciplinary approach, including introduction to systems theory, identifying patterns of relating in systems, church discipline strategies, emotional health of the leader, and formulating strategies for conflict management and/or resolution in personal and/or group contexts. As emerging leaders for the church and in the world, students will craft strategies for inculcating a culture of peace in their personal and ministry contexts, and through this Kingdom peacemaking, will further commend and obviate the gospel a needy world.

MC/WM638 Spiritual Power in Mission and Ministry Course topics will include: ministry in the Kingdom of God, western worldviews and spiritual power, power encounters, deliverance, spiritual warfare, inner healing, the relationship between power, allegiance and truth encounters, and the beliefs and practices of Folk Religionists.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

MC/CO/SF642 Ministering to Women in Pain Students explore the broad range of stressful issues with which many contemporary women deal. The course focuses on helping students refine their pastoral care to such women.

MC/SE/TH651 Proj. of Reconciliation: Intersectionality, Church & Culture Considers the intersectional areas that demand individual, institutional, and congregational reconciliation. Studies the historical, theological, cultural and sociological necessity for reconciliation.

MC660 Innovative Strategies for Ministry This course helps students understand the trends of innovation in the Church and develops a framework for discerning the right strategies to best serve their ministry context. Students will delve into the role big data plays in informing and equipping the Church and will have opportunities to explore ministries on the leading edge of strategic innovation.

MC/CH/TH664 The History and Theology of Worship This course explores worship (individual and/or collective engagement with God) using biblical analysis and theological reflection.

MC/EM668 The Practice of Worship: Adv Studies in Worship Planning... Designed to challenge students to envision, plan, staff and lead a variety of worship experiences with special attention focused on congregational formation. Students will explore worship through biblical analysis and theological reflection while also engaging in conversations on the role and function of the church and culture relative to worship.

MC670 Empowering Marginalized Church Groups & the Urban Poor Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair.

MC683 Compassionate and Holistic Ministry Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair.

MC686 Race, Gender, and the American Church Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair.

MC/AP687 The Bible and Race The course is designed to lead students to a comprehensive theological understanding of the diversity of the human race and the accompanying ministry implications through a Biblical worldview.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

MC/TH692 Violence, Sexual Abuse, and the Gospel Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair.

MC701 Pastoral Ministry Examines the roles and functions of pastoral work as designated in Scripture and various traditions. Ministerial identity and foundational pastoral tasks are discussed. Emphasizes practical aspects of pastoral ministry.

MC/CL707 Transforming Leadership in the Local Church The elements of leadership in a Christian context will be examined from a biblical and historical basis. Particular focus will be upon self-understanding and what parts of leadership will be natural and which ones will need to be acquired.

MC/NT/TH710 Biblical-Theological Ministry Employs lectures, case studies, readings, interaction among participating professors, and class discussion to acquaint students with the challenges and opportunities associated with biblically-based ministry in the coming decades. No prerequisites, but familiarity with exegetical method and systematic theology are presumed.

MC720 Project Course in Ministry Independent study, any session by petition. See section on project courses for information.

MC750 Christian Worship: Paradigms and Practice This course focuses on the theology and psychology of worship, on forms of worship, on the language of space and the language of time, on etiquette in worship, on expressions of worship, on patterns of worship, and on the sacraments. Representatives from various denominations will present a worship service that is congruent with denominational guidelines for worship.

MC760 Reading in Ministry of the Church Independent study, any session by petition. See section on reading and research courses for information.

MC/EM801 Leadership, Management and Strategy for Ministry A triple workshop: Creative Life Planning, Management Theory and Plan for Future Ministry. Provides powerful small group experience and application of dynamic theory to future practice.

MC850 Readiness for Ministry Exit Seminar This course focuses on integrating key aspects of seminary education with Christian ministry to prepare graduating students for vocational ministry.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

The course goals are to exegete the concept of pastoral ministry and integrate these findings into a personal statement of ministerial practice.

MC860 Research in Ministry of the Church Independent study, any session by petition. See section on reading and research courses for information.

MC881 Integrative Project Capstone course for MACM and MAR-Hybrid, available any term by petition.

Mentored Ministry (Division of Practical Theology)

MM: General Focus of Mentored Ministry Mentored Ministry includes the field education portion of preparation

for ministry. The primary objective is to provide a context for integration of theory with practical field experience.

By means of the mentoring relationship with the approved pastor (or qualified staff member) and the various experiences provided within the church, students will be able to test their vocational commitments, broaden their empirical and experiential knowledge, develop ministry skills, nurture personal identity, enhance self-directed learning, and engage in spiritual formation. Pre/co-requisite: MC/SF501 or CH/SF591. Students who complete 3 credit hours of Mentored Ministry may use them to fulfill one concentration course in the MATS and MACM.

MM505 Mentored Ministry – Course 1 is the first selected semester of Mentored Ministry (1 credit hour). Pre/corequisite: MC/SF501 or CH/SF591.

MM605 Mentored Ministry – Course 2 is the second selected semester of Mentored Ministry (1 credit hour). Prerequisite: MM505.

MM705 Mentored Ministry – Course 3 is the third selected semester of Mentored Ministry (1 credit hour). Prerequisite: MM605.

MM650 is 3 semester hours. Co-requisite: MM649.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

New Testament (Division of Biblical Studies)

NT501 Exploring the New Testament Introduction to the field of New Testament studies, highlighting central New Testament themes, issues, events, and persons.

NT502 Interpreting the New Testament Attention given to a variety of methods of interpretation (textual, lexical, grammatical, historical, literary) and bibliographic tools. Students prepare exeges papers on the basis of the Greek text. Prerequisites: GL502, NT501, OT500.

NT503 Life of Jesus An in-depth study of the complementary portraits of Jesus in the four gospels, focusing on the events of His life, the content of His message, and His understanding of His own person and mission.

NT504 Paul and His Letters An in-depth study of Paul's pastoral and missionary understanding of the Christian faith. Students assess the distinctive settings and themes of his letters in the context of the missionary journeys in Acts.

NT/OT517 Interpreting the Bible An introduction to essential bibliographical tools necessary for Bible study and an orientation to the key issues in the field of hermeneutics. Prerequisites: NT501 and OT500.

NT562 Ephesians in Depth Provides the student with sufficient knowledge of Greek and Hebrew to use research tools and do Greek and Hebrew word studies. An exegetical method is explained and then applied in a careful study of the epistle to the Ephesians. Addresses questions of both Paul's original meaning and contemporary application.

NT569 Revelation in Depth Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair.

NT571 The Hellenistic World of the New Testament Reading and analysis of primary documents in Graeco-Roman religious and philosophical thought germane to New Testament literature and theology.

NT572 The Jewish World of the New Testament In order better to interpret the New Testament, the course will survey the history, literature and practices of Judaism from the Maccabean revolt (175 BC) to the great revolt under Hadrian (AD 135).

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

NT/CL/OT574 Biblical Theology of Leadership This course explores the foundational teachings and primary metaphors of leadership in the Bible. These teachings and metaphors are understood in the context of God's larger calling on the covenant community in redemptive history. Some attention is also given to contemporary metaphors for ministry. Prerequisites: OT 500, NT 501, NT/OT517.

NT577 Biblical Theology: New Testament Focus Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair.

NT/OT581 The Bible in Its Ancient Near Eastern Context The course is an introduction to the cultures of the Ancient Near East as they impact the civilizations of the Old Testament and how these cultural patterns set the trajectories for the ANE contexts of the New Testament. With this broad sweep of Mesopotamia, Anatolia, Egypt, the Levant and Mediterranean basin from the rise of cities (ca. 3000 B.C.) to the Achaemenids, Hellenistic and Early Roman Period (1st Cent. AD), the goal of the course is to provide theological foundations to the revelation of Yahweh in ancient Israel against the cultural background of the Great Powers (Egypt and Greater Mesopotamia) and their successors Greece and Rome.

NT582 Suffering and Joy in the New Testament Why do people suffer? The New Testament (with some attention to the Old Testament) gives reasons and responses to suffering which relate to God's nature. A practical foundation for dealing with people in difficult circumstances.

NT586 New Testament Basis for Women in Ministry A study of crucial New Testament passages will assist in developing an understanding of the role of women and men in ministry and in marriage. Exemplary women and couples in the New Testament will be studied.

NT591 Tolkien's Apocalyptic Imagination An in-depth exploration of the works of J.R.R. Tolkien from a biblical and theological perspective. Special attention will be given to the relationship between Tolkien's imaginative world and apocalyptic literature in the Bible.

NT611 Exegesis of Matthew An exegetical study of the Greek text of Matthew, focusing on the structure and theology of Matthew's gospel as a literary unit. Prerequisites: GL502 and NT502.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

NT613 Exegesis of Mark This exegetical study of the structure, theology and probable setting of Mark gives special attention to the person of Jesus and his mission. Prerequisites: GL502 and NT502.

NT615 Exegesis of Luke An exegetical study of the Greek text, with attention to the unique theological themes, structure, historical context, and application of Luke. Prerequisites: GL502 and NT502.

NT617 Gospel of John Exegesis of the Greek text, with special focus on John's portrayal of Jesus, the divine family, and the formation of the new family of believers. Prerequisites: GL502 and NT502.

NT619 Exegesis of Acts An exegesis of the Greek text in light of the ancient Greco-Roman and Jewish world with attention to the exegesis of narrative, historical accuracy and context, theological themes, structure, and application. Prerequisites: GL502 and NT502.

NT620 Exegesis of Romans Exegesis of the Greek text with examination of principal theological themes in the context of Paul's apostolic mission and his relationship to the church in Rome. Prerequisites: GL502 and NT502.

NT621 Exegesis in the New Testament Epistles Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair. Prerequisites: GL502 and NT502.

NT622 Exegesis of First Corinthians An exegetical study of the Greek text of I Corinthians with special reference to Paul's self-understanding as an apostle and the major theological themes of his ministry as they are expressed in relationship to the problems of the Corinthian church. Prerequisites: GL502 and NT502.

NT626 Exegesis of Galatians A detailed analysis of the Greek text of Galatians, with special attention given to Paul's apostleship, his relationship with the Jerusalem church, his understanding of the law, justification and the role of the Spirit. Prerequisites: GL502 and NT502.

NT628 Exegesis of Ephesians An exegetical study of the epistle to the Ephesians in the historical and theological context of Paul's apostolic ministry. Special attention is given to the occasion and purpose, structure and theological content of the letter. Prerequisites: GL502 and NT502.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

NT630 Exegesis of Philippians Paul's unique relationship and message to the Philippians will be discovered. The course also examines the historical context of the letter. Major emphases are the translation, exegesis and application of the Greek text. Prerequisites: GL502 and NT502.

NT631 Exegesis of Colossians and Philemon Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair. Prerequisites: GL502 and NT502.

NT632 Exegesis of the Thessalonian Epistles A detailed analysis of the Greek text of the Thessalonian epistles. Special attention is given to the life setting at Thessalonica as well as to the theological motifs of the letters. Prerequisites: GL502 and NT502.

NT635 Exegesis of the Pastoral Epistles A study of the Greek text, with attention to the unique themes, structure, historical context, and application of Paul's letters to Timothy and Titus. Indepth interpretation may be limited to one of the three letters. Prerequisites: GL502 and NT502.

NT638 Exegesis of Hebrews An exegetical study of the Greek text, with special attention to the structure and argument of the book, its unique theological themes and images, and its application to today. Prerequisites: GL502 and NT502.

NT639 Exegesis of James An exegetical study of the Greek text, with attention to the unique theological themes, images, structure, historical context of James, and application to today. Prerequisites: GL502 and NT502.

NT642 Exegesis of the Johannine Epistles An exegetical study of the three Johannine epistles in their relationship to each other and to the gospel of John. Emphasis will be placed on I John. Prerequisites: GL502 and NT502.

NT/ET647 Biblical Ethics This English based course explores significant topics for Christian Ethics as they are addressed within the NT. Students are provided an understanding of the interaction between NT Studies and Christian Ethics and NT Theology and NT Ethics.

NT649 Exegesis of Revelation Exegesis of the Apocalypse in its historical setting and Old Testament context, interpreting its meaning in both the first century and today. Special attention is given to the occasion and purpose, structure and theological content of the letter. Prerequisites: GL502 and NT502.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

NT/PR655 From Text to Sermon Integration of exegesis and homiletics. Presents a realistic, workable method for doing exegesis and homiletics in the busy world of active ministry. Prepare biblical, clear, edifying, and even creative sermons in 10-12 hours. Learning experiences include reading, discussion, lecture, exegesis, practice preaching, watching sermons, and self-critique. Prerequisites: NT502 and PR601.

NT675 New Testament Theology Special attention given to various approaches to New Testament theology, the theological relationship between the testaments, inaugurated eschatology and related themes. May focus on the distinctive themes of various New Testament authors or on a specific author or theme. Prerequisites: GL502 and NT502.

NT/OT795 Biblical Theology Seminar A seminar on the primary themes and fundamental issues shared by both Testaments. Students present papers for formal critique and discussion on relevant topics within the discipline of Biblical Theology.

NT860 Research in New Testament Independent study, any session by petition. See section on reading and research courses for information.

NT891 New Testament Thesis – Part I Intensive research into a topic leading to the production of a thesis under the guidance of a thesis director. By invitation of the Biblical Studies Division. Prerequisite: Invitation from division.

NT892 New Testament Thesis – Part II A continuation of NT891. Prerequisite: NT891.

NT/OT/TH910 Theological Hermeneutics A discussion of main theories and concepts of hermeneutics, with particular attention being paid to the relationship between exegesis and systematic theology; contextual and missional issues. Offered at the Th.M. level.

NT913 Exegesis of Mark (ThM Level) This exegetical study of the structure, theology and probable setting of Mark gives special attention to the person of Jesus and his mission. Prerequisites: GL502 and NT502.

NT914 New Testament History Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair.

NT915 Exegesis of Luke (ThM Level) (ThM Students Only) An exegetical study of the Greek text, with attention to the unique theological themes, structure, historical context, and application of Luke.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

NT917 Gospel of John (ThM Level) Exegesis of the Greek text, with special focus on John's portrayal of Jesus, the divine family, and the formation of the new family of believers.

NT919 Exegesis of Acts (ThM Level) Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair.

NT920 Exegesis of Romans (ThM Level) (ThM Students Only) Exegesis of the Greek text with examination of principal theological themes in the context of Paul's apostolic mission and his relationship to the church in Rome.

NT922 Exegesis in First Corinthians (ThM Level) An exegetical study of the Greek text of I Corinthians with special reference to Paul's self-understanding as an apostle and the major theological themes of his ministry as they are expressed in relationship to the problems of the Corinthian church.

NT928 Exegesis of Ephesians (ThM Level) Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair.

NT930 Exegesis of Philippians (ThM Level) Paul's unique relationship and message to the Philippians will be discovered. The course also examines the historical context of the letter. Major emphases are the translation, exegesis and application of the Greek text.

NT638 Exegesis of Hebrews (ThM Level) An exegetical study of the Greek text, with special attention to the structure and argument of the book, its unique theological themes and images, and its application to today.

NT939 Exegesis of James (ThM Level) Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair.

NT949 Exegesis of Revelation (ThM Level) Exegesis of the Apocalypse in its historical setting and Old Testament context, interpreting its meaning in both the first century and today. Special attention is given to the occasion and purpose, structure and theological content of the letter.

NT960 Research in New Testament Th.M.-level independent study, any session by petition. See section on reading and research courses for information.

NT970 Advanced New Testament Research: Sources and Methods Introduction to the primary sources, the secondary literature, and the major issues related to advanced New Testament studies,

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

including scholarly editions of Hebrew, Aramaic, Latin, and Greek texts (Old and New Testament, Jewish literature, Greco-Roman literature, inscriptions, papyri), the lexicons, dictionaries, encyclopedias, and commentaries which scholars use to interpret these texts, and the major issues and methods of New Testament research. Designed for Th.M level and third year M.Div students. NT975 New Testament Theology Special attention given to various approaches to New Testament theology, the theological relationship between the testaments, inaugurated eschatology and related themes. May focus on the distinctive themes of various New Testament authors or on a specific author or theme.

NT/OT981 The Bible in Its Ancient Near Eastern Context The course is an introduction to the cultures of the Ancient Near East as they impact the civilizations of the Old Testament and how these cultural patterns set the trajectories for the ANE contexts of the New Testament. With this broad sweep of Mesopotamia, Anatolia, Egypt, the Levant and Mediterranean basin from the rise of cities (ca. 3000 B.C.) to the Achaemenids, Hellenistic and Early Roman Period (1st Cent. AD), the goal of the course is to provide theological foundations to the revelation of Yahweh in ancient Israel against the cultural background of the Great Powers (Egypt and Greater Mesopotamia) and their successors Greece and Rome. Pre-requisite: Th.M.

NT991 ThM Thesis – Part I Intensive research into a topic leading to the production of a thesis under the guidance of a thesis director. By invitation of the Biblical Studies Division. Prerequisites: Invitation from division.

NT992 ThM Thesis – Part II A continuation of NT991. Prerequisite: NT991.

NT993 The Old Testament in the New An integrative course with a focus on the distinctive uses and applications of Old Testament themes and texts in the New Testament. Offered at the Th.M. level. Prerequisites: GL502 and NT502.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

Oriental Languages (Division of Biblical Studies)

OL501 Hebrew I Introduces basic grammar and vocabulary of biblical Hebrew, emphasizing the importance of Hebrew language for understanding the Old Testament.

OL502 Hebrew II Continuation of OL 501 with sustained emphasis on mastery of grammar and vocabulary. OL 502 will emphasize reading from the Hebrew Old Testament with introduction of some rudiments of exegetical method. Prerequisite: OL501.

OL503 Forgotten Hebrew: An Accelerated Review of Basic Hebrew Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair. Not for students whose degrees require OL501 and OL502. Prerequisites: Prior transcripted study of Hebrew and professor approval.

OL710 Independent Reading in the Hebrew Bible A minimum of 30 chapters of prose or 25 chapters of poetry is normally required. Independent study, any session by petition. Prerequisite: OL502.

OL711 Independent Reading in a Near Eastern Language A minimum number of passages appropriate to full course credit will be required, with appropriate examination at the conclusion. Language reading may be undertaken at either the beginning or the advanced level. Independent study, any session by petition. Prerequisite: OL502.

OL860 Research in Oriental Languages Independent study, any session by petition. See section on reading and research courses for information. Prerequisite: OL502.

OL910 Intermediate Hebrew Grammar An intensive study of Hebrew grammatical issues through a direct study of the Hebrew Bible and interaction with the secondary literature.

OL912 Aramaic A study of the grammar of biblical Aramaic, followed by a reading of the Aramaic portions of Ezra and Daniel, as well as short extra-biblical Aramaic texts. Recommended Prerequisite: OL502.

OL913 Targumic Aramaic A study of the grammar of Targum Onqelos, followed by reading from a variety of biblical passages in the major Targums. Independent study, any session by petition. Prerequisite: OL912.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

OL914 Syriac A study of the grammar of Syriac, followed by a reading of selected Syriac texts from the Bible and early Christian history. Independent study, any session by petition. Prerequisite: OL912.

OL915 Advanced Hebrew Grammar In addition to solidifying components of grammar learned at the introductory level and at the 600-level exegesis, the course introduces students to advanced principles of grammar and to some of the current debates in the field. By the end of the course, students should have developed competence in addressing complex grammatical issues in the text. Throughout the course emphasis is placed on building skills to assess the import of a particular grammatical inquiry in the exegetical process. Prerequisite: OL610, OL710, or any 600-level OT course.

OL941 Ugaritic Study of Ugaritic grammar with reading of selected materials that are important for Old Testament interpretation. Prerequisite: OL502.

OL943 Akkadian Introduces the Akkadian language, using readings from the Code of Hammurabi. Students will master a basic list of Neo-Assyrian signs and the elements of Old Babylonian vocabulary and grammar. Emphasis upon benefits of this study for interpretation of Old Testament. Prerequisite: OL502.

Old Testament (Division of Biblical Studies)

OT500 Exploring the Old Testament Introduces history, literature and thought of Old Testament as reflected in its major divisions and individual books. Designed and recommended for those who have not had a systematic survey of the Old Testament, enabling them to proceed with seminary-level studies.

OT501 Theology of the Pentateuch General introduction to the topic, including: creation as foundational to all further revelation; the image of God and its implications for the nature of God's kingdom and temple presence; the primacy of covenant in all of God's dealings.

OT505 Christ in the Old Testament A survey of selected Old Testament messianic prophecies, as well as messianic types which are identified in the New Testament as fulfilled in Christ. The emphasis will be on the interpretation of these texts within their Old Testament context.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

OT511 Interpreting the Old Testament The primary objective of this course is to introduce students to the methods and principles of interpreting the Old Testament, so that they might become effective preachers and teachers of God's word. Prerequisites: OL502, OT500, NT501.

OT/NT517 Interpreting the Bible An introduction to essential bibliographical tools necessary for Bible study and an orientation to the key issues in the field of hermeneutics. Prerequisites: OT500 and NT501.

OT523 Study Seminar in Israel and Jordan Two-week travel seminar to major archaeological sites and geographical regions of Israel and Jordan. Historical geography and biblical archaeology are primary emphases, though some traditional sites are included in itinerary.

OT525 Urban Archaeology of Ancient Israel Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair.

OT535 Judges in Depth Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair.

OT/ET542 Old Testament and Christian Ethics An examination will be made of key ethical passages in the Old Testament with special application to the issues raised in modern life. Focus is given to the interaction between Old Testament studies and Christian Ethics as well as Old Testament theology and Old Testament ethics.

OT552 Exodus in Depth Students will explore the content, interpretive, and theological issues raised and addressed in the book of Exodus. This course will also provide the student with sufficient knowledge of Hebrew and Greek to do Hebrew and Greek word studies. No previous knowledge of Hebrew or Greek is expected or required for this course.

OT558 I & II Samuel in Depth Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair.

OT/CL/NT574 Biblical Theology of Leadership This course explores the foundational teachings and primary metaphors of leadership in the Bible. These teachings and metaphors are understood in the context of God's larger calling on the covenant community in redemptive history. Some attention is also given to contemporary metaphors for ministry. Prerequisites: OT500, NT501, NT/OT517.

OT577 Biblical Theology: Old Testament Focus The primary objective of this course is to introduce students to biblical theology with a focus on the Old Testament. This will be achieved

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

by tracing important biblical themes each week in class, and by assigning readings that enable students to pursue research on key biblical themes.

OT/NT581 The Bible in Its Ancient Near Eastern Context The course is an introduction to the cultures of the Ancient Near East as they impact the civilizations of the Old Testament and how these cultural patterns set the trajectories for the ANE contexts of the New Testament. With this broad sweep of Mesopotamia, Anatolia, Egypt, the Levant and Mediterranean basin from the rise of cities (ca. 3000 B.C.) to the Achaemenids, Hellenistic and Early Roman Period (1st Cent. AD), the goal of the course is to provide theological foundations to the revelation of Yahweh in ancient Israel against the cultural background of the Great Powers (Egypt and Greater Mesopotamia) and their successors Greece and Rome.

OT595 Old Testament Ethics Beginning with the theory and practice of how moral decisions are made, the heart of the course focuses on key ethical passages in the Old Testament and how these give direction in today's complex world of contemporary ethical choices.

OT626 Exegesis in Genesis Emphasis upon the fundamentals of Old Testament exegesis, reading select Hebrew passages of Genesis and the study of issues raised in scholarly literature, including Genesis in historical criticism, the structure of Genesis, and the nature of its narrative and theology. Prerequisite: OT511.

OT627 Exegesis in Exodus Students will be introduced to the objectives, methods and tools of Hebrew exegesis and principles of hermeneutics. Emphasis upon the Plague Narratives, Passover, Covenant, Decalogue, Tabernacle and the great moment of redemption in the Old Testament. Prerequisite: OT511.

OT628 Exegesis of Leviticus Students will be introduced to the content and theology of Leviticus, learn about the book's structure and narrative artistry, and appreciate its importance for the worshiping life of God's people, both past and present. Prerequisite: OT511.

OT633 Exegesis in Deuteronomy Translation and study of select portions of Deuteronomy, with regard to such exegetically related matters as: dictionary usage, grammar, textual criticism, word study, historical and literary context study, and sermon preparation. Special emphasis: covenant theology. Prerequisite: OT511.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

OT635 Exegesis in Judges An exegetical study of Judges designed to introduce the methods of OT exegesis and hermeneutics. Attention will be given to the book's literary structure, dominant biblical-theological themes and various legal-ethical issues. Prerequisite: OT511.

OT637 Exegesis in Conquest Narratives Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair. Prerequisite: OT511.

OT644 Exegesis in Old Testament Narratives Preliminary aspects of Hebrew exegesis, including objectives, methods and tools, are taught in connection with selected passages from the historical books for preaching and teaching. Emphasis upon introductory issues important to the proper interpretation of various individual books. Prerequisite: OT511.

OT645 Exegesis in I & II Samuel This exegetical study of selected passages in Samuel is designed to introduce the methods of Old Testament exegesis and hermeneutics with special attention to the book's text-critical and synoptic problems, literary structure and biblical-theological themes. Prerequisite: OT511.

OT646 Exegesis in the Historical Books The basics of Hebrew exegesis, including its objectives, methods and tools, are taught in connection with selected passages from the historical books. Students are exposed both to the general characteristics and applicability of interpretation of various individual books. Prerequisite: OT511.

OT647 Exegesis in Elijah-Elisha Narratives Translation and study of the narratives, with regard to such exegetically related matters as: dictionary usage, grammar, textual criticism, word study, historical and literary context study, and sermon preparation. Special emphasis: signs and wonders. Prerequisite: OT511.

OT750 Old Testament Prophetical Books A study of the institution and contribution of the prophets, including: critical backgrounds, a survey of the prophets, and exegesis of selected passages in prophetic literature. Special interest: eschatological patterns and themes. Prerequisite: OT511.

OT/PR755 From Text to Sermon Integration of exegesis and homiletics. Presents a realistic, workable method for doing exegesis and homiletics in the busy world of active ministry. Prepare

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

biblical, clear, edifying, and even creative sermons in 10-12 hours. Learning experiences include reading, discussion, lecture, exegesis, practice preaching, watching sermons, and self-critique. OT760 Reading in Old Testament Independent study, any session by petition. See section on reading and research courses for information.

OT765 OT Exegesis: The Promise of Zion The course focuses on the development of exegetical skills to interpret Hebrew poetry from select texts in prophecy (major and minor prophets) and poetry (Psalms and Wisdom Literature). In addition to building upon methodology learned in OT 511 and 600-level exegesis, the course emphasizes a particular theme in biblical theology (e.g. "the promise of Zion") and/or other topics deemed appropriate by the instructor. Prerequisite: OT 511.

OT770 Old Testament Poetical Books A study of the nature and techniques of Old Testament poetry, including: metrics, line and strophic structure, historical-grammatical exegesis and text criticism. Special introduction to the various poetical books of the Old Testament and samples of exegesis, emphasizing the Psalms. Prerequisite: OT 511.

OT/NT795 Biblical Theology Seminar A seminar on the primary themes and fundamental issues shared by both Testaments. Students present papers for formal critique and discussion on relevant topics within the discipline of Biblical Theology. Prerequisites: OT511, NT502.

OT860 Research in Old Testament Independent study, any session by petition. See section on reading and research courses for information.

OT891 Old Testament Thesis – Part I Intensive research into a topic leading to the production of a thesis under the guidance of a thesis director. By invitation of the Biblical Studies Division. Prerequisite: Invitation from division.

OT892 Old Testament Thesis – Part II A continuation of OT891. Prerequisite: OT891.

OT/NT/TH910 Theological Hermeneutics A discussion of main theories and concepts of hermeneutics, with particular attention being paid to the relationship between exegesis and systematic theology; contextual and missional issues. Offered at the Th.M. level.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

OT926 Exegesis of Genesis (ThM Level) Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair.

OT927 Exegesis in Exodus (ThM Level) Students will be introduced to the objectives, methods and tools of Hebrew exegesis and principles of hermeneutics. Emphasis upon the Plague Narratives, Passover, Covenant, Decalogue, Tabernacle and the great moment of redemption in the Old Testament.

OT928 Exegesis of Leviticus (ThM Level) Students will be introduced to the content and theology of Leviticus, learn about the book's structure and narrative artistry, and appreciate its importance for the worshiping life of God's people, both past and present.

OT935 Exegesis in Judges (ThM Level) An exegetical study of Judges designed to introduce the methods of OT exegesis and hermeneutics. Attention will be given to the book's literary structure, dominant biblical-theological themes and various legal-ethical issues.

OT937 Exegesis in Conquest Narratives (ThM Level) Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair.

OT946 Exegesis in the Historical Books (ThM Level) Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair.

OT947 Exegesis of Elijah-Elisha Narratives (ThM Level) Translation and study of the narratives, with regard to such exegetically related matters as: dictionary usage, grammar, textual criticism, word study, historical and literary context study, and sermon preparation. Special emphasis: signs and wonders.

OT950 Old Testament Prophetical Books (ThM Level) Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair.

OT965 OT Exegesis: The Promise of Zion (ThM Level) The course focuses on the development of exegetical skills to interpret Hebrew poetry from select texts in prophecy (major and minor prophets) and poetry (Psalms and Wisdom Literature). In addition to building upon methodology learned in OT 511 and 600-level exegesis, the course emphasizes a particular theme in biblical theology (e.g. "the promise of Zion") and/or other topics deemed appropriate by the instructor.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

OT970 Old Testament Poetical Books (ThM Level) A study of the nature and techniques of Old Testament poetry, including: metrics, line and strophic structure, historical-grammatical exegesis and text criticism. Special introduction to the various poetical books of the Old Testament and samples of exegesis, emphasizing the Psalms.

OT975 Methods and Developments in Old Testament Study Introduction to the primary sources and secondary literature in Old Testament studies, and to the major developments and methodologies in the modern scholarly study of the Old Testament. Appropriate for students planning to pursue a PhD in Old Testament but also for those in pastoral ministry who want to deepen their understanding of the Old Testament, its historical context, and its interpretive methods. Prerequisite: at least one 700 level Hebrew exegesis course or its equivalent. For Th.M students; for advanced MDiv or MA students by petition only.

OT981 The Old Testament in its Ancient Near Eastern Context This course is an introduction to the civilizations of Mesopotamia, Anatolia, Egypt and the Levant from the rise of cities (ca. 3000 B.C.) to the Achaemenids (ca. 330 B.C.). Relevant points of connection with biblical events and peoples will be highlighted with a view to situate the biblical text within its larger socio-historical and theological framework for the period under consideration.

OT/NT981 The Bible in Its Ancient Near Eastern Context The course is an introduction to the cultures of the Ancient Near East as they impact the civilizations of the Old Testament and how these cultural patterns set the trajectories for the ANE contexts of the New Testament. With this broad sweep of Mesopotamia, Anatolia, Egypt, the Levant and Mediterranean basin from the rise of cities (ca. 3000 B.C.) to the Achaemenids, Hellenistic and Early Roman Period (1st Cent. AD), the goal of the course is to provide theological foundations to the revelation of Yahweh in ancient Israel against the cultural background of the Great Powers (Egypt and Greater Mesopotamia) and their successors Greece and Rome. Pre-requisite: Th.M.

OT991 ThM Thesis – Part I Intensive research into a topic leading to the production of a thesis under the guidance of a thesis director. By invitation of the Biblical Studies Division. Prerequisite: Invitation from division.

OT992 ThM Thesis – Part II A continuation of OT991. Prerequisite: OT991.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

Pastoral Care/Psychology (Division of Practical Theology)

PC511 Introduction to Pastoral Counseling Basic preparation for the complex task of pastoral care and counseling. The focus is upon the pastor in the congregational setting.

PC521 Pastoral Counseling in Urban Ministry Application of the unique task of pastoral care and counseling in the context of the urban church.

PC542 Marriage Counseling Basic preparation for assessing and counseling married couples in the context of the congregation. Emphasis is upon marriage as a covenant relationship.

PC/MC606 Pastoral Care in Crisis Situations How does one effectively minister in crisis situations? Course interactions will include case studies, discussions, and role playing.

PC/MC608 Pastoral Care in the Urban Church This seminar will seek to help the urban pastor to discern some of the chronic problems and conflicts confronted by youth, adults, and senior citizens as they struggle for survival amid tension, frustration, and change in the daily, inner-city experience of living and how to deal creatively and constructively with such problems.

PC621 Clinical Pastoral Education Contact the Mentored Ministry Office for detailed instructions. PC621 is 3 semester hours.

PC622 Clinical Pastoral Education Contact the Mentored Ministry Office for detailed instructions. PC622 is 6 semester hours.

PC623 Clinical Pastoral Education Same as PC 621/622 except that it is a five day per week commitment for 12 weeks. Contact the Mentored Ministry Office for detailed instructions. PC623 is 9 semester hours. PC/CO671 Suicide Prevention for Professional Caregivers The goal of this course is to introduce the student to all relevant and basic aspects of suicide prevention for professional caregivers including counselors, chaplains and pastors. The emphasis is on helping the student develop understanding and skills needed to help suicidal individuals, individuals who have attempted suicide and their family members, and the family members and a faith community following a suicide death. Special emphasis will also be on the importance of self-care for the professional caregiver. Specific aspects of suicide prevention that will be emphasized will include the unique role of pastoral caregivers in suicide prevention and the development of a theology of suicide.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

PC/CO717 Counseling in Abuse and Intimate Partner Violence The purpose of this course is to provide an introduction to the issues associated with abuse and intimate partner violence (IPV). Students will be introduced to the broad scope of abuse and intimate partner violence and the inevitable consequences for the individuals and the systems involved. Students will examine the issues around abuse and violence from a biblical and theological perspective in order to form a substantial Christian response to this growing problem. Students will develop evidence-based models for treatment and prevention.

PC/CO718 Group Dynamics This course is designed to provide a theoretical and practical understanding of the use of groups and group process. Each member will also become part of an active group to understand by experience the nature of group process.

PC720 Project Course in Pastoral Care and Psychology Independent study, any session by petition. See section on project courses for information.

PC/CO/YM725 Counseling the Adolescent A review of the basic issues in adolescent development with a particular focus on understanding the adolescent in the family context. Development of introductory skills in the counseling of adolescents and their families.

PC/CO/EM741 Counseling the Aged: Introduction to Gerontology The significant growth of the population of older citizens necessitates a clearer understanding of the unique issues and needs of this population. This course is designed to take a holistic approach to counseling older persons. Specifically we will study the ways in which biological, psychological, sociological, economic, and spiritual interact in the lives of this population.

PC/CO750 Counseling for Crisis and Addictions This course focuses on counseling methods of prevention and intervention with addictions, both neurobiological and behavioral, and in crisis scenarios. Biblical and theological perspectives are integrated with social science focusing on healing processes. Various crises will be studied, and etiology, assessment, and models of treatment in crisis counseling will be addressed.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

PC760 Readings in Pastoral Psychology Independent study, any session by petition. See section on reading and research courses for information.

PC860 Research in Pastoral Psychology Independent study, any session by petition. See section on reading and research courses for information.

Preaching (Division of Practical Theology)

PR517 Cultural Exegesis for Preaching Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair.

PR601 Preaching: Princ. & Pract. In Prep. Relevant Biblical Sermons An introduction to the principles of preparing relevant biblical sermons. Lectures and exercises cover a stage-by-stage explanation of how preachers think as they prepare to preach. Recitation sessions provide opportunity for students to preach with critique by the professor. Prerequisite: NT502 or OT511.

PR602 Preaching for Modern Listeners Building on PR601, students will interact with the biblical material to prepare sermons that relate to a modern audience. Students will preach with critique by the professor. Prerequisite: PR601.

PR/TH646 Theology and Preaching This course explores the intersection of theology and preaching—the theological nature of preaching and pastoral ministry, how to preach doctrine, and preaching through difficult theological topics. Students will gain knowledge, skills, and experience in moving from the text to theology to the sermon. Prerequisite: PR601.

PR/NT655 From Text to Sermon Integration of exegesis and homiletics. Presents a realistic, workable method for doing exegesis and homiletics in the busy world of active ministry. Prepare biblical, clear, edifying, and even creative sermons in 10-12 hours. Learning experiences include reading, discussion, lecture, exegesis, practice preaching, watching sermons, and self-critique. Prerequisites: NT502 and PR601.

PR701 Preaching for Special Occasions Students will construct and practice expository sermons for special occasions, in addition to introductions of speakers and after-dinner speeches. Not a substitute for PR601 or PR602 for M.Div. students. Prerequisite: PR601. PR602 is advisable, but not required.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

PR704 Preaching and Community Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair. PR706 Preaching and Disability This course is designed to enable you to think about preaching as it relates to disability. You will construct an expository sermon based upon the skills of exegesis that meets the particular needs of people affected by developmental disabilities and aims at transforming the thinking, actions, and attitudes of the entire body of Christ in regard to people with developmental disabilities. Prerequisite: PR601.

PR712 SAMS Visiting Professor The Burnett H. and Dorothy F. Sams Visiting Professor of Preaching course is taught by a renowned homiletician recognized for contributing to the field and to the life of the local church. The holder changes from year to year. See announcements from the Registration Office. This course is not a substitute for PR601 or PR602 for M.Div. students. Prerequisite: PR601. PR602 is advisable, but not required.

PR717 Cultural Exegesis for Preaching This course is designed to train students to exegete various types of listeners in today's culturally-changing church context for the purpose of effective sermon construction and delivery. Students will obtain theoretical and practical methods to begin exploring a number of sub-cultures that exist within congregations (e.g., faith development, worldviews, gender, age groups, socioeconomic and educational backgrounds, race and ethnicity, among others) and to learn how to preach biblically and culturally-informed sermons to listeners who come from diverse cultural backgrounds and life situations. Prerequisite: PR601.

PR720 Project Course in Preaching Independent study, any session by petition. See section on project courses for information. Prerequisite: PR601.

PR721 Narrative Preaching Expository preachers pay attention to what the text says and how it says it. This course takes content and form seriously. Using a literary/rhetorical approach to the interpretation of biblical narrative, this course unlocks the dynamics of the text and shows how to incorporate those dynamics into our own preaching. Prerequisite: PR601.

PR/CL722 Preaching, Persuasion, and Leadership Examines the nature and place of persuasion in communication and homiletics. Appreciation of rhetorical theory as a tool for analyzing and improving preaching. Students assess their own ethos and preach persuasive messages.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

Consideration of the ethics of persuasive preaching. Lectures, reading, discussion, and exercises. Prerequisite: PR601.

PR724 Evangelistic Preaching This course will instruct students in the art of planning, preparing, and preaching evangelistic sermons. Lectures, reading, and exercises will comprise the course. Prerequisite: PR 601. PR 602 is advised but not required.

PR734 Reclaiming Evangelistic Preaching Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair.

PR735 Great Preachers Seminar In seminar format, this course humbly critiques strengths and weaknesses of famous contemporary preachers. The goal is to better understand the theory and practice of homiletics and to improve our own preaching. Prerequisite: PR601.

PR738 Apologetic Preaching This course is designed to enable students to communicate the Christian faith in our cultural mindset, particularly that of postmodernism and skepticism. The student will learn how to think, reason and deliver unapologetically without compromising the substance and show the relevance of God's truth. Prerequisite: PR601.

PR740 Christ-Centered Preaching This course addresses sermon preparation and delivery principles for pastors with an emphasis on textual exposition, sermon structures and delivery styles that are consistent with an understanding of the infallible truth and divine inspiration of all Scripture. A particular emphasis will be the way in which the grace that pervades Scripture and culminates in Christ affects textual interpretation and sermonic application. Prerequisite: PR601.

PR741 Preaching Christ in a Multi-Faith World This course is intended for preachers to intentionally explore the multi-faith contexts in which we minister and preach. Students will be given relevant tools to communicate God's Word to listeners who come from various religious and non-religious backgrounds.

PR742 Preaching on Controversial Topics This course is designed as an advanced seminar and practicum on preaching on controversial topics. Students will explore the biblical/exegetical, theological, hermeneutical, cultural, and homiletical opportunities and challenges in communicating God's Word on various topics that typically divide the church. Prerequisite: PR601.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

PR743 Preaching Reconciliation This course is designed to help aspiring leaders construct multiethnic churches, through preaching that is aware and sensitive to the ways various ethnic groups hear and receive the Bible. Prerequisite: PR601.

PR744 Preaching Difficult Topics and Texts Gives students exposure to and practice in the interpretation and exposition of biblical texts, controversial topics, and painful life situations that are especially challenging to both preachers and listeners. Prerequisite: PR601.

PR/OT755 From Text to Sermon Integration of exegesis and homiletics. Presents a realistic, workable method for doing exegesis and homiletics in the busy world of active ministry. Prepare biblical, clear, edifying, and even creative sermons in 10-12 hours. Learning experiences include reading, discussion, lecture, exegesis, practice preaching, watching sermons, and self-critique. Prerequisites: OT511, PR601.

PR906 Preaching and Disability This course is designed to enable you to think about preaching as it relates to disability. You will construct an expository sermon based upon the skills of exegesis that meets the particular needs of people affected by developmental disabilities and aims at transforming the thinking, actions, and attitudes of the entire body of Christ in regard to people with developmental disabilities. Prerequisite: PR601 or Th.M.

PR912 Sams Visiting Professor: The Burnett H. and Dorothy F. Sams Visiting Professor of Preaching course is taught by a renowned homiletician recognized for contributing to the field and to the life of the local church. The holder changes from year to year. See announcements from the Registration Office. This course is not a substitute for PR601 or PR602 for M.Div. students. Prerequisite: PR601 or Th.M. PR602 is advisable, but not required.

PR917 Cultural Exegesis for Preaching This course is designed to train students to exegete various types of listeners in today's culturally-changing church context for the purpose of effective sermon construction and delivery. Students will obtain theoretical and practical methods to begin exploring a number of sub-cultures that exist within congregations (e.g., faith development, worldviews, gender, age groups, socioeconomic and educational backgrounds, race and ethnicity, among others) and to learn how to preach biblically and culturally-informed sermons to listeners who come from diverse cultural backgrounds and life situations. Prerequisite: PR601 or Th.M.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

PR/CL922 Preaching, Persuasion, and Leadership Examines the nature and place of persuasion in communication and homiletics. Appreciation of rhetorical theory as a tool for analyzing and improving preaching. Students assess their own ethos and preach persuasive messages. Consideration of the ethics of persuasive preaching. Lectures, reading, discussion, and exercises. Prerequisite: PR601 or Th.M.

PR924 Evangelistic Preaching Evangelistic Preaching helps the person preparing for ministry know how to effectively speak to a lost audience whenever the opportunity presents itself whether as a pastor, professor, Bible study leader, or itinerant speaker. Prerequisite: PR601 or Th.M.

PR942 Preaching on Controversial Topics This course is designed as an advanced seminar and practicum on preaching on controversial topics. Students will explore the biblical/exegetical, theological, hermeneutical, cultural, and homiletical opportunities and challenges in communicating God's Word on various topics that typically divide the church. Prerequisite: PR601 or Th.M.

PR/TH946 Theology and Preaching This course explores the intersection of theology and preaching—the theological nature of preaching and pastoral ministry, how to preach doctrine, and preaching through difficult theological topics. Students will gain knowledge, skills, and experience in moving from the text to theology to the sermon. Prerequisite: PR601 or Th.M.

Social Ethics (Division of Christian Thought)

SE571 Christian Ethics & Social Issues Seeks to develop the student's theological-ethical reflections, social analysis, and types of action for ministering to crucial social issues. Our three-step approach will be: 1) clarification, 2) conceptualization, and 3) confrontation. Issues include: urbanization, economic justice, and environmental ethics.

SE/MC602 Church & Community: Introduction to the Public Ministry of the Church This course introduces students to important strategies for social ministry, such as, congregation-based community organizing, community development, and others, designed to facilitate a holistic social ministry and prophetic role in the community and exploring as avenues towards gospel faith-fulness and shalom in the city. The biblical/theological bases for social responsibility are explored.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

SE630 Redeeming Capitalism To help students understand the relationship between theology and economics and to apply what they have learned to their ministries and/or Christian discipleship.

SE632 Ethnic Identities and Reconciliation Multiethnic and interactive class examines racism in terms of a black and white paradigm. A multidisciplinary analysis of this major social problem. Course includes graphic presentations, biblical, psycho-social and ethical principles leading to challenging discussions.

SE/ET635 Social and Political Ethics Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair.

SE/MC/TH651 Proj. of Reconciliation: Intersectionality, Church & Culture Considers the intersectional areas that demand individual, institutional, and congregational reconciliation. Studies the historical, theological, cultural and sociological necessity for reconciliation.

SE735 Biblical Global Justice A survey of pre-biblical and biblical sources explores the innate desire for justice as well as the mire of dysfunction among human beings. While working through various definitions and theories of justice, additional engagement with relevant media supports an intentional consideration of the dynamics of forgiveness and reconciliation.

SE860 Research in Social Ethics Independent study, any session by petition. See section on reading and research courses for information.

Spiritual Formation (Division of Practical Theology)

SF/MC501 Spiritual Formation for Ministry The foundational course in the Division of Practical Theology and an introduction to theological seminary. A beginning working knowledge of spiritual formation leading to a lifetime of continuing education. Spiritual exercise and small group practice for personal application and for leadership in the church.

SF/CH591 Dynamics of Spiritual Life Drawing on the Creation-Redemption narrative and the riches of the history of Christian Spirituality, the course presents a comprehensive model of spirituality that can be used in personal renewal, spiritual formation, direction, discipleship, and counseling. Combining theory and praxis, it explores key spiritual dynamics, equipping for ministry to those seeking a deeper life with Christ.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

SF/CO610 Lifespan Development: Implications for Counseling This survey of major models of human development and life-span includes integration and critique of related theories from a biblical and theological perspective.

SF611 Spiritual Direction: Theory and Practice For students in the Spiritual Direction track who successfully fulfill all the requirements of the Selah Certificate of Completion of Spiritual Direction Training and who wish to receive course credit for the training. May be done during or after the final semester of the Selah program. Student meets for 4 sessions with a BMIU professor and does supplementary reading and paper assignments. Available only to MASF students as a direct study any term upon petition.

SF/CH616 Spiritual Autobiographies of Women This course will explore the writings of women about their own spiritual lives. We will do close readings of the autobiographies, diaries, journals, letters, blogs, and poetry of women throughout the 2000 years of the history of the Church.

SF/CH618 Medieval Spirituality Medieval approaches to knowing God through mysticism, monasticism, popular piety, sacraments, worship, art, music, architecture, symbolism; exploring relevance to spirituality today.

SF/CH/TH619 Reformation Era Spirituality Spirituality represents the interface between ideas and life, between Christian theology and human existence. The new evangelical spirituality as developed in Luther's Wittenberg Reformation is at once Christological, eschatological and experiential. This course on Reformation Era Spirituality will highlight the distinctive contributions of the Reformers over against the background of the dominating medieval spirituality to which it is an answer and the context of ongoing competing spiritualities of the time. To do so, the student will read widely in primary resources from Luther, Calvin, the Anabaptists and St. Ignatius of Loyola.

SF620 Life of Prayer and the Beauty of God This course is an invitation to a rich life of prayer. Drawing on the Scripture's wide range of forms and purposes for prayer, we will explore how Christians throughout time and around the world have incorporated them into their times spent alone with God and in congregational worship of Him. With a focus on the glorious beauty of God

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

that draws us into his presence and into worship of him, we will examine adoration, confession, thanksgiving, supplication, intercession, lament, and more. From David's wideranging psalms to Jesus' masterpiece, the Lord's Prayer; from Korean Tongsung Kido to Black church pastoral prayers; from the ancient collect to contemporary, spontaneous prayer meetings; from Athanasius's use of the Psalms to George Mueller's orphan-supporting intercessory prayer, and from monastic fixed-hour prayer of Egyptian desert hermits to Herrnhut's 100 years of round-the-clock missions prayer, we will discover the wondrous diversity in communing and communicating with the Triune God. We will take a multi-disciplinary approach, examining prayer and assessing its various forms from biblical, theological, historical, and pastoral perspectives.

SF/CO/TH635 Augustine's Theography & Heart Therapy: Confessions, Community & Health This course will present the perspective of Augustine of Hippo (354-430) on heart therapy and health as prescribed by his Confessions (397-401). His hopeful vision will offer contributions to: one's personal story, by retelling it in the light of grace; to distressed and wounded people around you, by learning to counsel others through an ancient tradition of theological therapy; to narcissistic and individualistic cultures, by placing a humble and prayerful theology as its antidote. SF/CO/MC642 Ministering to Women in Pain Students explore the broad range of stressful issues with which many contemporary women deal. The course focuses on helping students refine their pastoral care to such women.

SF/CH667 C.S. Lewis' Life, Works, and Spirituality Explores the writings and spiritual pilgrimage of one of the most influential figures of the twentieth century. From County Down to Cambridge University, through two World Wars and a wardrobe, to Narnia and Perelandra, the course follows the life and work of the myth-loving medieval professor, apologist, children's author, and Inkling.

Theology (Division of Christian Thought)

TH501 Theology Survey I A study of theological method, revelation, inspiration, and canon of scripture; existence and attributes of God; Trinity; creation and providence; human nature; original and actual sin.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

TH502 Theology Survey II A study of the person and work of Christ, predestination, conversion, justification, sanctification, and the work of the Holy Spirit; perseverance; the nature and mission of the church; sacraments; eschatology. Prerequisite: TH501. Also must complete OT500 and NT501 before or during this course.

TH/CH601 History and Theology of the African-American Church This course will explore the history of them African American Church, how we have known God through our social, political, economic, and religious context, review major themes in African Ameri-can theological reflection, and suggest areas for further reflection and praxis.

TH/WM602 Theology of Mission A biblical-theological introduction to missions. Topics include: the biblical basis for missions, the relationship of social action to evangelism, mission and development, and the relation of Christianity to other religions.

TH603 Contemporary Theology and Theologians This course examines contemporary theology through the work of several contemporary practitioners of theology. Of particular interest is the discipline of theology in the last 30 years.

TH606 Modern Theology From the end of the Reformation period, representative figures and movements are studied in order to better understand current orientations to theology and to the theological task. Focus is on the development of Protestant theology in the context of modern European thought and culture; including Protestant Orthodoxy, Deism, Protestant Liberalism, and Neo-Orthodoxy.

TH611 Recent Theories of the Atonement The various interpretations of the work of Christ are assessed in light of their historical context. While some attention is given to traditional models (ransom, satisfaction/substitution, moral example), the class focuses on recent proposals (nonviolent atonement, feminist critiques, Eastern Orthodox approaches, scape-goat theories etc.). TH613 Christology: Biblical/ Theological Perspectives This course examines the person and work of Jesus Christ across the breadth of the biblical canon as well as key episodes in the church historical development of Christological doctrine.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

TH/CH/SF619 Reformation Era Spirituality Spirituality represents the interface between ideas and life, between Christian theology and human existence. The new evangelical spirituality as developed in Luther's Wittenberg Reformation is at once Christological, eschatological and experiential. This course on Reformation Era Spirituality will highlight the distinctive contributions of the Reformers over against the background of the dominating medieval spirituality to which it is an answer and the context of ongoing competing spiritualities of the time. To do so, the student will read widely in primary resources from Luther, Calvin, the Anabaptists and St. Ignatius of Loyola.

TH/CH621 World Religions on the Silk Road Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair.

TH624 Theological Anthropology This course seeks to consider 1) What it means to be made in the image of God reviewing Scripture, theology, and church history. 2) The impact of the Fall-and Christ's redemption-upon God-intended human functioning. How does sin affect human thought and behavior? What difference does-or should-the Holy Spirit have upon the same? 3) A Scriptural understanding of what our theological identity ought to be as followers of Christ-and to determine ways we can solidify, encourage, and further develop that understanding. 4) Scientific and philosophical challenges-and contributions-to human identity and the constitution of the human person (dualistic vs. monistic positions) and weigh these against historic biblical views.

TH/WM626 Evangelical Perspectives on Roman Catholicism & E. Orthodoxy Analyzes essential theological distinctives, ecclesiastical structures, developments, and principal expressions of spirituality of Roman Catholic and Eastern Orthodox churches. Issues of church-state relations, ecumenical concerns, biblical and liturgical renewal, and missions and evangelism will be given special attention.

TH632 Sin and Evil This course will explore the problem of evil and the doctrine of sin, including the latter's subsidiary doctrines such as the fall and original sin, social sin, the bondage of the will, and the vices, especially the eight deadly thoughts. Course content will focus on systematic theology, but will include philosophy, biblical exegesis, and pastoral/spiritual theology. The course will also attend to modern critiques of these historic doctrines.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

TH/CH/EM635 Catechesis: History, Theology, and Practice This course explores the ministry of instructing people in the essentials of Christian faith and practice. Attention is given to the biblical bases for, and historic practice of, catechesis, with the aim of encouraging contemporary applications of this ministry.

TH/CO/SF635 Augustine's Theography & Heart Therapy: Confessions, Community & Health This course will present the perspective of Augustine of Hippo (354-430) on heart therapy and health as prescribed by his Confessions (397-401). His hopeful vision will offer contributions to: one's personal story, by retelling it in the light of grace; to distressed and wounded people around you, by learning to counsel others through an ancient tradition of theological therapy; to narcissistic and individualistic cultures, by placing a humble and prayerful theology as its antidote. TH637 Doctrine of Sin This course aims to introduce students to the historical development of the doctrine of sin and its contemporary variations in order to evaluate the biblical, theological, and pastoral ramifications of various perspectives on the doctrine.

TH/CH638 Early Eastern Christianity beyond Byzantium This course considers the theology and practice of the Eastern Christian churches outside the Greek-speaking world prior to the rise of Western colonialism and the Western missionary activity that accompanied it. Students give attention to the early Syrian, Persian, and East African churches, and to Eastern missions work in Asia and the Slavic world.

TH/CH639 Early Latin North African Christianity This course considers the theology and practice of the Christian Church in Latin-speaking North Africa up to the Arab conquest in the late seventh century. Students focus in particular on the central role of African writers in the development of Latin theology. Readings include selected writings by Tertullian, Cyprian of Carthage, Augustine of Hippo, and Fulgentius of Ruspe.

TH/CH641 Theology of Luther and Calvin The writings of Luther and Calvin shaped the earliest years of the Protestant Reformation and continue to inform and influence Protestantism to this day. Their writings continue to be sources of inspiration and deep thinking and a number of denominations draw direct influence from one or both of these men. The purpose of this course is

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

to engage the writings and thinking in the writings of Martin Luther and John Calvin to gain a better understanding of their theology. The course will focus on the primary readings of both authors and will train the students in how to compare and contrast competing ideas between two thinkers who seem to have similar ideas.

TH/CH642 John Calvin and the Swiss Reformation Life, work, and times of the consolidator of the Reformation: Geneva, Institutes, letters, theology, polity, pastoral issues.

TH/CH643 Martin Luther A seminar on the life, work, and times of Luther, pioneer of the Reformation. Attention will be given to his spiritual pilgrimage and to his development and influence as a leader, particularly through his debates and writings.

TH644 Readings in Thomas Aquinas The aim of this course is to guide students through a reading of sections from the Summa Theologiae and the Summa contra Gentiles of Thomas Aquinas. The focus is going to be on Aquinas' contributions to topics in philosophical theology such as the knowledge of God, the existence of God, metaphysical attributes, divine action in the world, natural law and providence, and Christology. The bulk of the class will be dedicated to guided discussions of select readings.

TH/PR646 Theology and Preaching This course explores the intersection of theology and preaching—the theological nature of preaching and pastoral ministry, how to preach doctrine, and preaching through difficult theological topics. Students will gain knowledge, skills, and experience in moving from the text to theology to the sermon. Prerequisite: PR601.

TH/ET648 Workplace Theology We map out the workplace, its challenges, opportunities, arenas, topics, and trends. Then we build a biblical theology of work in the perspective of Creation, Fall, Providence, Incarnation, Redemption, and Fulfillment. We identify the starting points, backgrounds, perceived callings, and desired goals of each member of our cohort.

TH/ET651 The Theological Ethics of Dietrich Bonhoeffer The ethics of Bonhoeffer, forged in the crucible of the rise of National Socialism, seeks to establish a new foundation for Christian ethics upon the reconciliation between God and humanity, which has already taken place in Jesus Christ. This course will lead students through a close reading of Bonhoeffer's Ethics as well as other pertinent literature to reveal the driving force of Bonhoeffer's approach to ethics.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

TH/MC/SE651 Proj. of Reconciliation: Intersectionality, Church & Culture Considers the intersectional areas that demand individual, institutional, and congregational reconciliation. Studies the historical, theological, cultural and sociological necessity for reconciliation.

TH652 Anglican Doctrine and Practice An overview of the Anglican Articles of Religion and how the Anglican Church uses Scripture, Tradition, and Reason to understand what it means to be a follower of Jesus Christ. The course will also explore how the Anglican understanding of theology continues to shape its polity and practice as it relates to governance, worship, and discipleship.

TH/ET653 Theological Ethics Central themes of theological ethics are approached by examining key scriptural texts from Paul on the Christian life, as viewed through the eyes of the early history of exegesis.

TH654 The Theology of Black Music: from Spirituals to Hip Hop Black Music is a complex system of musical expressions that flows from the African continent through the channels of an ever-increasing Diaspora. Within the United States, Black Music has spanned from the moans, groans, cries and guttural utterances of the first displaced Africans to expressions of justice, liberty and equality rich with social commentary, political critique, economic commentary and cultural expressions in all subsequent formulations. Often missing from the discussion and analysis is the revelation of a theology of Black Music. This course will explore the expressions of Black Music through a theological and biblical lens.

TH/CH655 Great Confessions of the Faith A seminar designed to read and analyze the major creeds and confessions of the Christian church.

TH/CH656 The Life and Theology of Dietrich Bonhoeffer As a pastor and member of the German resistance to Hitler, Bonhoeffer distinguished himself as one of the twentieth century's most important theologians. This course presents his life, writings, and theology through lecture and class presentations.

TH/CH657 Life and Theology of Karl Barth This course presents Barth's life and theology through lectures, readings and discussions in order to gain a critical understanding of the main themes in his theology and their relevance for our own understanding of Christian faith and ministry.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

TH658 Women and the Church This course examines the biblical, theological and cultural factors that contribute to questions of gender and theology. Analyzes important texts from the theological tradition that have sought to address the question of women in the church.

TH/WM659 Evangelical Theology and World Religions A study of five of the world's major religious traditions: Judaism, Islam, Hinduism, Buddhism, and Chinese religions. Instructional methods will include readings, lecture, discussion, and audiovisual media.

TH/CH/MC664 The History and Theology of Worship This course explores worship (individual and/or collective engagement with God) using biblical analysis and theological reflection.

TH/CH668 The Trinitarian and Christological Controversies A detailed look at the two greatest doctrinal controversies of the patristic period. This course focuses on reading and discussion of primary sources from the Trinitarian and Christological controversies, in an effort to discern both the depth of the Church's consensus on these crucial doctrines and the soteriology that lay beneath this consensus.

TH/CH669 Soteriology in Christian History This examination of the Christian Church of the last 20 centuries focuses on the various ways salvation has been expressed. Students are encouraged to learn from past expressions of soteriology in order to formulate a theology of salvation that is comprehensive, consistent, and powerful for preaching and ministry today.

TH673 Christianity and the Postmodern World The course will examine the relationship between Christianity and the "Postmodern" world across a wide swath of contemporary concerns, from the impact of globalization upon the missional identity of the church to the clash of religious cultures, from the abandonment of religious institutions to the revival of ancient liturgies.

TH/CH681 Christian Thought & Classical Philosophy This course examines the changing relations between Christian thought and Western philosophy up to the time of Kant in the late 1700s, in order to help students understand Christian thought more fully and express it more cogently in our world today.

TH/CH682 The Black Christian Experience: From Africa to the Americas This course explores the rich and often neglected historical and theological contributions of the Black Christian Experience to global Christianity. Merging biblical analysis, historical narratives and theological

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

reflection, this course will challenge students to define/ describe characteristics of Christianity found within the global African Diaspora that may establish shared distinctives of a global Black Christian Experience.

TH/MC692 Violence, Sexual Abuse, and the Gospel Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair.

TH724 Attributes of the Trinitarian God Discussion of the doctrine of divine attributes reconceived as an interpretation of Trinitarian action.

TH731 Sem in Pneumatology: Person & Work of the Holy Spirit This course will be an in-depth examination of the biblical, patristic, and modern understandings of the person and work of the Holy Spirit, with special focus on developments since the modern Pentecostal revival, and current attempts in constructive pneumatology. Attention will be given to the relationship between the doctrines of the Holy Spirit and Trinitarian theology, and to the implications of this study for ministry in the church and personal spirituality.

TH/CH765 Readings in Augustine A study of the life and work of the most influential theologian of the early Western church. Attention is focused on Augustine's historical context, including the philosophical and religious factors that shaped his early response to Christianity and colored his mature work.

TH/CH766 Readings in Orthodoxy and Gnosticism The interaction between orthodox Christianity and Gnosticism in the second and third centuries is of vital importance for at least two reasons. First, because various Gnostic ideas have continued to plague the Christian Church throughout its history and must still be addressed today.

Second, because contemporary scholarship radically re-construes the relation between Gnosticism and orthodoxy in the early centuries, in a way that casts doubt on the validity of orthodox Christianity. This course explores the orthodox/Gnostic interaction from both of these vantage points.

TH/CH767 Readings in Greek Patristic Theology The patristic period (from the end of the New Testament until about A.D. 800) was the formative period in the articulation of Christian doctrine.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

This reading course gives students both a general familiarity with patristic theology and the opportunity to explore the thought of several influential patristic theologians in some detail.

TH860 Research in Theology Independent study, any session by petition. See section on reading and research courses for information.

TH891 Theology Thesis - Part I Any session by petition. Intensive research into a topic leading to the production of a thesis under the guidance of a thesis director. By invitation of the Christian Thought Division. Prerequisite: Invitation from division.

TH892 Theology Thesis - Part II A continuation of TH891. Prerequisite: TH891.

TH/CH/WM901 Th.M. Research Seminar in Christian Thought The seminar is designed to instruct students in the area of research skills for Christian thought. The course will consist of lectures, reading, writing, and discussion. Required of all Th.M. students with a concentration in the Christian Thought Division (CH, TH, WM). Th.M. students only.

TH/NT/OT910 Theological Hermeneutics A discussion of main theories and concepts of hermeneutics, with particular attention being paid to the relationship between exegesis and systematic theology; contextual and missional issues. Offered at the Th.M. level.

TH/PR946 Theology and Preaching This course explores the intersection of theology and preaching—the theological nature of preaching and pastoral ministry, how to preach doctrine, and preaching through difficult theological topics. Students will gain knowledge, skills, and experience in moving from the text to theology to the sermon. Prerequisite: PR601 or Th.M.

TH991 ThM Thesis - Part I Any session by petition. Intensive research into a topic leading to the production of a thesis under the guidance of a thesis director. By invitation of the Christian Thought Division. Prerequisites: CH/TH/WM901 and invitation from division.

TH992 ThM Thesis - Part II A continuation of TH991. Prerequisite: TH991.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

World Missions (Division of Christian Thought)

WM601 The World Mission of the Church Recognizing the responsibility of all Christians to complete Christ's commission, this course gives an overview of the strategic and historical progress of worldwide missions today.

The ways in which a local congregation can fulfill its worldwide biblical mandate are also considered.

WM/TH602 Theology of Mission A biblical-theological introduction to missions. Topics include: the biblical basis for missions, the relationship of social action to evangelism, mission and development, and the relation of Christianity to other religions.

WM/CH603 History of Missions This course provides an overview of the historical progress of the Christian missions from its inception to the present. It seeks to explore Christian missions from historical and missiological perspectives, and identify the different mission patterns or paradigms characteristic of different eras and regions.

WM/CH610 The Churches in the Global South: Past and Present The conventional approach to the global spread of Christianity is quite Euro-centric. In this course, after surveying the global outreach and existence of churches in the ancient and medieval times, we will focus on modern worldwide missionary movement since the 19th Century and rise of the churches in the global south and east in the 20th Century. We will examine the characteristics of the rising churches in Asia, Africa and Latin America, and evaluate their profound implications and impacts on the global Christian community, and reflect on how we in the West respond and relate to these churches in the non-western world.

WM/CL615 Cross-Cultural Leadership Different leaders have different skill sets and competencies. This individual-level variance is coupled with external factors: cultural & social environments present different demands, limits, rights, and processes. Though all leaders have unique gifts, they must be able to work within the boundaries of such variants. The focus of this course is the study of leadership, specifically learning how to lead in cross cultural contexts. The course is designed to help students reflect deeply on their cultural values, evaluate one's leadership focus, and analyze (with peers) their own leadership failures.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

WM619 Global Pentecostalism The course is an overview of global Pentecostalism and will address the dynamics that led to the rise of the Pentecostal movement around the world. The lenses through which this course will be examined include the history, sociology, theology, and globalization of Pentecostalism.

WM624 Christian Faith in the World of Violence & Clashing Civs This interdisciplinary course will examine the role of Christian missions in situations of conflict and violence, with particular attention paid to the recent unexpected renaissance of religion(s) and their increasing influence on geo-political developments and international relations. Models of holistic missionary practice, transformative engagement of the church(es), faith-based diplomacy and the ministry of reconciliation will be proposed and examined.

WM/TH626 Evangelical Perspectives on Roman Catholicism & E. Orthodoxy Analyzes essential theological distinctives, ecclesiastical structures, developments, and principal expressions of spirituality of Roman Catholic and Eastern Orthodox churches. Issues of church-state relations, ecumenical concerns, biblical and liturgical renewal, and missions and evangelism will be given special attention.

WM628 Christian Approaches to Islam The goal of this course is the development of biblical strategies for communicating the Gospel with Muslims, both in light of historical contexts and contemporary strategies. Major topics include contextualization, church-planting, Islamic theology, various methods and strategies of approaches to Muslims, apologetics, and principles of witness.

WM/AP629 Radical Islam and Christian Responses This course will study the genesis of Radical Islam from the early years of the Islamic community to the present. We will study the historical, theological and political contexts within which Radical Islamic movements have arisen. The role of the state, Islamic law, political ideology, and methods of interpretation will be investigated. This course will ask the question whether Radical Islam can function peacefully in modern, global, civil society. To give us a view from other Muslim perspectives we will also study contemporary hermeneutic theories of liberal Muslim scholars. This should help us to understand how Radical Islamic movements have constructed their interpretations of Islam. Developing an accurate

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

understanding of Radical Islam's theology and political ideology will be essential for developing an effective, thoughtful and biblical response to Muslims in the coming years.

WM/MC638 Spiritual Power in Mission and Ministry Course topics will include: ministry in the Kingdom of God, western worldviews and spiritual power, power encounters, deliverance, spiritual warfare, inner healing, the relationship between power, allegiance and truth encounters, and the beliefs and practices of Folk Religionists.

WM/AP647 Introduction to Islam An introduction to the Islamic faith with a special emphasis on communicating the gospel to Muslims who comprise over 1 billion adherents and is the second largest world religion. The whole of the Qu'ran is read in English.

WM648 Cross-Cultural Church Planting This course presents a comprehensive foundation for starting new churches among people of other cultures. Roughly 2 billion people in our world today live in 5,235 people groups where the church is not yet established. Pioneer church planting among these unreached people groups remains an urgent task and formidable challenge. The task of planting churches in cross-cultural settings involves a wide array of topics, skills, and challenges. This course will examine and evaluate contemporary models of church and CP methodologies in order to identify biblical and missiological principles and practices.

WM/AP649 Introduction to Hinduism & Buddhism An overview of the Hindu and Buddhist traditions. We will examine their histories, beliefs, rites, and impacts upon various cultures and societies in Asia and other parts of the world. Efforts will be made to develop a Christian response to the traditions and appropriate missiological thinking and strategies. Not for students who have taken AP/WM645 or AP/WM646.

WM/CH653 Islamic-Christian Relations through the Ages Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair.

WM/EM657 Educational Ministry in Cultural Perspective This course explores Educational Ministry in light of the cultural dimensions of life. Students will be challenged to consider how the cultural realities of both the teacher and the learner affect the various aspects of teaching decisions and strategies.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

WM/CH658 History of Christianity in Asia Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair.

WM/TH659 Evangelical Theology and World Religions A study of five of the world's major religious traditions: Judaism, Islam, Hinduism, Buddhism, and Chinese religions. Instructional methods will include readings, lecture, discussion, and audiovisual media.

WM661 Missions and the Local Church Covers the position, roles, and responsibilities of the local church with respect to the fulfillment of the Great Commission. Special attention given to the concept of the local church as the primary, God-ordained organism for the recruitment, training and sending of missionaries.

WM662 NGOs and Development in Mission The course is an overview of the role of nongovernmental agencies

(NGOs) and development in Christian mission. It covers biblical, theological, historical, and current perspectives on the global trend toward integration of development and mission. The course also looks at the role of globalization in the spread of the gospel. It examines plans made by Christians to alleviate social problems.

WM671 Holistic Mission Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair.

WM/CH672 Women in World Christianity This course introduces students to a global history of women's involvement in the church and makes the case for the centrality of women's contributions to global Christianity, both past and present.

WM684 Trends in Global Christianity The course is an overview of trends in global Christianity and Christian mission over the past 120 years. The recent history of world Christianity is viewed through multiple methodological lenses including biblical studies, theology, history, and social science. It takes a comprehensive view of world Christianity in that it covers each continent (Asia, Africa, Latin America, North America, Europe, Oceania) with lectures comparing the global context of 1900 and 2020, including each of the major Christian traditions (Catholics, Protestants, Orthodox, Independents), plus trends in world religions.

WM/EM/YM689 Theological Issues and Models of Urban Youth Ministry: U.S. This overview stresses the inner-city context, how poverty and racism produce street culture and a code of the

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

streets. Emphasis on topical and community research, a relevant and holistic collaborative approach.

WM721 Overseas Missions Practicum Students travel to an area of evangelistic need and engage in at least six weeks of evangelistic ministry and service. Mentored Ministry credit also available through OMP and course can apply as both WM course credit and Mentored Ministry credit.

WM722 Applied Anthropology for Missions In this course students consider the implications of cultural anthropology for practical problems in missions. Students read case studies, participate in discussions which emphasize the application of insights from anthropology to missions contexts.

WM725 The Theology of Islam & Implications for Ministry to Muslims This course is a comprehensive introduction to the theology of Islam. Focus will be on both the theological worldview of Muslims in their own context as well as what that context tells them about Christianity, with a view to construct a biblical strategy for Christian ministry to Muslims.

WM740 Contemporary Missiology Using primarily a seminar format, this course deals with major issues in missiological discussions during late 20th Century and early 21st Century. Topics include: Missio Dei, missional church, contextualization, the rise of world Christianity, religious pluralism, the new challenges of evangelism (immigration, urbanization, unreached people groups, and "insider movement"). Must complete WM601, TH/WM602, or CH/WM603 before or during this course.

WM/AP747 Critical Issues in the Christian Mission to Muslims This course explores some of the major contemporary issues confronting those in ministry to Muslims as well as the church in the West. Some of the topics covered in this course are apocalyptic views of history in Islam and Christianity, the theological nature of Islam, Islam in the West, the relationship between Islam and the State, the influence of Radical Islam, Contextualization and Insider Movements, the status and role of women in contemporary Islamic societies, movements within Islam, theological misunderstandings, approaches to Muslims, dialogue between civilizations, and how modern Islamic societies are responding to secularization and pluralism.

WM760 Reading in World Missions Independent study, any session by petition. See section on reading and research courses for information.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

WM860 Research in World Missions Independent study, any session by petition. See section on reading and research courses for information.

WM/CH/TH901 Th.M. Research Seminar in Christian Thought The seminar is designed to instruct students in the area of research skills for Christian thought. The course will consist of lectures, reading, writing, and discussion. Required of all Th.M. students with a concentration in the Christian Thought Division (CH, TH, WM). Th.M. students only.

WM960 Research in World Missions Th.M.-level Independent study, any session by petition. See section on reading and research courses for information.

WM991 ThM Thesis - Part I Any session by petition. Intensive research into a topic leading to the production of a thesis under the guidance of a thesis director. By invitation of the Christian Thought Division. Prerequisites: CH/TH/WM901 and invitation from division.

WM992 ThM Thesis - Part II A continuation of WM991. Prerequisite: WM991.

Youth Ministry (Division of Practical Theology)

YM/EM/EV591 Theology and Principles of Dynamic Youth Ministry Beginning with a look at the ministry of Jesus and your own life, this course presents an overview of youth ministries today and then works though necessary ministry support bases, community research and networking, contacting youth and families, activities, counseling, Gospel-preaching, discipleship formation, recruiting volunteers and sustaining ministries.

YM/EM/WM689 Theological Issues and Models of Urban Youth Ministry: U.S. This overview stresses the inner-city context, how poverty and racism produce street culture and a code of the streets. Emphasis on topical and community research, a relevant and holistic collaborative approach.

YM695 Effective Relationships, Healing and Growth in Youth Ministry Course description not available. Please contact Division Chair.

YM720 Project Course in Youth Ministry Independent study, any session by petition. See section on project courses for information.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

YM/CO/PC725 Counseling the Adolescent A review of the basic issues in adolescent development with a particular focus on understanding the adolescent in the family context. Development of introductory skills in the counseling of adolescents and their families.

YM760 Reading in Youth Ministry Independent study, any session by petition. See section on reading and research courses for information.

Doctor of Ministry Residency Courses

The Arts, Ministry, and Mission Track

AM 1011: Biblical Foundations for the Arts, Ministry, and Mission An in-depth exploration of the role of the arts within the biblical narrative, informed by biblical theology. Examination of how the arts have been utilized historically in personal devotions, group worship, and the broader life of the church. Includes practical opportunities for incorporating the arts into various aspects of ministry and personal spiritual practices.

AM1012: Theological Framework for the Arts, Ministry, and Mission Develop a theological framework for the arts as it relates to the theology of creation, creativity, beauty, the triune God, Christ, and the incarnation, the Holy Spirit, and the church which will provide a comprehensive understanding of their theological significance.

AM1020: Project I Following the first residency, students will undertake a project that integrates the residency coursework with their ministry setting. The residency mentors will provide guidance on content, required components and formatting. Project proposals must be submitted during the residency and are to be conducted over the four to six months after the residency. The final project report must be submitted before the start of the next residency.

AM1023: Historical Developments in the Arts, Ministry, and Mission Exploration of vignettes from church history and diverse context to illustrate the tensions and integrations between the arts, ministry, and mission, providing a broad understanding of their interplay. Includes the examination of the strengths and weaknesses of the evangelical tradition concerning the arts' role in Christian life, ministry, and mission, fostering a critical appreciation of this tradition.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

AM1024: The Formational Role of the Arts in Ministry, and Mission Develop a framework for the formational role of the arts in ministry and mission, focusing on dispositional, intellectual, emotional, habitual, social, and doxological aspects of Christian formation. This residency includes site visits and on-location art experiences.

AM1030: Project II Following the second residency, students will undertake a project that integrates the residency coursework with their ministry setting. The residency mentors will provide guidance on content, required components and formatting. Project proposals must be submitted during the residency and are to be conducted over the four to six months after the residency. The final project report must be submitted before the start of the next residency.

AM1035: Ministry and the Arts Explores the multifaceted integration of the arts within church ministry, both locally and globally. Students will engage with diverse artistic practices and their applications in various ministry contexts, enhancing their ability to incorporate the arts into their own ministerial work.

AM1036: Mission and the Arts Explore ways in which the arts are integrated within holistic mission in local and global contexts. Site visits and art experiences on-location will provide students with practical insights into regional artistic expressions and their role in mission work.

AM1040: Thesis-Project The writing of the thesis-project is the culmination of the participant's work in the program. The thesis-project should demonstrate competent doctoral-level integration of the participant's learning in the program with his/her ministry context. It is expected that the thesis-project will make significant contribution to that field of study. Bible Translation Track BT1011: Developments in Biblical Studies and Hermeneutics I Consideration of the original socio-cultural and historical contexts of biblical texts and the issues they raise for the interpretation

and translation of those texts.

Consideration of developments in hermeneutics, ethics, and methods of the interpretation of Scripture and their implications for Bible translation

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

BT1012: Developments in Biblical Studies and Hermeneutics II Consideration of the global contexts of the Church and the implications for the interpretation and translation of the biblical texts.

BT1020: Project I The biblical-theological foundations for Bible translation in general or a particular aspect of Bible translation that may become the focus of your final thesis-project. This could inform chapter 2 of the final thesis-project.

BT1023: Developments in Translation Studies Consideration of a broad range of issues raised by Translation Studies and theories of Bible translation. We will arrive in Misano, Italy, by end of day on the Monday of the week before the Nida School of Bible Translation and will meet Tuesday-Friday of that week to discuss the readings and prepare for the Nida School

BT1024: Developments in Bible Translation Theory and Practice On the second week we will attend the Nida School of Bible Translation from Monday to Friday and then spend most of Saturday debriefing the experience in the Nida School before departing.

BT1030: Project II A literature review on a topic (or topics) central to the anticipated focus of your final thesis project. While dedicated to the topic or topics of your primary concern or interest, the literature review should also include any of the assigned readings that would be relevant to the topic (if there are any). This may have the potential to be adapted for the second chapter of your final thesis-project.

BT1035: Translation, Team Building, and Conflict Resolution Consideration of leadership skills necessary for developing, maintaining and restoring healthy, functioning teams, including team building and conflict resolution. Consideration of the role of Ethics in Bible translation programs. BT1036: Translation, Small Group Training and Integration Consideration of the integration of disciplines required for effective translation consulting work including the integration of biblical studies, linguistics, translation studies and leadership skills. Presentations of thesis project topics BT1040: Thesis-Project The writing of the thesis-project is the culmination of the participant's work in the program. The thesis-project should demonstrate competent doctoral-level integration of the participant's learning in the program with his/her ministry context. It is expected that the thesis-project will make significant contribution to that field of study.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

Ministry to Emerging Generations Track

EG1011 Biblical/Theological Foundations for Ministry to the Emerging Generations The twoweek residency will focus on foundational issues related to ministry to the full scope of the emerging generations, including children, youth, and university students/young adults. Week one will focus on the biblical/theological foundations.

EG1012: Understanding Developmental Dynamics of the Emerging Generations The two-week residency will focus on foundational issues related to ministry to the full scope of the emerging generations, including children, youth, and university students/young adults. Week two will focus on the developmental factors that must be considered as they relate to the ministry of the church in the spiritual formation of the emerging generations.

EG1020: Project I Following the first residency, students will undertake a project that integrates the residency coursework with their ministry setting. The residency mentors will provide guidance on content, required components and formatting. Project proposals must be submitted during the residency, and are to be conducted over the four to six months after the residency. The final project report must be submitted before the start of the next residency.

EG1023: Understanding and Developing a Christian Theology of Culture The two-week residency will focus on the cultural context of ministry to the emerging generations including children, youth, and college students/young adults. Week one will focus on developing a Christian theology of culture, including examination of the definitions of culture and the functions of culture. Cross-cultural mission principle and theory, contextualization, and multicultural issues will be explored. EG1024: Principles and Praxis of Cultural Exegesis The two-week residency will focus on the cultural context of ministry to the emerging generations including children, youth, and college students/young adults. Week two will focus on the role culture plays in shaping the worldviews, experiences and lives of the emerging generations. In addition, you will learn principles of cultural exegesis and analysis.

EG1030: Project II Following the second residency, students will undertake a project that integrates the residency coursework with their ministry setting. The residency mentors will provide guidance on content, required components and formatting. Project proposals must be submitted

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

during the residency and are to be conducted over the four to six months after the residency. The final project report must be submitted before the start of the next residency.

EG1035: Principles and Praxis of Evangelism with Emerging Generations The two-week residency will focus on the theory, theology, and practice of evangelism and discipleship in ministry to the emerging generations including children, youth, and college students/young adults. Week one will focus on developing a practical theology of evangelism and conversion, including examination of conversion.

EG1036: Principles and Praxis of Discipleship with Emerging Generations The two-week residency will focus on the theory, theology, and practice of evangelism and discipleship in ministry to the emerging generations including children, youth, and college students/young adults. Week two will focus on the theory, theology, and practice of discipleship in ministry to the emerging generations including children, youth, and college students/young adults. Students will work to develop practical approaches to discipleship and Christian nurture with an emphasis on the integration/application of faith to current cultural issues.

EG1040: Thesis-Project The writing of the thesis-project is the culmination of the participant's work in the program. The thesis-project should demonstrate competent doctoral-level integration of the participant's learning in the program with his/her ministry context. It is expected that the thesis-project will make significant contribution to that field of study.

Missions, Development, and Leadership in the Global Context Track

GC1011: Biblical & Theological Foundations of Mission and Development Consideration of the basic flow of the primary themes of the Bible –Creation, Fall, Redemption, Restoration, & Consummation—as they inform the nature of mission, development, and leadership. Consideration of the ministry of Jesus as a model of an unfolding lifestyle culminating in the Great Commission. Consideration of Pentecost, which overflows in the rapidly expanding apostolic church as missionary models. Consideration of perspectives of different cultures on biblical exegesis as Christianity continues its demographic move to the Global South.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

GC1012: History of Mission and Development Consideration of models in the early & medieval church (e.g. monasticism, Celtic evangelism). Consideration of early modern models (e.g. Jesuit accommodation, Moravian missions). Consideration of LaTourette's Great Century & missionary outreach. Consideration of Lausanne Movement & Atlas of Global Christianity. Consideration of the shift in the center of gravity of global Christianity. Student presentations on key figures based on readings. Introduction to research & project methodology.

GC1020: Project I Following the first residency, students will undertake a project that integrates the residency coursework with their ministry setting. The residency mentors will provide guidance on content, required components and formatting. Project proposals must be submitted during the residency and are to be conducted over the four to six months after the residency. The final project report must be submitted before the start of the next residency.

GC1023: Global Needs & Development Strategies Consideration of the status of Global Development & World Christian Trends. Student-led presentations & evaluations of particular issues based upon their research using the World Christian Data Base & the Atlas of Global Christianity & related case studies. Consideration of a variety of small group approaches to human need & development (e.g. NGOs, orphanages, microfinance). Student-led presentations & evaluations of particular approaches & related case studies.

GC1024: Non-Governmental Organizations in Transnational Contexts Consideration of multiple evangelistic and development opportunities within & in partnership with congregations & NGOs according to generation, interests, level of participation, etc. Consideration of the church growth & social justice movements & their critics. Consideration of a variety of approaches to mission and development. Student-led presentations & evaluations of particular approaches & related case studies. Site visits to NGOs & mission agencies in the Chiang Mai area.

GC1030: Project II Following the second residency, students will undertake a project that integrates the residency coursework with their ministry setting. The residency mentors will provide guidance on content, required components and formatting. Project proposals must be submitted during the residency and are to be conducted over the four to six months after the residency. The final project report must be submitted before the start of the next residency.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

GC1035: Global Leadership Consideration of a variety of approaches to global leadership in mission. Student-led presentation & evaluations of particular approaches & related case studies. Consideration of a variety of approaches to global leadership in NGOs. Student-led presentations & evaluations of particular approaches & related case studies.

GC1036: Regional & National Outreach/International & Cross-Cultural Outreach Consideration of a variety of approaches to broader-scope outreach. Student-led presentations & evaluations of particular approaches & related case studies. Consideration of a variety of approaches to crosscultural evangelism & church planting and to connecting vision & action related to world evangelization to outreach strategies. Student-led presentations & evaluations of particular approaches & related case studies. Consideration of thesis-project methodologies and student presentations of rough drafts of thesis-project proposals.

GC1040: Thesis-Project The writing of the thesis-project is the culmination of the participant's work in the program. The thesis-project should demonstrate competent doctoral-level integration of the participant's learning in the program with his/her ministry context. It is expected that the thesis-project will make significant contribution to that field of study.

Leadership in a Changing Church Context Track

LC1011: Theology and Practice of Leadership – I Consideration of the basic flow of the primary themes of the Bible –Creation, Fall, Redemption, Restoration, & Consummation—as they inform the idea of a congregational leader. Multiple reflections upon how God has shaped you as leader for ministry. Review of the way congregation and culture interact around the idea of leadership.

LC1012: The Nature of the Changing Church Context –I Study of the changing shape of congregations – Christendom, Attractional, Missional. Review of how leadership has functioned in each paradigm. Reflection upon Family Systems as it relates to congregations. Analysis of the Life Cycle of a congregation and leadership at each point.

LC1020: Project II This project paper should address your understanding of the biblical norms about the nature of the leadership, especially in dialogue with various aspects of the ministry that may require leadership with your ministry. Usually, some kind of project in leadership is

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

performed in the congregation to a group which you are studying to see if they understand what you were teaching or doing in leadership. The paper could inform chapters 1 & 2 of the thesis-project and can take any form, but somehow it must answer questions about the aim and focus of congregational leadership.

LC1030: Project 2 II This project paper should address your understanding of the biblical norms about the nature of the leadership, especially in dialogue with various aspects of the ministry that may require leadership with your ministry. Usually, some kind of project in leadership is performed in the congregation to a group which you are studying to see if they understand what you were teaching or doing in leadership. The paper could inform chapters 1 & 2 of the thesis-project and can take any form, but somehow it must answer questions about the aim and focus of congregational leadership.

LC1040: Thesis-Project The writing of the thesis-project is the culmination of the participant's work in the program. The thesis-project should demonstrate competent doctoral-level integration of the participant's learning in the program with his/her ministry context. It is expected that the thesis-project will make significant contribution to that field of study.

Outreach and Discipleship Track

OD1011: Biblical & Theological Foundations of Evangelism, Discipleship, & Revival Consideration of the basic flow of the primary themes of the Bible –Creation, Fall, Redemption, Restoration, & Consummation—as they inform the nature of evangelism, discipleship, & revival. Consideration of the ministry of Jesus as a model of an unfolding lifestyle culminating in the Great Commission. Consideration of Pentecost, which overflows in the rapidly expanding apostolic church as personal & congregational models. Consideration of key doctrines such as regeneration, conversion, justification, sanctification, and the Holy Spirit.

OD1012: History of Evangelism, Discipleship, & Revival Consideration of models in the early & medieval church (e.g. catechesis, monasticism, Celtic evangelism). Consideration of Reformation

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

& Puritan models (e.g. Luther & crisis of faith, Bunyan & growth in faith: Pilgrim's Progress). Consideration of Great Awakenings & later revivals.

Student presentations on key figures based on readings in Billy Graham Center Collection of Classics, e.g. Jonathan Edwards, John Wesley, Charles G. Finney. Introduction to research & project methodology OD1020: Project I Following the first residency, students will undertake a project that integrates the residency coursework with their ministry setting. The residency mentors will provide guidance on content, required components and formatting. Project proposals must be submitted during the residency and are to be conducted over the four to six months after the residency. The final project report must be submitted before the start of the next residency.

OD1023: Personal & Small Group Evangelism Consideration of a variety of individual approaches to faith sharing (e.g. testimony, booklets, 1-on-1 Bible study): personal appropriation and training of others. Consideration of a variety of small group approaches to faith sharing (e.g. Bible studies, support groups, video discussions): personal appropriation and training of others.

OD1024: Congregational Outreach Consideration of multiple evangelistic opportunities within a congregation according to generation, interests, level of participation, new visitors welcome & follow up, new members' classes, etc. Consideration of the church growth & mega-church movements & their critics. Consideration of a variety of approaches to congregational outreach (e.g. Alpha, Evangelism Explosion, Purpose Driven, social ministries, "seeker sensitive" worship). OD1030: Project II Following the second residency, students will undertake a project that integrates the residency coursework with their ministry setting. The residency mentors will provide guidance on content, required components and formatting. Project proposals must be submitted during the residency and are to be conducted over the four to six months after the residency. The final project report must be submitted before the start of the next residency.

OD1035: Congregational Discipleship & Revival Consideration of a variety of approaches to congregational discipleship. Consideration of a variety of approaches to congregational prayer for revival (e.g. Lighthouse of Prayer, concerts of prayer, prayer walks, prayer mountains).

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

OD1036: Regional & National Outreach International & Cross-Cultural Outreach Consideration of a variety of approaches to broader-scope outreach (e.g. city-wide/regional "crusade," media events, saturation strategies [African Enterprise], church planting strategies). Consideration of a variety of approaches to cross-cultural evangelism & church planting and to connecting vision & action related to world evangelization to personal & congregational outreach strategies. Consideration of thesis-project methodologies and student presentations of rough drafts of thesis-project proposals.

OD1040: Thesis-Project The writing of the thesis-project is the culmination of the participant's work in the program. The thesis-project should demonstrate competent doctoral-level integration of the participant's learning in the program with his/her ministry context. It is expected that the thesis-project will make significant contribution to that field of study.

Pastoral Theology in Practice / Liderazgo Pastoral Track

PS1011: Deepening the Call I This two-week residency will focus on the person of the pastor with a special focus on "deepening the call," which relates to all the work of being a pastor in fulfilling one's call to ministry. Issues such as call to ministry, pastoral identity, family, collegiality, accountability, and boundary setting will be discussed. How conflict is handled in ministry, and how stress is managed in one's life will also be explored along with how pastors understand and control their sexual behavior in ministry. Heavy emphasis will be on the pastor's development and nurture of his/her spiritual life. The course is intended to help pastors grow as persons who lead others in Christian and spiritual maturity. A theologically informed understanding of oneself, a renewed sense of calling, knowledge of Biblical teaching about spiritual maturity, and commitment to integrity in ministry are envisioned as outcomes of the residency.

PS1012: Deepening the Call II Heavy emphasis will be on the pastor's development and nurture of his/her spiritual life. The course is intended to help pastors grow as persons who lead others in Christian and spiritual maturity. A theologically informed understanding of oneself, a renewed sense of calling, knowledge of Biblical teaching about spiritual maturity, and commitment to integrity in ministry are envisioned as outcomes of the residency.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

PS1020: Project I Following the first residency, students will undertake a project that integrates the residency coursework with their ministry setting. The residency mentors will provide guidance on content, required components and formatting. Project proposals must be submitted during the residency and are to be conducted over the four to six months after the residency. The final project report must be submitted before the start of the next residency.

PS1023: The Pastor as Caregiver The course deals with the primary tasks of extending pastoral care to individuals in need in the church. The focus will be on selected issues commonly encountered in pastoral care and counseling. Practical skills in pastoral counseling will be considered and integrated with biblical and theological considerations. A case study approach to pastoral counseling will be utilized throughout the residency.

PS1024: The Pastor as Counselor Practical skills in pastoral counseling will be considered and integrated with biblical and theological considerations. A case study approach to pastoral counseling will be utilized throughout the residency.

PS1030: Project II Following the second residency, students will undertake a project that integrates the residency coursework with their ministry setting. The residency mentors will provide guidance on content, required components and formatting. Project proposals must be submitted during the residency and are to be conducted over the four to six months after the residency. The final project report must be submitted before the start of the next residency.

PS1035: The Pastor as Preacher: The Formation of the Biblical Sermon The course will focus on enhancing preaching skills by rigorous hermeneutic examination of various Biblical texts and genres in group discussions and by looking at a specific preaching style that gets at the "big idea" of a particular text and how one can preach without use of notes.

PS1036: The Pastor as Preacher: Biblical Genres & the Preaching Task A variety of preaching styles (e.g., first person narrative) will be explored. Each student will be assigned a specific text from those listed below to preach from during the residency and be evaluated in a supportive context by students in the class and the instructors.

PS1040: Thesis-Project The writing of the thesis-project is the culmination of the participant's work in the program. The thesis-project should demonstrate competent doctoral-level integration

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

of the participant's learning in the program with his/her ministry context. It is expected that the thesis-project will make significant contribution to that field of study.

Redemptive Leadership Track

RL1011: The Development of the Redemptive Leader This two-week residency will concentrate on the nature of the Christian leader as well as uncovering the theological, sociological and developmental foundations in becoming a redemptive leader. Special attention will be given to the developmental processes that work in the forming of a redemptive leader as well as the barriers and obstacles that can inhibit such development. The person and character of the leader are paramount and foundational to developing a team and establishing a redemptive climate in which growth is facilitated. It is expected that students will develop both intellectually and affectively as they are exposed to information that will hopefully buttress their recognition of Jesus working in them before he can work through them and the processes which facilitate such growth.

RL1012: Strategies for Effective Self-Care and Organizational Health Some of the key topics covered will be: the biblical basis of servant leadership and its implications; the Call to ministry; the spiritual formation and personality and character formation of the leader; leadership and conflict management styles; personal and developmental barriers to growth; self-care in the midst of conflicting demands in ministry as well as the development of a care team for sustained growth and encouragement in ministry. Other topics will be covered in relationship to these pertinent topics. A well-defined understanding of becoming a redemptive leader based on a solid self-understanding and knowledge of theological, developmental and sociological principles pertaining to redemptive leadership will hopefully result in hope, encouragement and renewal of vision in regard to being an effective leader in the Kingdom.

RL1020: Project II Following the first residency, students will undertake a project that integrates the residency coursework with their ministry setting. The residency mentors will provide guidance on content, required components and formatting. Project proposals must be submitted during the residency and are to be conducted over the four to six months after the residency. The final project report must be submitted before the start of the next residency.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

RL1023: Foundations and Development of Teams & RL1024: Strategies for Healthy Team and Organizational Development This two-week residency will concentrate on the nature of developing and leading effective multi-ethnic teams in the context of a healthy organizational culture. Time will be spent on uncovering the theological, sociological and developmental foundations in developing a healthy culture in the organization as well as the critical issues in developing a team. Special attention will be given to the stages and processes that work in forming of a team and developing such a culture as well the barriers and obstacles that can inhibit such development. Not only is the person and character of the leader paramount and foundational to developing a team and establishing a redemptive climate in which growth is facilitated but the individuals chosen, and their personal development is critical as well.

RL1030: Project II Following the second residency, students will undertake a project that integrates the residency coursework with their ministry setting. The residency mentors will provide guidance on content, required components and formatting. Project proposals must be submitted during the residency and are to be conducted over the four to six months after the residency. The final project report must be submitted before the start of the next residency.

RL1035: Developing a Theology of the Church from a Redemptive Perspective and RL1036: Local Church Models and Strategies for Implementation of the Multi-ethnic Model This two-week residency will concentrate on specific congregations that have been intentional in their implementation of their philosophy of the purpose of the church, leadership development, church culture and church growth. Models that specifically adhere to a Multiethnic model as taught in class will be observed.

RL1040: The writing of the thesis-project is the culmination of the participant's work in the program. The thesis project should demonstrate competent doctoral-level integration of the participant's learning in the program with his/her ministry context. It is expected that the thesis-project will make significant contribution to that field of study.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

Spiritual Formation for Ministry Leaders Track

SF1011: Word I Introduction and overview of three major topics of spiritual formation: Scripture, Prayer and Reflection. Maintaining a spiritual journal and crafting a spiritual autobiography. Contemplative Bible Reading: use of Scripture for spiritual nourishment and renewal (introduction of Lectio Divina and other methods of reflection on Scripture). Understanding and defining a Theology of the Word. Submission and Obedience to the Word: juxtaposition of God-centeredness vs. self-absorption (narcissism).

SF1012: Word II The Word: Received (preached, taught, studied), Reflected upon prayerfully and serving as catalyst for Renewal. Theology, history, and practice of small groups (for biblical reflection and spiritual transformation). Spiritual theology: combining heart and mind in an ever-deepening understanding of the praxis of theology in spiritual formation. Word and Sacrament: how corporate worship and personal worship come together in holistic spiritual formation within the community/congregation. Role of Sacred Readings to supplement/illuminate the Word, Introduction of Spiritual Classics.

SF1020: Project I Focus on a particular problem/issue/question/topic related to spiritual formation that you may want to write your thesis-project about. Write a 20–30-page paper (double-spaced, using appropriate Turabian academic style –footnotes, bibliography, etc.) exploring a theology and philosophy of spiritual formation (a "spiritual theology") for leaders, teams and individuals within local church or parachurch ministry settings that could provide a Biblical/theological foundation and framework related to your focus.

SF1023: Prayer I Focus upon the life and ministry of Benedict. Understanding and experiencing the value of listening prayer (silence, solitude, submission, and surrender). Developing a theology of prayer and its place in our lives. Studying what the mystics taught on prayer. Importance of sacred space and time set apart for prayer. Toward a practical lifestyle of Sabbath rest. Significant role of confession, forgiveness and release as catalyst for revival.

SF1024: Prayer II Focus upon the life and ministry of Francis. Theology of Triune God: Father, Son and Spirit and its impact on how we pray and to Whom. Study of Richard Foster's book on prayer (covering 21 types of prayers). Establishing ministries of prayer in local church and

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

parachurch settings. Prioritizing prayer as a central activity of congregational life. Learning how to identify and overcome barriers/obstacles to prayer. Place of confession in modern evangelical church (worship and relationships: conflict, forgiveness and reconciliation).

SF1030: Project 2 II Focus on a particular problem/issue/question/topic related to spiritual formation that you may want to write your thesis-project about. Complete a systematic analysis (20-30 pp.) to note and to reflect upon particular themes related to problems, challenges, opportunities, or possibilities for growing in spiritual formation individually and in your ministry community, which could inform chapter 1 of the final thesis-project. You may want to review your spiritual journal to notice sustained issues and compare your reflections with classic historical spiritual journals. Special attention should be given to the spiritual and social dynamics of your overall setting and to developing an individual and corporate prayer/action plan.

SF1035: Reflection I Writing, refining and fulfilling a Rule of Life; The art and practice of reflective journaling; Identifying one's "Dark Night of the Soul"; Godly self-examination, self-awareness/understanding and self-esteem; The reflective disciplines of detachment and attachment; Learning how to listen for God's voice in the context of soul care.

SF1036: Reflection II The power of the story in enhancing worship and relationships; strategic plan for developing spiritual formation in a local church; Importance of a group discernment process; Developing spiritual friendships within the community of faith; Developing healthy ministry teams; Training in the art and practice of spiritual direction.

SF1040: Thesis-Project The writing of the thesis-project is the culmination of the participant's work in the program. The thesis-project should demonstrate competent doctoral-level integration of the participant's learning in the program with his/her ministry context. It is expected that the thesis-project will make significant contribution to that field of study.

Preaching: From the Study to the Pulpit Track

SP1011: In the Study I and SP1012: In the Study II The first residency focuses on study, but it never loses sight of the fact that the end of our studying is preaching and teaching. The residency mentors will cover exegesis. Students will review and expand their exegetical skills not only by listening to lectures, but also by working through various passages of Scripture. Students will teach

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

a passage of Scripture demonstrating its main idea and how the parts relate to that main idea. Students will also comprehend how literary/rhetorical analysis augments grammatical-historical exegesis.

SP1020: Project I Following the first residency, students will undertake a project that integrates the residency coursework with their ministry setting. The residency mentors will provide guidance on content, required components and formatting. Project proposals must be submitted during the residency and are to be conducted over the four to six months after the residency. The final project report must be submitted before the start of the next residency.

SP1023: Bridging the Gap I and SP1024: Bridging the Gap II The Second Residency focuses on both the text and the communication of the text. Dr. Arthurs will be the lead professor. Additionally, Sean McDonough, NT professor will teach on parables; and Hunter Barnes, actor, pastor, and communication consultant, will teach delivery. As a special bonus, Hunter will perform "Mark His Word," a one-man show of the book of Mark. Instruction once again will be inductive and collegial in a workshop atmosphere.

SP1030: Project II Following the second residency, students will undertake a project that integrates the residency coursework with their ministry setting. The residency mentors will provide guidance on content, required components and formatting. Project proposals must be submitted during the residency and are to be conducted over the four to six months after the residency. The final project report must be submitted before the start of the next residency.

SP1035: Audience Analysis & Adaptation I and SP1036 Audience Analysis & Adaptation II: Using John Stott's metaphor of "bridge building" as a model of preaching, the first residency focused mostly on the text. The second residency focused equally on the text and the listener, emphasizing a literary-rhetorical method of exegesis and its implications for homiletics. In the third residency we stand squarely on the listener side of the model, studying persuasion and audience adaptation

SP1040: Thesis-Project The writing of the thesis-project is the culmination of the participant's work in the program. The thesis-project should demonstrate competent doctoral-level integration

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

of the participant's learning in the program with his/her ministry context. It is expected that the thesis-project will make significant contribution to that field of study.

Workplace Theology and Ethical Leadership Track

MK1011 Workplace Theology & MK1012 Workplace Ethics: Explore the intersections of faith, work, and economics with an emphasis on: Biblical and theological reflections on work, worth and wealth; Biblical and theological reflections on leadership; Biblical and theological reflections on ethics and economics (including a critique of global capitalism); In depth examination of recent research into workplace health and well-being; In depth examination of research into "meaning and purpose" at work; Exploration of the anthropological, economic and spiritual impact of new technologies, including: information technology, artificial intelligence and robotics; Unpack case studies on the ethical implications of technological advancement (on both a micro and macro level); Exploration of the anthropological, economic and spiritual impact of globalization (including the challenge of ethics and pluralism); Learn how to use the tools of business prescience (i.e. Scenario Planning, Dynamic Forecasting, etc.) for the purpose of ministry development; Assist students in the development of their initial Projects.

MK1020: Project I Following the first residency, students will undertake a project that integrates the residency coursework with their ministry setting. The residency mentors will provide guidance on content, required components and formatting. Project proposals must be submitted during the residency and are to be conducted over the four to six months after the residency. The final project report must be submitted before the start of the next residency.

MK1023 Finance and Marketing in Christian Perspective & MK1024 Technology and Entrepreneurship in Christian Perspective: Explore the intersections of faith, work, and economics with an emphasis on the technical, theological, biblical and pastoral implications of: Economic monetization; Fractional banking; Monetary policy; Impact investing; Gender stereotyping; Social entrepreneurship; Debt, usury and stewardship; Access to capital in the majority world; Taxation and the role of government in economic affairs; Public and private debt; Ethical investing; We will

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

also assist students in the development of their research projects and look forward to our third residence on economic activity and the environment.

MK1030 Project II Following the second residency, students will undertake a project that integrates the residency coursework with their ministry setting. The residency mentors will provide guidance on content, required components and formatting. Project proposals must be submitted during the residency and are to be conducted over the four to six months after the residency. The final project report must be submitted before the start of the next residency.

MK1035 Globalization and Development in Christian Perspective & MK1036 Workplace Leadership: Explore the intersections of faith, work, and economics with an emphasis on the technical, theological, biblical and pastoral implications of: Globalization (with an emphasis on the impact of China's emergence as a superpower); Cross-cultural interactions; Environmentalism / creation care; Leadership; Mental health and well-being; Additional consideration of A.I. and Faith at Work issues; We will also assist students in the development of their thesis projects.

MK1040: Thesis-Project The writing of the thesis-project is the culmination of the participant's work in the program. The thesis-project should demonstrate competent doctoral-level integration of the participant's learning in the program with his/her ministry context. It is expected that the thesis-project will make significant contribution to that field of study.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

ACCREDITATION

BMIU seeks to be fully accredited by the International Association for Quality Assurance in Higher Education (QAHE). This will ensures our institution's academic integrity for exceptional student education.

ADVANCED STANDING

The seminary may grant students credit for specific courses based on proven competence in a particular subject area. In particular, the seminary offers students an opportunity to display competency in Biblical Studies through bible and language competency exams. In some cases, the seminary may offer advanced standing in the areas of Biblical Studies, Christian Thought, and Practical Theology for students with significant prior coursework in these areas from approved schools. An assessment is required for each student and any credit granted is assessed on a case-by-case basis. No more than one-fourth of the total required credits in a degree may be earned through competency credits. No more than one-third of the total required credits in the D.Min. may be earned through competency credits. In addition, certificate programs and the Master of Theology (Th.M.) degree are not eligible to receive advanced standing, with the exception of students in the Th.M.-Ministry track who possess a completed DMIN degree from an accredited institution.

ADVISORS

The Registration Office provides academic advising for any student and has ultimate responsibility in confirming that students have completed their degree program requirements. Appointments for advising will be scheduled upon student request. Faculty advisors are also assigned to all students, with many programs having a specific director. The directors of those programs must be consulted

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

concerning program structure and approval as necessary. All students are encouraged to seek out faculty in their area of study for additional educational, vocational, and spiritual counsel.

APPLICATION OF POLICIES, PROCEDURES, AND DEGREE PROGRAM REQUIREMENTS

The policies stated herein are not intended to be comprehensive. Please consult the Registration Office for further details on any policy. The policies and procedures stated in this catalog apply to all students regardless of the beginning date of their degree program at BMIU. However, a student is bound by the degree program requirements listed in the catalog in effect when the student begins coursework.

When a student changes degree programs, the catalog in effect at the time the student is admitted into the new program will govern the degree program requirements. Students whose enrollment lapses more than two years are required to request reactivation to the seminary and will be governed by the degree program requirements in effect at that time. When a new catalog reveals a change in degree program requirements, current students may petition the Registration Office during that academic year in order to be governed by the new requirements.

Students may not petition to be governed by degree program requirements of a previous catalog.

ATTENDANCE POLICIES

- Students are expected to attend all class meetings. All professors require attendance and participation, but each sets class attendance policies noting how attendance is graded and whether excused absences are allowed.
- Professors will announce these requirements at the beginning of the course or in the course syllabus.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

Hamilton Student In-Person Attendance Policy

 Although Hamilton Digital Live courses are offered in person and online simultaneously, students registered in Hamilton are expected to attend the classes in person, unless stated otherwise by the professor. The Digital Live modality for Hamilton courses is designed for distance students only. Please speak to the professor about any exceptions.

AUDITING COURSES

The seminary offers two different types of audits: courtesy audit and official audit. All auditors are restricted to non-participating member status in classes. In other words, auditors may not participate in class discussion (except as authorized by the instructor according to the terms included in the course syllabus), nor submit written work, nor sit for exams. Limited courses are not available to auditors except by written permission from the professor and the Registration Office. Some courses, such as online courses, may only be available as official audits.

All audits must be registered by the registration deadline for the term. See audit form for details. Courtesy Audit

The seminary extends to each current student, staff, faculty and their respective spouse, one courtesy audit per semester at no charge. In addition, alumni and local, full-time pastors are eligible to register as courtesy auditors. A limited number of local residents may courtesy audit selected courses. All interested parties must submit an audit request form through the Registration Office prior to attending class. Courtesy auditing privileges are only available to students during the semester in which the student enrolls for credit. Courtesy audits are not recorded on a transcript. Since courtesy auditors will not have access to the student portal for the audited course, courtesy audits may only be used for in-person attendance (i.e. no online or digital access to Zoom or Canvas is provided; documents and resources posted there will be unavailable to them). As a result, online courses are not eligible for courtesy audit.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

Official Audit

Current students may officially audit courses either by registering for the course or submitting the audit request form and paying the audit fee. Individuals not enrolled in a degree program and wishing to enroll as official auditors must complete an application with the Admissions Office. Official audits are recorded on transcripts. Students must attend at least 75% of the class meetings to receive a grade of 'AU' on their transcripts, indicating they satisfactorily audited the course. Auditors are responsible for verifying their attendance by submitting a written statement to the professor affirming that they attended at least 75% of the class meetings. It is solely the auditor's responsibility to submit this verification, and it must be submitted no later than the last day for written work for that semester. Official auditors who do not submit attendance verifications on or before the deadline for written work, or who do not attend at least 75% of the classes, or who withdraw from the course after the deadline listed in the Academic Calendar will receive a grade of 'W' (Withdrawn) for the course in question.

BIBLE COMPETENCY EXAMS

Since proper use of the Bible is central to all types of Christian ministry, BMI University requires every student to become proficient in the knowledge and use of the Bible. The seminary offers survey courses (OT500 Exploring the Old Testament and NT501 Exploring the New Testament) for the purpose of providing a systematic and integrative overview of the content of the Bible. All candidates for the M.A. and M.Div. degrees are required to demonstrate their Bible competency by 1) satisfactorily completing the Old and New Testament survey courses or 2) demonstrating competence through the appropriate examination(s). The seminary invites new incoming students to sit for these exams prior to their first semester as a student (non-degree seeking and official auditors are not eligible). The exams are generally given 1 month prior to each major term. Students are allowed to sit for the exams only once. A passing score is 75%. Degreeseeking students who pass the exam(s) do not need to enroll for the respective survey course(s); rather they will receive advanced standing for the course(s) OT500 and NT501. Certificate

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

students may take the Bible competency exams but are not eligible to receive Advanced Standing; they may replace OT500 and NT501 with open electives. Since these survey courses are corequisites for many courses, they must be taken early in a student's program in order to ensure that the student will not be hindered in his or her progress toward degree completion.

BIBLICAL LANGUAGE COMPETENCY EXAMS

Students with prior knowledge of Greek and/or Hebrew may be allowed to waive the language requirement(s) by successfully passing the language competency exam(s). Language competency exams are offered three times annually at the start of fall, spring, and summer semesters. Each test consists of translation and parsing and can be prepared for by reviewing an introductory grammar (e.g., Basics of Biblical Hebrew by Gary Pratico or Basics of Biblical Greek by William Mounce). Students who pass the exams will be granted advanced standing for the respective courses (e.g. GL501/502 Greek I and II and/or OL501/502 Hebrew I and II), reducing the number of required courses for their program where applicable (certificate students may take the language competency exams but are not eligible to receive advanced standing). Alternatively, students who test out of Greek and/or Hebrew may wish to take additional elective courses of their choice from within the Division of Biblical Studies.

Students may request not to receive advanced standing and take Biblical Studies electives instead. Since a firm knowledge of the biblical language(s) is foundational for performing competent exegesis required in many upper-level courses, students must verify proficiency by passing the exam(s) before any credit (transfer credit or advanced standing) will be granted.

Students wishing to audit language courses with the intention of refreshing their skills before attempting the exams may do so with the permission of the instructor and Registration Office, assuming enrollment space is available. The same applies for any student wishing to audit a language course with the intention of waiving the language requirement via the competency exam in order to take additional Biblical Studies elective courses (see Auditing Courses).

In all cases, students must successfully pass the competency exam before they enroll in courses with the language prerequisite.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

BIBLICAL LANGUAGES

The seminary is deeply concerned with educating students who can preach and teach confidently from the Scriptures. We consider knowledge of the original biblical languages to be invaluable for this task. It is our judgment that competence in biblical study will be markedly enhanced by an acquaintance with Hebrew and Greek.

M.Div. and some M.A. and Th.M. students are expected to perform exegetical work from the original languages, and the biblical languages are studied to that end. Students are encouraged to study as much of either Greek or Hebrew as they can prior to enrolling at BMI University. A knowledge of these languages is not necessary for admission to the seminary (except in some programs), but such knowledge will increase both the range of course selection and depth of study available to a first-year student.

CANCELLATION OF CLASSES

In the event that classes are cancelled (e.g., due to inclement weather or a national emergency), information will be made available through the seminary website and email. In some cases of severe weather emergency on campus, students may be notified via the campus emergency alert notification system (Send Word Now). When the seminary chooses not to cancel classes due to weather conditions, students must use their own judgment regarding travel safety. If a student decides it would be unsafe to travel to the seminary, the student remains responsible for deadlines, coursework, and missed lectures.

Make-Up Weekend: If a weekend class is cancelled due to weather, professor emergency or the like, the class will be made up during the scheduled Make-Up Weekend (see the Academic Calendar for the designated dates). The seminary assigns a make-up weekend for each term and reserves the right to reschedule a cancelled class during this time. Students should note the assigned make-up weekend and plan accordingly. In other words, you should keep this weekend free in the

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

event a weekend class is rescheduled; approved absences will not be considered if conflict arises with your personal schedule.

CHEATING & PLAGIARISM

(See Violations of Academic Integrity)

COURSES CHANGES: ADD, DROP, WITHDRAWAL

All course changes made at any time for any reason must be initiated through the Registration Office on the proper form. Deadlines noted on the Academic Calendar (and in the Registration Hub) determine tuition refunds (if any) for dropped/withdrawn courses. Note that the refund schedule applies to tuition refunds. Fees are not refunded for withdrawn courses. No course may be added after the announced deadlines. Courses dropped before the deadline will not be recorded on transcripts. Courses dropped after the announced deadline are considered withdrawn and will be recorded on transcripts with a grade of "W" (Withdrawn: carries no negative academic connotation). Courses "dropped" without the official notice to and approval of the Registration Office (e.g., a student ceasing to attend class or simply telling the professor they plan to drop the course) within the announced deadlines will result in a grade of "F" on the permanent record. Failure to make course changes within the allotted deadlines will result in a fee for improper registration (if the changes are allowed).

COURSE CREDITS

The majority of courses at BMI University are equivalent to three semester hours of credit. In certain programs, there may be exceptions to this general policy (see Credit Hours and Degree Programs section).

COURSE ELEVATIONS

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

Some programs require that standard master's courses be elevated to a higher level. Students desiring to elevate a master's-level course must meet with the directing professor in order to negotiate additional reading and writing requirements that the professor deems appropriate. These assignments must also be approved by the appropriate Program Director. Elevated courses are subject to all the policies, deadlines and procedures governing other "standard" courses. Course elevations will be noted on the transcript.

COURSE DELIVERY MODES & FORMATS

BMI University courses are offered in a variety of teaching modalities: in-class, correspondence, fully online, or a combination of these methods, depending on specific degree program requirements.

- Live courses are synchronous (everyone meets at the same time).
- Digital Live courses are synchronous (everyone meets at the same time). Students may attend remotely (via Zoom) or, in some classes, in person in the classroom with real-time participation
- Digital courses are asynchronous (no requirement to meet at the same time) delivered fully online with all learning and interaction occurring through an online learning platform.

BMIU courses are also offered in a variety of meeting formats including weekly meetings, weekend modules, and shorter intensive formats ranging from one to four weeks.

COURSE REPEATS

The only circumstance that justifies the repeat of a course is failure the first time. Aside from failing grades, courses may not be retaken in order to improve students' GPAs. A student may repeat a failed course or, in special circumstances, replace it with another similar course approved by the Registration Office. Normally, substitution is only allowed for exegesis courses.

The original grade of 'F' is superseded in the student's cumulative grade point average by the passing grade earned in the repeated course, although the student's transcript will show both grades.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

If a course has been attempted twice with resulting failing grades, special permission will be required from a Committee comprised of staff and faculty before the student registers for the same course a third time. When students have received permission to register a third time for the same course, and that course is completed with a passing grade, the final passing grade will replace both failed attempts in the cumulative GPA and credit hour calculations, although all grades will remain on the transcript.

CREDIT HOURS

BMIU operates on a semester-hour system. For most courses, one semester hour typically represents one hour of classroom or directed faculty instruction and a minimum of three hours of out-of-class student work.

Mentored Ministry rotations (and some introductory courses) represent one credit hour. Depending on the campus schedules, the following apply:

- In the fall and spring semesters, one semester hour typically represents one hour of classroom or directed faculty instruction and a minimum of three hours of out-of-class student work each week for approximately fourteen weeks. This includes two reading weeks each fall and spring semester (see Reading Weeks), which are special times dedicated to intense out-of-class student work (i.e., reading, research, writing, etc.).
- In a weekly format: three credit hours typically represent one three-hour class per week for fifteen weeks.
- Intensive courses: Three credit hours typically represent a full week of classroom time.
- Directed studies will meet on different schedules but will comprise an equivalent amount of work and academic engagement.
- In the weekend format courses generally meet for the equivalent of three weeks within one weekend.

Language courses may add a fourth weekend while remaining three credit hours.

DEGREE AUDITS

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

The Registration Office provides each student with a degree audit (check sheet) indicating courses required and courses completed. The Registration Office retains an official copy for consultation upon request. Students will typically receive an updated copy of their degree audit each year. The student is responsible to make sure all graduation requirements are met. Graduating students are issued a special graduation audit upon submission of a graduation application.

DIGITAL LIVE COURSES

Digital Live courses allow students to participate in a real-time seminary class anywhere in the world with a highspeed internet connection (via Zoom video conferencing). Students are able to engage live with their professor and classmates, receiving the same teaching through live feeds from the professor and participating in class discussion.

Digital Live does not mean students can complete the course online at their own convenience. It means that students can participate virtually from a distance at the time the course is being taught. The expectation is that students will be present at every meeting of the entire course.

DIRECTED STUDY COURSES

(See Out-Of-Sequence Courses, Project Courses, Reading and Research Courses, and Th.M. Writing Course Designation)

DUPLICATION OF COURSE REQUIREMENTS

Papers or other written work prepared to meet requirements in one course may not be submitted to meet requirements in another course, except by written permission from the instructor. Similarly, reading done to satisfy requirements in one course may not be counted to satisfy reading requirements in another course, except by permission from the instructor. See Violations of Academic Integrity for the full process for allegations and appeals.

EXAMINATIONS

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

Final examinations must be taken no later than the final week of the term. Take-home final exams may be distributed at any point by a course professor and are due no later than the last day for written work as designated in the Academic Calendar. Rescheduling exams before the last day for written work will be granted only for substantial reasons and only with the concurrence of the course professor. Rescheduling exams after the last day for written work must be done via formal Extension Petition (see Extensions for Late Coursework).

EXTENSIONS FOR LATE COURSEWORK

Under what circumstances will an extension be granted?

The extension policy grants additional time to students facing an unforeseen circumstance, emergency, or extenuating event within the semester (for Service members and reservists, this includes temporary absences or interruptions due to service requirements). It is not the intention of the extension policy to provide students an opportunity to achieve higher grades, nor to make allowances for mismanaged time. Requests for time lost due to ministry, job, wedding, trips, or course overload will not be considered. Pre-existing medical conditions are foreseeable and therefore may be subject to qualification. Students who require ongoing extensions for medical or physical reasons should review the Disability Accommodations Policy and contact the appropriate home campus office. Courses on extension do not contribute toward a student's enrollment status (e.g., full-time, part-time).

Extensions will not be granted for more than one year. In the DMIN program, requests for extensions will be formally considered and documented through residencies (see procedure in the DMIN Student Handbook).

When must the student file for an extension?

Arrangements for submission of regular in-semester late work on or before the last day for written work are made between the student and professor. This includes arrangements for the rescheduling of final exams. Such late work may be reduced in grade or refused by the professor.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

Students who wish to submit coursework after the last day for written work must receive prior approval by formal petition, regardless of where the course is offered (e.g., another BMIU campus or consortium school). Petitions must be filed with the Student Life Office no later than 11:59 pm on the last day for written work as specified in the Academic Calendar. Requests turned in after this time may be denied. Students are urged to submit petitions the week prior to the deadline. Time requested should equal the time lost by the emergency. Once the petition has been decided, email notification will be given to the student and faculty by the Student Life Services office.

When and where must coursework be submitted?

Students who are granted an extension must submit the final coursework (or sit for the exam) by the deadline approved. Coursework submitted after the deadline will not be accepted. All coursework for which an extension is granted must be submitted to the faculty member. If the professor requires a hard copy and offices are closed, the student should email a copy to the professor, letting him/her know that a hard copy is forthcoming.

What if the extension deadline cannot be met?

In the event that a student cannot meet the deadline specified in the first extension, a petition for re-extension may be filed with the Student Life Office no later than the expiration date of the original petition. Re-extensions without

penalty will be granted only when a student can document a second unavoidable event. When a student contracts for an extension, withdrawing from the course is no longer an option except in cases where completion of the work has been made impossible due to chronic illness or disability; the Registrar must approve such exceptions. Re-extensions into subsequent terms are not allowed unless unusual circumstances apply and will require a reduced course load for that term.

Is there an exception to the extension policy for thesis courses?

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

Yes. A thesis course can always be extended for up to one year maximum without extenuating circumstances.

Requests for an extension of a thesis should be submitted via email to the Registration Office. Please note, no re-extension will be granted once the one-year deadline has been reached. There are no exceptions to the thesis extension policy.

FAMILY EDUCATIONAL RIGHTS & PRIVACY ACT

The Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) affords students certain rights with respect to their education records. The rights of students are as follows:

- The right to inspect and review the student's education records within 45 days of the day the Seminary receives a written request for access.
 - Students should submit to the Registrar, Academic Dean, head of the academic department, or other appropriate official, written requests that identify the record(s) they wish to inspect. The Seminary official will make arrangements for access and notify the student of the time and place where the records may be inspected. If the records are not maintained by the Seminary official to whom the request was submitted, that official shall advise the student of the correct official to whom the request should be addressed.
- 2. The right to request the amendment of the student's education records that the student believes are inaccurate or misleading.
 - Students may ask the Seminary to amend a record that they believe is inaccurate or misleading. They should write the Seminary official responsible for the record, clearly identify the part of the record they want changed and specify why it is inaccurate or misleading. If the Seminary decides not to amend the record as requested by the student, the Seminary will notify the student of the decision and advise the student of his or her right to a hearing regarding the request for amendment. Additional information regarding the hearing procedures will be provided to the student when notified of the right to a hearing.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

- 3. The right to consent to disclosures of personally identifiable information contained in the student's education records, except to the extent that FERPA authorizes disclosure without consent.
 - One exception, which permits disclosure without consent, is disclosure to school officials with legitimate educational interests. A school official is a person employed by the Seminary in an administrative, supervisory, academic, research, or support staff position; a person or company with whom the Seminary has contracted (such as an attorney, auditor, collection agent, pastor, or mentor, and the National Student Clearinghouse); a person serving on the Board of Trustees; or a student serving on an official in performing his or her tasks. A school official has a legitimate educational interest if the official needs to review an education record in order to fulfill his or her professional responsibility.

Upon request, the Seminary may disclose education records without consent to officials of another school in which a student seeks or intends to enroll.

- 4. The Seminary may disclose personally identifiable information from education records to appropriate parties in connection with an emergency, if knowledge of the information is necessary to protect the health or safety of the student or other individuals.
- 5. The Seminary reserves the right to release, without consent, personally identifiable information (PII) that is designated as Directory Information. If the student does not wish to have all or part of this information released without consent, he or she must notify the Registration Office, in writing, and the request will be honored within the academic year the letter is received. Students must re-petition at the start of each academic year.

The Seminary has designated the following personally identifiable information as Directory Information:

• Student's Name

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

- Mailing Address
- Campus Address
- Email Address
- Home Phone Number
- Student's Photograph
- Spouse's Name
- Child's Name(s)
- Degree Program and Dates of Attendance
- Graduation Date
- Honors & Awards Received
- 6. As of January 3, 2012, the U.S. Department of Education's FERPA regulations expanded the circumstances under which a student's education records and personally identifiable information (PII) contained in such records; including the student's Social Security Number, grades, or other private information, may be accessed without the student's consent.
 - First, the U.S. Comptroller General, the U.S. Attorney General, the U.S. Secretary of Education, or state and local education authorities ("Federal and State Authorities") may allow access to a student's records and PII without the student's consent to any third party designated by a Federal or State Authority to evaluate a Federal- or state-supported education program. The evaluation may relate to any program that is "principally engaged in the provision of education," such as early childhood education and job training, as well as any program that is administered by an education agency or institution. Second, Federal and State Authorities may allow access to a student's education records and PII without the student's consent to researchers performing certain types of studies, in certain cases even when BMI University objects to or does not request such research. Federal and State Authorities must obtain certain use-restriction and data security promises from the entities that they authorize to receive the student's PII, but the Authorities need not maintain direct control over such entities. In addition, in connection with Statewide Longitudinal Data Systems, State Authorities may collect, compile, permanently retain, and share without a

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

student's consent from the student's education records, and they may track the student's participation in education and other programs by linking such PII to other personal information about the student that they obtain from other Federal or State data sources, including workforce development, unemployment insurance, child welfare, juvenile justice, military service, and migrant student records systems.

7. The student has the right to file a complaint with the U.S. Department of Education concerning alleged failures by BMI University to comply with the requirements of FERPA. The name and address of the office that administers FERPA is: Family Policy Compliance Office

U.S. Department of Education

400 Maryland Avenue, SW

Washington, DC 20202-4605

- 8. Written request for review and/or amendment of record(s) should be made to the director of the office, which contains the record being sought. Education records are located in the following offices:
 - Type of Education Record Custodian of Records Office & Location
 - Academic Records & Judicial
 - Committee Records
 - Registrar Registration
 - Mentored Ministry Records Director of Mentored
 - Ministry
 - Mentored Ministry
 - Counseling Program
 - Records
 - Coordinator of Counseling
 - Program
 - Counseling Department
 - Financial Accounts Director of Student Financial

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

- Services
- Student Accounts
- Financial Aid Transcripts &
- Scholarship Records
- Director of Student Financial
- Services
- Financial Aid
- Student Employment
- Records
- Director of Human Resources Human Resources
- Judicial Appeals & Byington
- Applications
- Academic Dean Academic Dean
- Guidance Committee
- Records & Community Life
- Reports
- Dean of Students Student Life Services
- Incident Reports Campus Safety Campus Safety
- Housing Leases, Dormitory
- Contracts & Rent Records
- Housing Manager Housing Office

FULFILLMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES

The seminary recognizes the right of students and employees (administration, faculty, and staff) to engage in off- campus activities as a matter of conscience. Those engaging in these activities must recognize that personal freedom must be balanced with responsibility to the seminary, and

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

that the seminary requires the fulfillment of normal academic tasks and work responsibilities. If engaging in off-campus activities results in poor academic performance or missing deadlines for academic work by students, or in absence from work or poor work performance by employees, the seminary's standard policies will apply with respect to academic regulations and employment procedures.

GRADE APPEALS

A student wishing to contest a grade has six months from the day the grade is issued to do so. The student must first seek to resolve the matter by contacting the professor who issued the grade. If the student is not satisfied with the professor's response, the student has the right to appeal to the Judicial Committee for further consideration. TheJudicial Committee is a subcommittee of the Academic Affairs Committee with representatives from the faculty of all three academic divisions. The Judicial Committee is chaired by the Dean of Students of the seminary. Requests for appeals after six months are normally not considered.

Appeal Process:

- 1. After attempting to resolve the issue directly with the professor who issued the grade, the student will submit a written petition to the Dean of Students concerning the grade in question.
- 2. Within three business days, the Dean of Students will give written notification to the professor that the grade has been appealed to the Judicial Committee.
- 3. The professor will have no more than 10 business days to respond in writing with his/her comments. This response must be directed to the Dean of Students.
- The Dean of Students will gather all appropriate information and present it to the Judicial Committee for action.
 - a. The Judicial Committee will have 10 business days to review the case and render a decision.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

- b. The student has the right to appear before the Judicial Committee to defend his/her case and may do so by making a written request to the chair of the Judicial Committee prior to the meeting.
- c. The Committee may decide to uphold the original grade or change the grade.
- Within three business days of receiving the Judicial Committee's decision, the Dean of Students will send written notification of the decision to the professor, the student, and all appropriate offices.
- If the student so desires, he/she may appeal the Judicial Committee's decision by submitting a written petition to the Academic Dean (for MAs) or Dean of DMIN (DMIN students) within 10 business days.
- 7. Within 10 business days, the Academic Dean will send written notification to the student and all appropriate parties of his/her decision to uphold or change the Judicial Committee's original decision. The Academic Dean's decision is final. (In cases where the Academic Dean is the faculty member who issued the grade, the Provost will decide.)
- 8. If a student is scheduled to graduate while an appeal is in process, and the grade in question could impact a student's eligibility for graduation, the above process will be accelerated if reasonably possible. If the appeal is not fully resolved at the time of graduation, the student will be permitted to participate in the graduation exercises, but he/she will not receive a diploma until the issue has been resolved.

The above durations are typically extended during the January and summer sessions depending on the availability of the faculty members involved. If a pending decision will affect future enrollment (e.g., prerequisites), the student should contact the Dean of Students for guidance. Reasonable deviations from these procedures will not invalidate a decision or proceeding unless significant prejudice to the student may result.

GRADING SCALE

Grade A is given for meeting with conspicuous excellence the demands which can fairly be made in relation to the requirements of the course. These demands would normally include unusual

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

accuracy in fact, completeness in detail, perfection in form of work, independence of method, grasp of the subject as a whole and constructive imagination.

Grade B is given for exceeding the minimum of satisfactory attainment and for meeting certain aspects of the course with excellence.

Grade C is given for attaining satisfactory familiarity with the course and for demonstrating at least some ability to use this knowledge in a satisfactory manner.

Grade D is a passing mark but indicates unsatisfactory control over the material.

Grade F declares that the course has been failed. See Course Repeats for details.

The seminary does not assign grades of "incomplete." Once grades are due for a course, each student must be graded or an official extension. Any student for whom a grade is not received will be assigned an F. 120

The following numerical values are assigned to the letter grade evaluations for purposes of determining grade point average: A + = 4.0; A = 4.0; A - = 3.7; B + = 3.3; B = 3.0; B - = 2.7; C + = 2.3; C = 2.0; C - = 1.7; D + = 1.3; D = 1.0; D - = 0.7; F = 0.0. Grade point averages are never rounded off. No exceptions are granted to this method of computing a student's grade point average. Degrees requiring a minimum 3.0 GPA for graduation: MACC, MACO, MATS, THM, DMIN Degrees requiring a minimum 2.0 GPA for graduation: MDIV, MACM, MAGL

GRADUATION

BMIU has a commencement ceremony each year in May. This ceremony is for students who completed their work by the previous December (January graduates) or in April (May graduates), as well as those who have no more than two degree requirements outstanding which will be completed during the summer (October graduates). Participation in the baccalaureate and commencement ceremonies is required of all graduating students except those living more than 250 miles from the seminary. Graduating students must request permission, in writing, from the Registration Office to graduate in absentia.

Application for Graduation

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

It is the student's responsibility to apply for graduation. January, May, and October candidates are presented to the faculty for approval in December and April, respectively. Graduation applications are due prior to the semester in which work will be completed. (October graduates must apply prior to the spring semester.) Students should consult the current Academic Calendar for specific application deadlines.

A graduation fee will be charged in mid-fall semester for January graduates and at the beginning of the spring semester of the year in which May and October graduates are graduating (see Special Fees). Students who do not satisfy all necessary graduation requirements by the special deadline for graduates will not graduate. They must reapply for graduation and will be charged a change of graduation fee (see Special Fees).

Eligibility for January Graduation

Students who have completed all of their coursework by December, and whose grades have been received by the Registration Office by the posted deadline, are eligible for January graduation (see the Academic Calendar). The early submission of fall term coursework is required for January graduates so that the necessary grades are received by the Registration Office no later than the deadline stated in the Academic Calendar. January graduates will have a January graduation date listed on their final transcripts and diplomas.

Eligibility for May Graduation

To be eligible for May graduation, students must have met all academic and financial requirements by the week prior to commencement exercises. The early submission of coursework is required for May graduates so that grades are received by the Registration Office no later than the deadline stated above (see the Academic Calendar).

Pending May graduates who do not complete all requirements by this deadline but who have two or fewer degree requirements outstanding which can be completed in the summer immediately following will be changed to October graduation (with a change of graduation fee) but will still be permitted to participate in the graduation exercises.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

Eligibility for October Graduation

To be eligible to participate in commencement exercises as a pending October graduate, students must have maintained at least the minimum cumulative GPA required for graduation within their programs by the week prior to commencement exercises. In addition, by the week prior to commencement exercises, not account exercises, pending October graduates must have met all financial requirements, have no more than two-degree requirements outstanding and be registered for their final courses in the summer. The early submission of spring term coursework is required for October graduates so that the necessary grades are received by the Registration Office no later than the deadline stated above (see the Academic Calendar). All remaining academic and financial requirements must be completed by the last day of the full-summer session. October graduates who fail to complete their requirements during the summer must delay their official graduation and will pay an additional graduation fee at the conclusion of their program. Graduation honors (e.g., Cum Laude) will not be awarded until all coursework is complete and final grades have been received. October graduates will have an October graduation date listed on their final transcripts and diplomas. Diplomas will be issued in October. NOTE: Students in cohort-based programs such as the Doctor of Ministry, are not eligible for October graduation term (January and May only).

HONORS

The following standards for honors are maintained:

3.70 - 3.84 =Cum Laude

3.85 - 3.91 = Magna Cum Laude

3.92 - 4.00 = Summa Cum Laude

If an M.Div. student uses more than two pass/fail grading options, he/she will be disqualified for consideration for the above graduation honors. Please note that this limit does not include courses which are graded on a mandatory pass/fail basis (e.g. denominational standards courses or some Mentored Ministry).

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

IMMUNIZATIONS

BMIU students must comply with state immunization laws (if applicable). Students studying online are exempt from immunization requirements.

INCOMPLETES

The seminary does not issue grades of "I" meaning Incomplete. Students unable to complete a course should withdraw by the final withdrawal deadline (see Academic Calendar) or petition for an extension to complete coursework. (See Extensions for Late Coursework and Grading Scale).

LEAVE OF ABSENCE

(See Withdrawal/Leave of Absence)

MENTORED MINISTRY

Mentored Ministry is the "clinical" side of preparation for ministry and is an academic requirement for M.Div. and some M.A. students. Its primary objective is to provide a context for integration of theory with practical field experience. By means of the mentoring relationship with an approved pastor (or qualified staff member of a parachurch ministry) and the various experiences provided within the church, students will be able to test their vocational commitments, broaden their empirical and experiential knowledge, develop ministry skills, nurture personal identity, enhance self-directed learning and engage in spiritual formation.

All Mentored Ministry requirements must be officially registered and are subject to the same academic policies governing all courses. See Academic Calendar for dates. Each student's participation in the program will be graded and recorded on the official transcript of the seminary.

OUT-OF-SEQUENCE COURSES

Out-of-sequence courses (Directed Study) are offerings that appear in the catalog of courses, have established titles and course numbers, but are taken independently, outside the classroom. Whenever possible, students should take standard courses within the classroom setting. Permission to register for a course out-of-sequence will be granted only when a student can show adequate

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

reason why the course cannot be taken during its regularly scheduled time. Special students, visiting students and auditors are ineligible for out-of-sequence courses.

Out-of-sequence courses are subject to all the policies, deadlines and procedures governing standard course offerings. They require approval of the directing professor and the Registration Office before permission to register is granted. Petitions should be submitted early (forms available in the Canvas Registration Hub). Directed study petitions have an early deadline of one week before the last day to add courses. Requests will not be approved after the last day to register. It is the student's responsibility to initiate the first meeting with their professor, which must take place within ten days of the first day of classes for that semester.

OVERLOAD

Sixteen and a half semester hours is the maximum a student may take in any fall, spring, or fullsummer semester without formal approval by the Registration Office. Generally, students who have maintained a cumulative grade point average of 3.0 or better will be granted permission to enroll for an additional three semester hours. In the term intensive session, students are typically limited to one course per session. However, in unusual cases, students may register for a maximum of two courses in such a session without formal petition to the Registration Office.

OVERSEAS MISSIONS PRACTICUM

The Overseas Missions Practicum (OMP) seeks to challenge students in the areas of servanthood, team and cross-cultural ministry, spiritual formation and global vision applied to the local church. The field experience gives the theoretical its needed practical application. Here the student learns from the team, local Christians, the wider society and by serving others, which often results in lifelong lessons that are applicable to future ministries at home or abroad.

OMP is largely non-academic summer mission trips, not a credit bearing class. With certain parameters, OMP (NA) trips can still be taken as an independent study course to meet a world

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

missions (WM) requirement and may still qualify for one Mentored Ministry unit (subject to approval).

PASS/FAIL POLICY

Students may elect pass/fail grading in courses according to the guidelines published below. A total of four such courses are allowed in the M.Div. program, three in the DMIN, and two in all other BMI University degree programs (with the exception of the Th.M. which allows for no pass/fails). Non-degree students are allowed no pass/fail options. These limits include courses such as certain consortium courses, and other offerings that are graded on a pass/fail (or satisfactory/unsatisfactory) basis. These limits do not include denominational standards courses or mentored ministry courses. Students are advised to plan ahead, as these limits, including such courses, cannot be exceeded. Furthermore, students who elect to use more than two pass/fail options within a degree program (excluding denominational standards courses) will not be eligible for graduation honors (e.g., Cum Laude, etc.). MACC students are not permitted to take any of the Counseling (CO) courses required for their degree as Pass/Fail. MACO students are not permitted to take any of the core Counseling courses as Pass/Fail, with the exception of CO801.

The maximum number of pass/fails allowed will be reduced for students who have received more than 15 hours of transfer credit, shared credit, and/or advanced standing credit. Students receiving 16 to 33 hours of credit will lose one pass/fail, while those receiving 34 hours or more will lose two. Furthermore, students who transfer in courses that were graded on a pass/fail or satisfactory/unsatisfactory basis will lose one pass/fail for each of these courses.

Dual degree students completing two degrees are allowed the full number of pass/fails on their first degree. The second degree is limited to one pass/fail option.

Students must request pass/fail grading by petition through the Registration Office by the dates announced in the Academic Calendar. The election of pass/fail grading is irrevocable after the stated deadlines. Faculty members will calculate the grade earned (A+ through F), and then convert grades of "D-" or better to "P" (pass). Pass/fail courses will not be considered in determining the

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

cumulative grade point average except when failed. When more than one course is required in a given teaching area, no more than half of the course requirements may be taken on a pass/fail basis (excluding GL501 and 502 and OL501 and 502).

PROBATION

The Registration Office routinely reviews academic records at the close of each fall and spring semester, and at the end of the summer term upon request. The DMIN office reviews academic records before each residency, upon Admission to Candidacy submission, upon submission of the Thesis-Project Proposal, with a graduation application, and upon request. The student whose cumulative grade point average falls below the cumulative grade point average required to graduate from the student's degree program is automatically placed on academic probation. A student admitted to the seminary on academic probation will be considered as being enrolled in his/her first semester of academic probation. A student placed on first-semester academic probation will be limited to enrolling in no more than nine credit hours (sometimes less) until the student is removed from academic probation. A student placed on second-semester academic probation, in addition to being limited in the number of credits, will not be permitted to access financial aid (see Satisfactory Academic Progress).

A student is automatically removed from academic probation when his or her cumulative grade point average reaches the level required for graduation from the respective degree program. If a student removed from academic probation is again placed on academic probation in a subsequent semester, the student will automatically be considered to be on his/her second (or third, fourth, etc.) semester probation. Students may receive federal and institutional funds for only one semester while on academic probation.

If a student is on academic probation for two consecutive semesters, he or she may be required to withdraw from the seminary for a period of one year. After such time, the student may petition the Registrar, in writing, to be reinstated. Students withdrawn for more than two years must reapply. If a reinstated student is dismissed a second time for academic probation, the student will not be permitted to return to the seminary.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

PROJECT COURSES

The Division of Practical Theology makes available, as part of its offerings, project-based courses which are directed by a member of the faculty. For example, EV720: Project in Evangelism or EM720: Project in Educational Ministries. The student plans and executes, under the professor's guidance, a project which he or she designs, and which is approved by the directing professor. The courses are open to qualified students by petition to the Division of Practical Theology. Prior agreement must be secured from the professor who is to direct the project. A clear description of the project is required, including a rationale for the project, a description of the work to be undertaken and the outcome anticipated. At the directing professor's discretion, a prerequisite course or courses may be required.

Project courses are subject to all the policies, deadlines and procedures governing standard course offerings. They require approval of the directing professor, the Division Chair, and the Registration Office before permission to register is granted. Petitions should be submitted early. Requests are normally not approved once the semester begins.

READING AND RESEARCH COURSES

The divisions may make available as part of their offerings courses of independent reading or research to be directed by a member of the faculty. For example, TH760 Reading in Theology or TH860 Research in Theology.

Such a course is treated in accord with usual academic, institutional, and divisional criteria.

A precise course description, outline of study, and bibliography are to be drawn up by the directing instructor and student in the form of a mini-syllabus and submitted to the Registration Office for approval. Reading courses require 2,500-3,000 pages of reading, and research courses require a paper no fewer than 20 pages long. Students must meet a minimum of four hours with their directing professor as part of their course framework. Requests to

have an instructor other than a full-time BMI University faculty member must be made in writing to the Academic

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

Dean and can accompany or precede the course petition.

Special students, visiting students and auditors are ineligible to enroll in directed study courses. The Registration

Office grants approval on the basis of reasonable petition, the formal permission of the divisional chair, and agreement by the faculty member involved. The work will be evaluated by examination, a final paper or a series of reports submitted within normal semester deadlines (see the Academic Calendar).

Students should initiate paperwork no later than April 1 for a fall course and December 1 for a spring course. Petitions submitted late or without proper documentation may be rejected, even when divisional and professorial permission has been obtained. Extensions are granted for reading and research courses according to the standard extension policy for all courses (see Extensions for Late Coursework).

READING WEEKS

There are two Reading Weeks scheduled each fall and spring semester for those classes that meet weekly. Summer classes may either take two Reading Weeks or, if they do not take breaks, end two weeks early (to total 12 weeks).

While classes do not meet during Reading Weeks, these are not breaks from student instruction and academic engagement. Rather, Reading Weeks are special times dedicated to intense, out-ofclass student work (i.e., reading, research, writing, etc.). It is expected that students will engage in significantly more out-of-class work during Reading Weeks than during normal weeks when classes are in session.

RECORD RETENTION

Comprehensive student records are maintained for all current students. Upon graduation, formal withdrawal, or a cessation of enrollment, students' physical records may be purged of non-essential

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

items, and the remaining files will be held in archive for five years. At that time, most physical records are normally destroyed. Essential electronic records (e.g., transcripts) are held indefinitely.

REGISTRATION

Most registration functions (course add/drops, official audits) are available to students online through their SONIS Student Portal. Some courses (e.g. Directed Study, Reading/Research courses, etc.) are not available for online registration. For these courses, students should submit the proper petitions available in the Canvas Registration Hub. In most instances, these courses require faculty approval by signature. Once a student has submitted the proper paperwork with the appropriate signatures, the Registration Office will complete the registration process.

Once these courses are registered, students will be able to drop the course online via the SONIS Student Portal. The Academic Calendar includes beginning registration dates. After registration, students can make schedule changes using the Course Add Request and Course Drop/Withdrawal forms located in the SONIS Student Portal.

Students who submit forms after the last day to register will be charged an improper registration fee if the requests are accepted (see the Academic Calendar). Students are not allowed to register retroactively for work completed in a previous semester.

SATISFACTORY ACADEMIC PROGRESS

The Code of Federal Regulations, title 34, section 668.34 requires that an institution establish, publish, and apply reasonable standards for measuring whether a student is maintaining satisfactory progress (SAP) in his or her course of study in order for the student to receive financial aid under a Title IV program of the Higher Education Act.

All federal financial aid recipients must progress at a reasonable rate (make satisfactory progress) toward achieving a degree. This requirement applies to all terms regardless of whether or not the student received federal financial aid.

SAP: Evaluating Financial Aid Satisfactory Academic Progress

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

The financial aid satisfactory academic progress evaluation will take place once a year and will begin 5 weeks after the end of the spring semester. This evaluation process will use three benchmarks: Qualitative Measure, Pace, and Maximum Timeframe.

Qualitative measure. BMI University publishes the cumulative grade point average (GPA) that is required for graduation for each degree program. Each student must maintain the respective GPA for their degree program each semester. Failure to maintain this required GPA will mean loss of eligibility for federal financial aid. (See also Probation.)

Pace of completion. Students must progress through their educational program at a pace that ensures they will complete the program within the maximum timeframe. The pace is calculated by dividing the cumulative number of credit hours the student has successfully completed by the cumulative number of credit hours the student has attempted. Students must successfully complete a minimum of 67% of their cumulative attempted credits (including any, failures, or transferred or withdrawn credits).

Maximum timeframe. Students are expected to complete their program within the normal time for completion (90 credits M.Div. and 60 credits M.A.). However, there may be special circumstances like program change or an illness that would prevent the students from completing their program of study within the normal time frame.

To accommodate these special circumstances, students may continue receiving aid until they either (a) complete graduation requirements for their program of study, or (b) attempt 150% of the number of credits (including any, failures, or transferred or withdrawn credits) required for their program of study, or (c) reach the point where they cannot earn the number of credits necessary to complete their program of study within 150% of required credits for the degree, whichever comes first.

Students become ineligible for financial aid at the time that it is determined that they are unable to complete their degree within the maximum timeframe. Transfer students should request that only the credits that apply to their program of study are accepted by BMI University to ensure that they do not exceed the maximum timeframe prior to completing their program of study, and therefore become ineligible for financial aid.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

SAP: Treatment of Special Academic Course Situations

Audited courses and zero credit requirements. Courses that are audited (official or unofficial) and zero-credit requirements are excluded from satisfactory academic progress calculations since they are not used to determine federal financial aid eligibility.

SECOND DEGREE/PROGRAM

Students who have already completed one BMI University degree and are admitted to a degree program may be eligible for shared credit between the two degrees/certificate programs. Shared credit between BMI University degrees/programs of up to 50% of the student's shorter BMI University program is treated similar to transfer credit (see Transfer Credit). Students wishing to add a second degree may request this through Registration with a Degree Change Request form. Some programs, such as the MA in Christian Counseling or MA in Counseling, require an application and interview through the Admissions Office; please contact the Admissions Office for details.

Degree-seeking students are not eligible to add the Certificate in Christian Studies as a second program, and students enrolled in the MATS(SF) or MACM(SF) are also not permitted to add the Certificate in Spiritual Formation as a second program.

SECOND/DUAL CONCENTRATION

Students in the MA in Theological Studies (MATS) and MA in Christian Ministries (MACM) degrees may either pursue the "Standard" open 6 course concentration or they may follow a prescribed concentration. Students are permitted to pursue up to two concentrations per degree within the MATS or MACM, in which they must complete all courses required for both concentrations. Any courses required for the degree in each concentration's check sheet may be used for both; there are no sharing limits. Students wishing to add a second concentration may request this through the Registration Office. Another concentration cannot be added to a degree once that degree has been conferred. Dual concentrations are not permitted in the Master of Theology (Th.M.) degree.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

SPECIAL STUDENTS

Qualified students not wishing to enter a specific degree program may be permitted to enroll for classes.

Application for permission to enroll as a special student should be made to the Admissions Office. Credit is earned, and standard tuition costs prevail. Special students are not eligible to enroll in specialized courses such as Mentored Ministry, directed studies, and project courses without written permission from the Registration Office.

The number of applicable credit hours earned as a special student shall not exceed one-third of any given degree program. In other words, no more than 30 credit hours as a special student can be applied to the M.Div. program, and no more than 18 credit hours towards any of the M.A. programs. Special students may later apply for degree candidate status through the Admissions Office.

STUDENT DISCIPLINE & TITLE IX PROCEDURES

The seminary takes seriously its responsibility to the church and to society to review and evaluate both the academic progress of its students as well as their personal and professional development. The institution, therefore, reserves the right to require a student to withdraw from school for a period of time to address particular concerns, with readmission possible upon satisfactory resolution, or to dismiss a student if the circumstances warrant dismissal with no readmission possible.

Grounds for disciplinary action include a breach of academic integrity (such as cheating on examinations or plagiarism in written work), a violation of the standards of the Community Life Statement or inadequate development of professional skills. Disciplinary action shall include either an admonition (an oral or written statement that an institutional standard has been violated), a warning (an oral or written notice that continued action of a specific nature will result in required withdrawal or dismissal), required withdrawal or dismissal.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

In cases involving an alleged breach of academic integrity, notice shall be made to the Judicial Committee, which shall determine the facts of the case and make a final decision on a penalty or course of action. The Dean of Students shall notify the student of the decision of the committee. The student retains the right of appeal to the Academic Dean (or Dean of DMIN), who has authority to uphold or change the committee's decision. Further appeal may be made to the Provost and Vice President of Graduate Programs if the student disagrees with the decision of the Academic Dean (see Violations of Academic Integrity). The Guidance Committee and the Dean of Students process matters other than those of academic integrity and take action deemed appropriate. The student retains the right to appeal the decision to the Provost and Vice President of Graduate Programs.

STATEMENT OF STANDARD FOR DISCIPLINARY ACTION

The Seminary reaffirms the biblical principles set forth in its Community Life Statement as it seeks to support students in their theological endeavors. The Seminary's commitment to its mission statement requires that all students be afforded an environment, which promotes intellectual and spiritual growth. To this end, the Seminary may engage in investigations, which could result in a process designed to bring about restoration for the student to the community, should he or she be found in violation of any aspect of the Community Life Statement or any other institutional code of conduct that interferes with or limits the student's, as well as the community's, ability to fulfill their academic goals.

The purpose of a student disciplinary process is to determine if a student has engaged in misconduct, and in those cases in which it is determined that the student has engaged in misconduct, to impose appropriate sanctions because the goal is always restoration. Romans 2:4 states that it is God's kindness that leads us to repentance and the Seminary seeks to follow the patterns for discipline described in Scripture through campus-specific guidance committees. The following procedures are employed in fulfilling this purpose. Please note that situations that fall under the umbrella of Title IX or VAWA will follow a different procedure.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

PROCEDURE FOR CONDUCTING A MISCONDUCT REVIEW

- 1. The campus-specific guidance committee will conduct an investigation of the allegations brought against a student. The investigation includes the following steps:
 - a. Confirm the name/identity of the student in question.
 - b. Gather all material facts.
 - c. Determine alleged infraction as stated in the Community Life Statement or other published institutional code of conduct.
 - d. If necessary, take any appropriate actions, including government and/or law enforcement agencies.
 - e. Seek legal counsel as deemed appropriate.
 - f. Keep thorough and complete documentation of investigative process.
- 2. The Chair of the Guidance Committee will notify the student in writing of the following:
 - a. A statement of alleged charges against him or her
 - b. The specific Seminary policy or code of conduct, which allegedly has been violated
 - c. The purported facts/information supporting the allegation
 - d. The establishment of a committee interview with student in question.
- 3. The Guidance Committee will conduct an informal interview with the student, using the following guidelines:
 - a. The student will be informed of the date, time, and location of the interview, in writing, either by personal delivery or email, at least three business days in advance. This information also will be provided to the person(s) who brought forth the alleged charges in case he or she desires, is required or is invited to be present in the interview.
 - b. The entire case file and the names of any prospective witnesses will be available for inspection by the respondent student during normal business hours in the Student life Services/Dean of Students' office where non-academic student files are maintained (unless protected from disclosure by FERPA).

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

- c. The respondent student may choose to be assisted by a family member or other individual. Those assisting the respondent student will be given reasonable time to ask relevant questions of any individual appearing at the interview, as well as to present relevant information. The student also may be accompanied by legal counsel, although the role of counsel will be limited to providing legal advice to the respective student. It will be done in a quiet manner that is not disruptive to the proceedings. A reasonable effort will be made to accommodate the schedule of any representative or advisor allowed to assist the student.
- d. The complainant student, if present in the interview, also may be assisted by an advisor of his or her choosing.
- e. The respondent student will be expected to respond to questions asked by the Committee. Students who refuse to answer on grounds of the Fifth Amendment privilege may be informed that the Committee could draw a negative inference from his or her refusal, which might result in his or her dismissal from the Seminary, in accordance with these standards and procedures.
- f. The informal interview may be conducted in the absence of the respondent student if he or she fails to appear, following proper notification of the interview date, time, and location.
- g. The interview shall be recorded by the Committee. The recording shall be kept with the pertinent casefile for as long as the case file is maintained by the Seminary. (A copy hearing will be made and kept in the Dean of Students' office.)
- 4. Following the informal interview, the Committee will meet for deliberations and render a written decision to the student within five business days after the completion of the informal interview.
- 5. The Committee has the authority to render any one of the following decisions/sanctions:
 - a. Further investigation possibly culminating in another follow up interview.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

- b. Admonition. A formal admonition that an institutional standard has been violated and which does not become part of a student's permanent record, but that may be taken into account in judging the seriousness of any future violation.
- c. Disciplinary Probation. A more serious admonition assigned for a definite amount of time, with the probation to continue until certain conditions stipulated by the Committee have been fulfilled. It implies that any future violation during that time, of whatever kind, may be grounds for suspension, or in especially serious cases, for dismissal from the Seminary.
- d. Suspension for a Definite Period. Removal from membership in the Seminary community, including all student privileges for a specified period of time, with the suspension to continue until certain conditions stipulated by the Committee have been fulfilled. A suspension is noted on a student's official record only for the duration of the suspension. (Required to move out of Seminary housing.)
- e. Indefinite Suspension. Removal from membership in the Seminary community including all student privileges for at least the period of time specified by suspension, with the suspension to continue until certain conditions stipulated by the Committee have been met, after which the Committee will reconvene to render a final decision. A suspension is noted on a student's official record only for the duration of the suspension. (Required to move out of Seminary housing.)
- f. Dismissal. Permanent removal from membership in the Seminary community, including all student and alumni privileges without possibility of readmission.
 (Required to move out of Seminary housing.) A dismissal is noted on student's official record.
- 6. If the student is suspended or dismissed, the written decision shall be mailed or emailed to the student within five business days after the completion of the interview. It shall contain a statement of reason resulting in the sanction. The respondent student shall be asked to sign a form, for the record, indicating his or her understanding of the disciplinary action

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

taken by the Committee. The respondent, as well as the complainant, also shall be advised of the appeal process.

- A confidential copy of the letter to the student(s) will be filed in the Dean of Students Office, and the Registrar's Office will be notified of the decision.
- 8. The Committee shall inform the complainant, if any, that the investigation has been completed and that a sanction has been imposed but may not be permitted to divulge details.

PROCEDURES FOR APPEAL

In the event that the response, decision, or action is unacceptable to either party (the respondent or the complainant) due to procedural inconsistencies or new information, which was not available to the committee, formal complaints can be appealed to the Dean of the Campus. Exceptions can apply as required by law.

- If either student or accuser so desires, he or she may appeal the investigating committee's decision in writing within seven business days, following the notification of sanction, to the Dean of the Campus.
- 2. The Dean of the Campus will present his or her decision within seven business days to the student (or complainant), unless he or she appoints a review committee of his or her choosing, in which case, he or she will have 10 business days in which to respond.
- 3. In the event that following this appeal there is further evidence of procedural inconsistencies or new information, which was not available to the Dean of the Campus, either student may appeal to the Provost of the Seminary in writing within seven business days, following the notification of sanction.
- 4. The Provost will present his or her decision within seven business days to the student (or complainant).
- 5. The Provost's decision will be final.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

PROCEDURES FOR STUDENT DEPARTING THE SEMINARY

If suspension or dismissal occurs during the course of the semester, tuition may be refunded to the student according to Federal policy.

- Appropriate notation shall be entered on the student's transcript and placed in his or her permanent file. The Registration office will follow normal procedure to notify the appropriate offices of the student's leave from the Seminary.
- 2. If the student resides on campus, he or she may be given up to a 30-day notice to vacate the apartment and no more than seven days to move from the dormitory (date of dismissal will take into account the appeal process).
- 3. In the case of an international student (F-1 visa), as per SEVIS (Student Exchange and Visitor Information System) regulations, he or she must vacate immediately (i.e., no visa "grace period"), following the date of dismissal (date of dismissal will take into account the appeal process).

DEVIATIONS FROM ESTABLISHED PROCEDURES

Reasonable deviations from these procedures (not to include sanctions) will not invalidate a decision or proceeding unless significant prejudice to the student may result.

POLICY & PROCEDURES ON TITLE IX AND SEXUAL MISCONDUCT

As a Christian institution committed to preparing men and women for ministry, we take our commitment to shaping moral and ethical character seriously. BMI University Community Life Statement maintains that, "we renounce behaviors, such as distortion of God's Word, deception, falsehood, drunkenness, stealing, and sexual immorality, such as premarital intercourse, adultery and homosexual behavior." The Community Life Statement provides us with a set of guiding norms that shape the way we interact with one another. We understand that we live in a fallen world and that sin exists. For this reason, BMI University recognizes its legal obligations in regards to Title IX, the Campus Sexual Violence Elimination (SaVE) Act, and the Clery Act (for more information) on the specifics of these Federal laws. For the purposes of this policy and the

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

Seminary's handling of such matters, Title IX includes the concerns of the Campus SaVE Act (specifically intimate partner violence & stalking). The purpose of this policy is to:

- Affirm the Seminary's commitment to preventing sex-based misconduct and sex-based harassment.
- Define sex-based misconduct involving students, which includes sex based-discrimination, sex-based harassment, domestic violence, intimate partner violence, stalking, and sexual assault.
- Outline the Seminary's process of responding appropriately to incidents of sex-based discrimination.

• Identify resources and support for students reporting an incident of sex-based misconduct. Pursuant to Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, BMI University prohibits discrimination on the basis of sex or gender in its programs and activities. The Seminary will respond to and make reasonable efforts to investigate and address complaints or reports of prohibited conduct in accordance with the procedures outlined below. Any questions regarding Title IX should be addressed with the Title IX Coordinator identified below.

BMIU seeks to provide students with a safe living-learning environment free from the negative effects of sex-based discrimination, sex-based harassment and sex-based misconduct. All forms of sex-based misconduct are prohibited. The Seminary strives to educate students, staff, and faculty on these issues and to provide recourse for students believing they have experienced sex-based misconduct. This policy applies to all members of the BMI University community, and includes, but is not limited to, faculty, staff, students, residents, families, Seminary visitors, volunteers, and vendors. It also applies to alleged acts of sex-based discrimination, sex-based harassment, sexual assault, prohibited sexual contact, dating, and domestic violence that occur: on campus; in connection with any program or activity sponsored by the Seminary; and/or off campus if the conduct creates a hostile environment on campus. It is applicable to students, staff, faculty, residents, or anyone who is expected to abide by the community life statement.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

The University considers sex-based misconduct in any form to be a serious violation of the Christlike conduct expected from all members of its community. Appropriate disciplinary actions following the process outlined in the student, faculty, or staff handbooks may be taken against any persons or groups engaging in these acts to prevent recurrence of any discrimination or harassment and to correct its effects on the complainant and others. Such disciplinary action includes, but is not limited to, suspension or expulsion from the Seminary, termination of Seminary employment, and termination of contracts/agreements with that person(s) or group(s). The Seminary also may impose other sanctions, including restricting students from certain activities or areas of the campus, requiring that students complete counseling or other programs as a condition of continued enrollment, or any other appropriate sanctions as determined by the Seminary in its sole discretion. In addition, the Seminary may terminate or suspend its relationship and associated privileges with any perpetrator of interpersonal or intimate partner violence covered by this policy, including, but not limited to, visitors, volunteers, vendors, and other such guests of the Seminary. To this end, BMI University expressly reserves its rights to revoke the privilege, right, and/or permission to anyone to be physically present on-campus, participate in Seminary activities, and use Seminary facilities or resources in order to carry out the intent and purposes of this policy.

The Seminary may refer any alleged perpetrator to law enforcement.

This policy is effective beginning August 1, 2024, and effective for all alleged incidents which occur following that date.

DEFINITIONS

Sex-based Misconduct

Sex-based misconduct is a broad term that encompasses any unwelcome behavior of a sex-based nature that is committed without consent or by force, intimidation, coercion, or manipulation. Sex-based misconduct can occur between persons of the same or different genders.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

Sex-Based Harassment

Sex-based harassment is a form of sex discrimination and means sexual harassment and other harassment on the basis of sex, including on the basis of sex stereotypes, sex characteristics, pregnancy or related conditions, sexual orientation, and gender identity. This includes:

- Quid pro quo harassment. An employee, agent, or other person authorized by the recipient to provide an aid, benefit, or service under the recipient's education program or activity explicitly or impliedly conditioning the provision of such an aid, benefit, or service on a person's participation in unwelcome sexual conduct;
- 2. Hostile environment harassment. Unwelcome sex-based conduct that, based on the totality of the circumstances, is subjectively and objectively offensive and is so severe or pervasive that it limits or denies a person's ability to participate in or benefit from the recipient's education program or activity (i.e., creates a hostile environment). Whether a hostile environment has been created is a fact-specific inquiry that includes consideration of the following:
 - i. The degree to which the conduct affected the complainant's ability to access the recipient's education program or activity;
 - ii. The type, frequency, and duration of the conduct;
- iii. The parties' ages, roles within the recipient's education program or activity, previous interactions, and other factors about each party that may be relevant to evaluating the effects of the conduct;
- iv. The location of the conduct and the context in which the conduct occurred; and (v) Other sex-based harassment in the recipient's education program or activity; or
- 3. Specific offenses.
 - i. Sexual assault means an offense classified as a forcible or nonforcible sex offense under the uniform crime reporting system of the Federal Bureau of Investigation;
 - ii. Dating violence meaning violence committed by a person: (A) Who is or has been in a social relationship of a romantic or intimate nature with the victim; and (B) Where the existence of such a relationship shall be determined based on a consideration of the

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

following factors: (1) The length of the relationship; (2) The type of relationship; and (3) The frequency of interaction between the persons involved in the relationship;

Sexual Assault

Sexual assault is any unwanted, coerced, or forced sexual contact or intercourse or sexual contact or intercourse with someone who is not able to give consent (e.g., incapacitated by alcohol, drugs, or asleep). Sexual assault can involve the sexual penetration of any body orifice, but also includes other unwanted sexual contact including Statutory Rape (minor under 16 in Massachusetts, under 18 in North Carolina, and under 18 in Florida). Victims can be either women or men. Most victims/survivors know the perpetrators who may be the victim's/survivor's best friend, lover, partner, date, family member, neighbor, teacher, employer, doctor, or classmate. The perpetrator can be a husband, wife, boyfriend, or girlfriend. Sexual assault can occur between members of the opposite sex or same sex. Alcohol, date-rape drugs, or other substances may be involved.

Non-Consensual Sexual Contact

Non-consensual sexual contact means having or attempting to have sexual contact with another person without consent (other than non-consensual sexual penetration, which is addressed below). Examples of non-consensual sexual contact may include: the intentional touching of the intimate parts of another, or causing the other to touch one's intimate parts, including over clothing, removing of clothing of another person, or kissing.

Sexual Exploitation

Sexual exploitation occurs when one person takes non-consensual or abusive sexual advantage of another for his or her own personal advantage or benefit, (and that behavior does not otherwise constitute one of the other sexual misconduct offenses). Examples include but are not limited to: invasion of sexual privacy; streaming of images, photography, video or audio recording of sexual

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

activity or nudity, or distribution of such without the knowledge and consent of all parties; voyeurism; including incapacitation for the purpose of making another person vulnerable to non-consensual sexual activity.

Consent

Willingly giving permission or agreement to a sexual act, without threat of harm. Consent is an informed agreement to participate in an act, communicated verbally or through physical participation that is not achieved through manipulation, intimidation, or coercion of any kind or given by one who is incapable of giving clear and knowing consent, by reason of the individual's age, being under the influence of alcohol or drugs, or otherwise. The manner of dress of the victim at the time of the offense does not constitute consent.

Consent cannot be assumed and is never implied, even in a current or previous dating or sexual relationship.

Consent can be withdrawn at any time. Absence of protest, passivity, or silence is not consent. Consent is hearing the word "yes." It is not the absence of hearing "no."

Incapacitation

Incapacitation also constitutes lack of consent. Incapacitation is a state in which someone cannot make rational, reasonable decisions because the person lacks the capacity to give knowing consent. Intercourse is generally considered to be committed by force and against a person's will if: the person is unconscious; the person is asleep; the person is drugged or intoxicated; the person is frightened or intimidated; or the person is mentally impaired or deficient so that he or she cannot agree to the act. Engaging in any form of sexual activity with someone who is incapacitated constitutes sexual misconduct.

Domestic, dating, intimate partner, or family violence is the abuse of power and control. It is a pattern of behavior used by one person to control another through force or threats.

Domestic Violence (from 42 USC ss 13925):

Dating Violence (from 42 USC ss 13925):

The term "dating violence" means violence committed by a person:

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

- A. who is or has been in a social relationship of a romantic or intimate nature with the victim; and
- B. where the existence of such a relationship shall be determined based on a consideration of the following factors:
 - i. The length of the relationship.
 - ii. The type of relationship.
- iii. The frequency of interaction between the persons involved in the relationship.

Stalking (from 42 USC ss 13925):

The term "stalking" means engaging in a course of conduct directed at a specific person that would cause a reasonable person to:

A. fear for his or her safety or the safety of others; or

B. suffer substantial emotional distress.

GUIDANCE ON REPORTING

BMIU prohibits sex discrimination in any education program or activity that it operates. Individuals may report concerns or questions to the Title IX Coordinator.

BMIU encourages those who have experienced any form of sex-based discrimination, harassment or misconduct to immediately find a safe place, report the incident promptly, seek all available assistance, and to pursue Seminary conduct violation charges and criminal prosecution of the offender.

BMIU takes complaints seriously and will work with complainants to ensure that they are well cared for, physically, emotionally, and spiritually. The Seminary will cooperate fully with the police in any related investigation and reserves the right to commence its internal complaint resolution procedures prior to the completion of any police investigation.

Reports of sexual misconduct can be made by completing the confidential incident of sexual misconduct report form.

BMIU offers amnesty for any students who report an incident of sexual misconduct while violating

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

another aspect of the Community Life Statement or housing guidelines, such as drinking on campus or drug use. To encourage reporting and witnesses, BMI University offers amnesty for minor policy violations related to the incident and is in the sole discretion of the seminary and is not applicable for more significant violations such as physical violence or illicit drug distribution. Reports can be made to the Dean of Students (Institutional), who is the Title IX Coordinator, any Campus Safety Officer, and any Seminary employee identified as a mandatory reporter. BMI University employees having the authority and responsibility to take action to remedy are considered mandated reporters and must report actual or suspected discrimination, harassment, and/or retaliation to the Title IX Coordinator or designee immediately.

These employees include senior administration and employees in supervisory or management roles. In the event that any of the foregoing personnel are engaged in a therapeutic or ministerial relationship (i.e. doctor/patient, clergy/penitent) with a student outside of BMIU academic programs, legal counsel should be consulted before making any report. Such discussions may be protected by HIPAA (, or the clergy-penitent privilege set forth in M.G.L. c. 233, § 20A.

Students have a right to file a criminal complaint and a Title IX complaint simultaneously. If an individual wishes to seek confidential assistance in dealing with a Title IX violation, he or she can speak with a Confidential Advocate.

Please consult the full policy and process below as what immediately follows is a summary. For matters in which an official process is followed (Title IX and VAWA):

- 1. The investigation of a sex-based misconduct allegation may proceed whether or not a related criminal matter is pending.
- 2. In accordance with Federal guidance, BMIU will complete investigations and this process within a reasonable time.
- 3. Both parties will be provided written updates during the complaint resolution process.
- 4. Both parties will be advised in writing of the outcome of a complaint, at the same time, once a decision has been reached.
- 5. Allegations of sexual assault will not be resolved by meditation.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

- 6. The standard used to determine whether a violation has occurred is whether it is more likely than not that the respondent did so. This is referred to as a "Preponderance of Evidence" standard. Evidence must be submitted during the investigation and either the evidence or a description of the evidence will be available for examination by both parties.
- 7. Both parties may have an advisor of their choice present during a hearing.
- 8. Hearings are live, although complainant and respondent will not be in the same room and cannot ask questions of each other. Relevant questions will be asked by the adjudicator.
- Appeals must be based on procedural irregularity that affected the outcome of the matter, new evidence not available at the time of determination, conflict of interest, or another base that is offered to both parties.

The following people have a right to make a complaint of sex discrimination, including complaints of sex-based

harassment, requesting that BMIU investigate and make a determination about alleged discrimination under Title IX: (Referred to as a "complainant" 1) a student or employee of BMIU who is alleged to have been subjected to conduct that could constitute sex discrimination under Title IX; or 2) a person other than a student or employee of BMIU who is alleged to have been subjected to conduct that could constitute sex discrimination under Title IX; or 2) a person other than a student or employee of BMIU who is alleged to have been subjected to conduct that could constitute sex discrimination under Title IX at a time when that individual was participating or attempting to participate in. BMIU education program or activity; 3) A parent, guardian, or other authorized legal representative with the legal right to act on behalf of a complainant; or 4) BMIU Title IX Coordinator. Note that a person is entitled to make a complaint of sex-based harassment only if they themselves are alleged to have been subjected to the sex-based harassment, if they have a legal right to act on behalf of such person, or if the Title IX Coordinator initiates a complaint consistent with the requirements of 34 C.F.R. § 106.44(f)(1)(v). BMIU may consolidate complaints of sex-based discrimination against more than one respondent, or by more than one complainant against one or more respondents, or by one party against another party, when the allegations of sex-based discrimination arise out of the same facts

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

or circumstances. When more than one complainant or more than one respondent is involved, references below to a party, complainant, or respondent include the plural, as applicable.

Initial Assessment and Interim Measures

The first concern in a report of sex-based misconduct is for the physical safety and emotional wellbeing of the reporting individual. The purpose of the initial assessment is to end the sex-based misconduct, eliminate a hostile environment, prevent its recurrence, and remedy its effects. The Title IX Coordinator will review this policy and the options for suitable resolution. If the Title IX Coordinator concludes that the alleged conduct falls outside the scope of this policy, the complainant may be referred to a different process for resolution. Should the alleged conduct be a Title IX matter, the process outlined by the Federal government will be followed.

When a complaint is received, the Seminary will provide appropriate interim measures to prevent further acts of misconduct, or safeguard the wellbeing of the complainant, the respondent, or the broader campus community while the investigation is in process, and to ensure equal access to Seminary's education programs. The Seminary will determine the necessity and scope of any interim measure. Such measures may include: ensuring access to counseling and medical services; providing alternative work arrangements, such as adjusting work schedules or supervisors; providing access to appropriate academic support, such as tutoring or permission to withdraw from or retake a class; or provide alternate living arrangements; or any other remedy that can be used to achieve the goals of this policy.

Even when the Seminary has determined that because of the reporting student's request for confidentiality there can be no formal consequence, immediate action can be taken to protect the reporting student. Such actions include: providing counseling support and academic support services; and increased monitoring, supervision, or security.

Parties also may seek protective measures from outside law enforcement agencies.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

REQUIREMENTS OF TITLE IX GRIEVANCE PROCEDURES:

- BMIU will treat complainants and respondents equitably.
- BMIU requires that any Title IX Coordinator, investigator, or decisionmaker not have a conflict of interest or bias for or against complainants or respondents generally or an individual complainant or respondent. A decisionmaker may be the same person as the Title IX Coordinator or investigator.
- BMIU presumes that the respondent is not responsible for the alleged sex discrimination until a determination is made at the conclusion of its grievance procedures.
- BMIU has established the following timeframes for the major stages of the grievance procedures: evaluation for dismissal or investigation—5 business days; investigation—25 business days; determination—10 business days; appeal—10 business day.
- BMIU has also established the following process that allows for the reasonable extension of timeframes on a case-by-case basis for good cause with notice to the parties that includes the reason for the delay: Should additional time be required for things like school breaks, parties who are out of the office, exceptionally full times of the year (orientation and commencement), notification will be provided to both parties with an alternative date by which the stage will be completed.
- BMIU will take reasonable steps to protect the privacy of the parties and witnesses during its grievance procedures. These steps will not restrict the ability of the parties to obtain and present evidence, including by speaking to witnesses; consult with their family members, confidential resources, or advisors; or otherwise prepare for or participate in the grievance procedures. The parties cannot engage in retaliation, including against witnesses.
- BMIU will objectively evaluate all evidence that is relevant and not otherwise impermissible— including both inculpatory and exculpatory evidence. Credibility determinations will not be based on a person's status as a complainant, respondent, or witness.

The following types of evidence, and questions seeking that evidence, are impermissible (i.e., will not be accessed or considered, except by BMIU to determine whether one of the exceptions listed

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

below applies; will not be disclosed; and will not otherwise be used), regardless of whether they are relevant:

- Evidence that is protected under a privilege recognized by Federal or State law or evidence provided to a confidential employee, unless the person to whom the privilege or confidentiality is owed has voluntarilywaived the privilege or confidentiality;
- A party's or witness's records that are made or maintained by a physician, psychologist, or other recognized professional or paraprofessional in connection with the provision of treatment to the party or witness, unless BMIU obtains that party's or witness's voluntary, written consent for use in its grievance procedures; and
- Evidence that relates to the complainant's sexual interests or prior sexual conduct, unless evidence about the complainant's prior sexual conduct is offered to prove that someone other than the respondent committed the alleged conduct or is evidence about specific incidents of the complainant's prior sexual conduct with the respondent that is offered to prove consent to the alleged sex-based harassment. The fact of prior consensual sexual conduct between the complainant and respondent does not by itself demonstrate or imply the complainant's consent to the alleged sex-based harassment or preclude determination that sex-based harassment occurred.

Written Notice of Allegations:

Upon initiation of BMIU Title IX grievance procedures, BMIU will notify the parties in writing of the following with sufficient time for the parties to prepare a response before any initial interview:

- BMIU Title IX grievance procedures and informal resolution process;
- Sufficient information available at the time to allow the parties to respond to the allegations, including the identities of the parties involved in the incident(s), the conduct alleged to constitute sex discrimination, and the date(s) and location(s) of the alleged incident(s);

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

- Retaliation is prohibited.
- The respondent is presumed not responsible for the alleged sex-based harassment until a determination is made at the conclusion of the grievance procedures. Prior to such a determination, the parties will have an opportunity to present relevant and not otherwise impermissible evidence to a trained, impartial decision-maker.
- The parties may have an advisor of their choice who may be, but is not required to be, an attorney.
- The parties are entitled to an equal opportunity to access the relevant and not otherwise impermissible evidence or an investigative report that accurately summarizes this evidence. BMIU will provide access to an investigative report and the parties are entitled to an equal opportunity to access the relevant and not impermissible evidence upon the request of any party.
- BMIU Community Life Statement prohibits knowingly making false statements or knowingly submitting false information during grievance procedures,
- If, in the course of an investigation, BMIU decides to investigate additional allegations of sex discrimination by the respondent toward the complainant that are not included in the notice provided or that are included in a complaint that is consolidated, BMIU will notify the parties of the additional allegations.

Dismissal of a Complaint:

BMIU may dismiss a complaint of sex discrimination if:

- BMIU is unable to identify the respondent after taking reasonable steps to do so;
- The respondent is not participating in BMI University education program or activity and is not employed by BMIU.
- The complainant voluntarily withdraws any or all of the allegations in the complaint, the Title IX Coordinator declines to initiate a complaint, and BMIU determines that, without the complainant's withdrawn allegations, the conduct that remains alleged in the complaint, if any, would not constitute sex discrimination under Title IX even if proven; or

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

• BMIU determines the conduct alleged in the complaint, even if proven, would not constitute sex discrimination under Title IX. Before dismissing the complaint, BMI University will make reasonable efforts to clarify the allegations with the complainant.

Upon dismissal, BMIU will promptly notify the complainant of the basis for the dismissal. If the dismissal occurs after the respondent has been notified of the allegations, then BMIU will notify the parties simultaneously in writing.

BMIU will notify the complainant that a dismissal may be appealed on the bases outlined in the Appeals section. If dismissal occurs after the respondent has been notified of the allegations, then BMIU will also notify the respondent that the dismissal may be appealed on the same bases. If a dismissal is appealed, BMIU will follow the procedures outlined in the Appeals section.

When a complaint is dismissed, BMIU will, at a minimum:

- Offer supportive measures to the complainant as appropriate;
- If the respondent has been notified of the allegations, offer supportive measures to the respondent as appropriate; and
- Take other prompt and effective steps, as appropriate, through the Title IX Coordinator to ensure that sex discrimination does not continue or recur within BMI University education program or activity.

Investigation:

BMIU will provide for adequate, reliable, and impartial investigation of complaints.

The burden is on BMIU --not on the parties—to conduct an investigation that gathers sufficient evidence to determine whether sex discrimination occurred.

BMIU will provide to a party whose participation is invited or expected, written notice of the date, time, location, participants, and purpose of all meetings or proceedings with sufficient time for the party to prepare to participate.

BMIU will provide the parties with the same opportunities to be accompanied to any meeting or proceeding by the advisor of their choice, who may be, but is not required to be, an attorney.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

- BMIU will not limit the choice or presence of the advisor for the complainant or respondent in any meeting or proceeding.
- BMIU may establish restrictions regarding the extent to which the advisor may participate in these grievance procedures, as long as the restrictions apply equally to the parties.

BMIU will provide the parties with the same opportunities, if any, to have people other than the advisor of the parties' choice present during any meeting or proceeding.

BMIU will provide an equal opportunity for the parties to present fact witnesses and other inculpatory and exculpatory evidence that are relevant and not otherwise impermissible.

BMIU will review all evidence gathered through the investigation and determine what evidence is relevant and what evidence is impermissible regardless of relevance.

BMIU will provide each party with an equal opportunity to access the evidence that is relevant to the allegations of sex discrimination and not otherwise impermissible, in the following manner:

• BMIU will provide an equal opportunity to access either the relevant and not otherwise impermissible evidence, or the same written investigative report that accurately summarizes this evidence.

BMIU will provide access to the investigative report and will further provide the parties equal opportunity to access the relevant and not otherwise impermissible evidence upon the request of any party;

- BMIU will provide a reasonable opportunity to review and respond to the evidence or the investigative report. BMIU may decide whether to provide this opportunity to respond prior to the live hearing, during the live hearing, or both prior to and during the live hearing; and
- BMIU will take reasonable steps to prevent and address the parties' and their advisors' unauthorized disclosure of information and evidence obtained solely through the sex-based harassment grievance procedures.

Questioning the Parties and Witnesses:

BMIU will provide a process that enables the decisionmaker to question parties and witnesses to

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

adequately assess a party's or witness's credibility to the extent credibility is both in dispute and relevant to evaluating one or more allegations of sex-based harassment.

BMIU process for proposing and asking relevant and not otherwise impermissible questions and follow-up questions of parties and witnesses, including questions challenging credibility, will allow the decisionmaker to ask such questions, and allow each party to propose such questions that the party wants asked of any party or witness and have those questions asked by the decisionmaker, subject to the procedures for evaluating and limiting questions discussed below.

Procedures for the decisionmaker to evaluate the questions and limitations on questions:

The decisionmaker will determine whether a proposed question is relevant and not otherwise impermissible before the question is posed and will explain any decision to exclude a question as not relevant or otherwise impermissible. Questions that are unclear or harassing of the party or witness being questioned will not be permitted. The decisionmaker will give a party an opportunity to clarify or revise a question that the decisionmaker determines is unclear or harassing. If the party sufficiently clarifies or revises the question, the question will be asked.

Refusal to respond to questions and inferences based on refusal to respond to questions:

The decisionmaker may choose to place less or no weight upon statements by a party or witness who refuses to respond to questions deemed relevant and not impermissible. The decisionmaker will not draw an inference about whether sex-based harassment occurred based solely on a party's or witness's refusal to respond to such questions.

Procedures for a Live Hearing:

BMIU will conduct the live hearing with the parties physically present in separate locations with technology enabling the decisionmaker and parties to simultaneously see and hear the party or witness while that

person is speaking.

BMIU will create an audio or audiovisual recording or transcript of any live hearing and make it

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

available to the parties for inspection and review. No unauthorized recording or sharing of recordings is permitted.

Determination Whether Sex-Based Harassment Occurred:

Following an investigation and evaluation of all relevant and not otherwise impermissible evidence, BMIU will:

- Use the preponderance of the evidence standard of proof to determine whether sex discrimination occurred. The standard of proof requires the decisionmaker to evaluate relevant and not otherwise impermissible evidence for its persuasiveness. If the decisionmaker is not persuaded under the applicable standard by the evidence that sex discrimination occurred, whatever the quantity of the evidence is, the decisionmaker will not determine that sex discrimination occurred.
- Notify the parties simultaneously in writing of the determination whether sex-based harassment occurred under Title IX including:
 - A description of the alleged sex-based harassment;
 - Information about the policies and procedures that BMI University used to evaluate the allegations;
 - The decisionmaker's evaluation of the relevant and not otherwise impermissible evidence and determination whether sex-based harassment occurred;
 - When the decisionmaker finds that sex-based harassment occurred, any disciplinary sanctions

BMIU will impose on the respondent, whether remedies other than the imposition of disciplinary sanctions will be provided by BMIU to the complainant, and, to the extent appropriate, other students identified by BMIU to be experiencing the effects of the sex based harassment; and o BMIU procedures and permissible bases for the complainant and respondent to appeal.

• BMIU will not impose discipline on a respondent for sex discrimination prohibited by Title IX unless there is a determination at the conclusion of the Title IX grievance procedures that the respondent engaged in prohibited sex discrimination.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

• If there is a determination that sex discrimination occurred, as appropriate, the Title IX Coordinator will: o Coordinate the provision and implementation of remedies to a complainant and other people

BMIU identifies as having had equal access to BMIU education program or activity limited or denied by sex discrimination; o Coordinate the imposition of any disciplinary sanctions on a respondent, including notification to the complainant of any such disciplinary sanctions; and o Take other appropriate prompt and effective steps to ensure that sex discrimination does not continue or recur within BMIU education program or activity.

- Comply with the Title IX grievance procedures before the imposition of any disciplinary sanctions against a respondent; and
- Not discipline a party, witness, or others participating in the Title IX grievance procedures for making a false statement or for engaging in consensual sexual conduct based solely on the determination whether sex discrimination occurred. (A disciplinary process may be initiated for making false statements under the Community Life Statement standards as long as there is evidence independent of the determination whether sex discrimination occurred.)

The determination regarding responsibility becomes final either on the date that BMIU provides the parties with the written determination of the result of any appeal, or, if no party appeals, the date on which an appeal would no longer be considered timely.

Appeals

BMIU will offer an appeal from a dismissal or determination whether sex-based harassment occurred on the following bases:

- Procedural irregularity that would change the outcome;
- New evidence that would change the outcome and that was not reasonably available when the determination or dismissal was made; and

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

• The Title IX Coordinator, investigator, or decisionmaker had a conflict of interest or bias for or against complainants or respondents generally or the individual complainant or respondent that would change the outcome.

If a party appeals a dismissal or determination whether sex-based harassment occurred, BMIU will:

- Notify the parties in writing of any appeal, including notice of the allegations, if notice was not previously provided to the respondent.
- Implement appeal procedures equally for the parties;
- Ensure that the decisionmaker for the appeal did not take part in an investigation of the allegations or dismissal of the complaint;
- Ensure that the decisionmaker for the appeal has been trained consistent with the Title IX regulations;
- Communicate to the parties in writing that BMIU will provide the parties a reasonable and equal opportunity to make a statement in support of, or challenging, the outcome; and
- Notify the parties in writing of the result of the appeal and the rationale for the result.

Any additional procedures or bases for appeal BMIU offers will be equally available to all parties.

Informal Resolution:

In lieu of resolving a complaint through BMIU Title IX grievance procedures, the parties may instead elect to participate in an informal resolution process. BMIU does not offer informal resolution to resolve a complaint that includes allegations that an employee engaged in sex-based harassment of an elementary school or secondary school student, or when such a process would conflict with Federal, State, or local law. Before the initiation of an informal resolution process, BMIU will explain in writing to the parties:

- The allegations;
- The requirements of the informal resolution process;

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

- That any party has the right to withdraw from the informal resolution process and initiate or resume grievance procedures at any time before agreeing to a resolution;
- That if the parties agree to a resolution at the end of the informal resolution process, they cannot initiate or resume grievance procedures arising from the same allegations;
- The potential terms that may be requested or offered in an informal resolution agreement, including notice that an informal resolution agreement is binding only on the parties; and
- What information BMIU will maintain and whether and how BMIU could disclose such information for use in Title IX grievance procedures if such procedures are initiated or resumed.

Supportive Measures:

BMIU will offer and coordinate supportive measures as appropriate for the complainant and/or respondent to restore or preserve that person's access to BMIU education program or activity or provide support during BMIU Title IX grievance procedures or during the informal resolution process.

For complaints of sex-based harassment, these supportive measures may include counseling, extensions of deadlines, course-related adjustments, mutual restrictions on contact, changes in oncampus work or housing, leaves of absence, and other similar measures.

Disciplinary Sanctions and Remedies:

Following a determination that sex-based harassment occurred, BMIU may impose disciplinary sanctions, which may include required counseling, suspension, expulsion, or other similar measures. BMIU may also provide remedies, which may include compensatory damages, campus no-trespass notices, limited scheduling and/or access to buildings, and other similar measures. BMIU has adopted Title IX grievance procedures that provide for the prompt and equitable resolution of complaints made by students, employees, or other individuals who are participating or attempting to participate in its education program or activity, or by the Title IX Coordinator. These grievance procedures address complaints of sex-based harassment that involve a student

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

party. If a party is both an employee and a student, BMIU will consider the party's primary relationship with the school and whether the alleged sex-based harassment occurred while the party was performing employment-related work.

Retaliation

Retaliation or attempts to seek retribution against a student, an employee, or any other individual involved in filing a complaint or participating in the investigation of an allegation of sexual misconduct is prohibited by this policy and may constitute separate grounds for disciplinary action. Retaliation can include threats, intimidation, and abuse. Such retaliation is unlawful and will not be tolerated by the Seminary.

Individuals who believe they have experienced retaliation should contact the Title IX Coordinator and the Seminary will investigate the complaint. If the Seminary determines that retaliation occurred, an appropriate action will be taken regardless of the outcome of the underlying sexual misconduct complaint.

BMIU also prohibits disclosure of any information obtained as due course of a Title IX investigation or hearing by any party or participant, including personally identifiable information without authorization or consent.

This does not apply to the disclosure of information to law enforcement.

Pregnancy

The federal Title IX regulations require that pregnant students be advised of BMIU obligations to prevent discrimination and ensure equal access to its programs. Students who advise BMIU faculty or staff of their pregnancy shall be referred to the Title IX Coordinator who will then provide the student with information about

BMIU obligations to prevent discrimination and ensure equal access to its programs and the process of requesting reasonable modifications, if needed. Our intention is to provide a supportive and helpful environment for these students. Any such information obtained by BMIU faculty or staff regarding a pregnant student shall remain confidential and treated the same as any other personally identifiable information.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

Resources and Support for Students

If you or someone you know has been the victim of any of the above-mentioned violations, you should FIRST get to safety. Dialing 911 will alert the Police Department. The Student Life Services staff are available to assist in these matters as well. Click here for a list of other available resources.

Questions about Title IX can be directed to the Title IX Coordinator or to the Office of Civil Rights (OCR) of the U.S. Department of Education.

STUDENT GRIEVANCE AGAINST A FACULTY MEMBER

While conflict may be inevitable, our hope is that any differences can be resolved in such a way that growth occurs.

We are a learning community, and as such, our posture ought to be in readiness to experience the formation that God intends. We will live according to biblical principles, seeking to exhibit the fruit of the Spirit as we walk with each other. The following process is meant to guide us toward resolution and growth.

Regarding a Personal Grievance:

- Seek to resolve the matter in private discussion with the relevant faculty member.
- In such cases where this is not possible, appropriate, or wise, students are encouraged to bring another student or the Dean of Students of the specific campus/community. (If the grievance is regarding sexual harassment or assault, the student should speak with the Title IX Coordinator.)

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

Note: BMIU encourages students to dialogue with faculty members directly about grievances, but should that prove to be unadvisable, the student may bring his or her concerns to the Dean of Students without first going directly to the faculty member.

- After taking this step, if resolution is not reached, the matter should be referred in writing to the Campus Dean and Dean of Students of the specific campus/community (or equivalent person). Without written details, no action will be taken.
- The Dean will then refer the matter either to the Faculty Personnel Policies Committee (FPPC) or the Academic Affairs Committee (AAC) or both, depending on the nature of the grievance. In principle, academic matters are referred to the AAC and personnel matters to the FPPC. Either committee may enlist the work of a subcommittee to investigate the particulars and recommend action. When a subcommittee is used, the full committee shall act on the grievance, with written conclusions given both to the faculty member and the student (with a copy to the Campus Dean and Dean of Students). The decision of the committee shall be final; however, in the case of procedural inconsistency or new information, the matter can be appealed to the Campus Dean and, if necessary, the Provost.

Regarding Grades or Academic Performance: As stated above, the matter first shall be addressed by the student to the relevant faculty member. If resolution is not reached at that level, the student may appeal in writing to the Campus Dean, who will refer the matter to the Judicial Committee, a subcommittee of the Academic Affairs Committee. If the student is dissatisfied with the decision of the AAC, he or she may appeal in writing to the Campus Dean, whose decision shall be final.

STUDENT'S RIGHTS OF PRIVACY AND ACCESS TO RECORDS

BMIU accords to all students the rights outlined under the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act of 1974 as amended. General information, which the seminary may give out at its discretion, is listed under the Directory Information portion of the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act section. If the student wishes any of this information withheld, he or she may write to the Registration Office, and the request will be honored within the academic year the letter is received. Students must re-petition at the start of each academic year.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

Other information from the student's educational record is considered confidential and available only for appropriate review or in the event of an emergency to protect the health or safety of the student or others (see also Family Education Rights and Privacy Act).

STUDENT STATUS

Current Student

To be a current student at the seminary, an individual must have been accepted through the regular admissions process and be enrolled in at least one course during a current semester or session. A student who is completing an extension (or extensions) from a semester or session that has ended is not considered a current student unless she or he also meets the above criteria.

Full-Time Status

A master's student must take at least seven semester hours in a fall or spring term or six hours in the full-summer semester to qualify as a full-time student in that term. Three credit hours constitutes full-time status in the January intensive session. Neither summer nor January session courses are included in calculating full-time status for the fall and spring semesters. Students enrolled in programs not requiring 1 credit hour courses must register for at least nine semester hours to be considered full-time in a fall or spring term. Doctor of Ministry students who are enrolled in 15 credits per year are considered full-time.

Half- and Part-Time Statuses

In order to be considered half-time in the fall, spring, or full-summer terms, a master's student must be registered for at least four semester hours. Students enrolled in less than four hours are part-time. Students enrolled in programs not requiring 1 credit hour courses must register for at least six semester hours to be considered halftime.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

Non-Current Student

A student who does not register for classes in a given semester and does not officially withdraw will be considered a non-current student. This includes a student who is completing coursework from a previous semester or session and does not register for the current semester. A non-current student will be permitted to register during the stated priority registration periods. Non-current status will not continue beyond two years.

STYLE GUIDELINES FOR PAPERS AND THESES

BMIU Thesis Guidelines are attached to the thesis course petition available online and in the Registration Office. These guidelines are required of every student who writes a thesis, except as noted below. The approved style manuals for BMIU papers and theses are the latest edition of A Manual for Writers of Term Papers, Theses and Dissertations, by Kate L. Turabian; the latest edition of the MLA Handbook for Writers of Research Papers; and Form and Style: Theses, Reports, Term Papers by William Giles Campbell, Stephen Vaughan Ballou, and Carole Slade. One should be chosen by the student and followed consistently. Turabian or MLA may be supplemented by the latest edition of The Chicago Manual of Style. The SBL Handbook of Style for Ancient, Near Eastern, Biblical, and Early Christian Studies shall be the required guide for all theses in the areas of Bible and theology and is the recommended guide for papers in Bible and theology classes. For papers and theses in the field of counseling and psychology, an approved alternative to Turabian and MLA is the latest edition of the Publication Manual of the American Psychological Association.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

When a different style manual is more appropriate to the discipline of a thesis, the thesis committee may authorize an exception. The format of a thesis is expected to follow the BMIU Thesis Guidelines, which may have slight variations from the format recommended in an approved style manual. These guidelines are attached to the thesis course petition found online and in the Registration Office.

SUMMATIVE EVALUATION

- An oral examination before a faculty member of the respective division. This examination is based on the content of the courses the student has taken in the major field of study, either at BMIU or at other schools if the student has transferred to BMIU, and it is intended to be integrative in nature.
- 2. A summative reflection paper reviewing questions concerning integration of curriculum, intellectual development, worldview, spirituality, vocational calling, and a plan for lifelong learning.
- 3. An 800- or 900-level Research course (see Reading and Research Courses), NT/OT795, or a thesis on a topic approved by the division where the degree is located (see Thesis Courses).

With the exception of pending October graduates, students will not be able to graduate or participate in graduation ceremonies until all Summative Evaluation requirements have been completed. Upon division approval, October graduates may complete their Summative Evaluations in the summer.

THESIS COURSES

Thesis (M.A.)

M.A. theses are permitted only upon invitation by the respective academic division. Interested students should check with their respective program director for deadlines and instructions on preparing a thesis proposal for consideration. Students may choose to write a one or two semester thesis. Students writing two-semester theses must register for the two parts of their theses concurrently or back-to-back. A one-semester thesis is limited to 40 to 50 pages, receiving one

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

course (three hours) worth of credit. The two-semester thesis is limited to 80 to 100 pages, receiving two courses (six hours) worth of credit. Page limits may only be exceeded by special exemption.

Thesis (Th.M.)

The Th.M. thesis fulfills one (3 credits) or two (6 credits) courses in the student's concentration. Students writing two-semester Th.M. theses must register for the two parts concurrently or back-to-back. A one-course thesis must be 12,000 to 15,000 words (approximately 40-50 pages) in length. A two-course thesis must be 24,000 to 30,000 words (approximately 80-100 pages) in length. Page limits may only be exceeded by special exemption.

Completed M.A. or Th.M. theses (including title page, introduction, conclusion, and bibliography) must be submitted to the thesis advisor by the appropriate deadline. Upon approval by the thesis advisor, the student will submit the thesis to his/her assigned second reader. The thesis must be submitted to the second reader at least two weeks before the thesis defense. Failure to sustain a passing grade on the thesis, including the required oral defense, will result in a rewriting of the thesis, or a portion thereof, for re-submission as specified by the first and second readers, and may also include a rescheduled oral thesis defense.

Once the thesis is completed, students are required to submit an electronic copy to the Registration Office. In addition, students must sign and submit BMI University Copyright Release Form for Deposited Student Works and copyright release forms for selected vendors (e.g., TREN). Guidelines for thesis preparation are on the M.A.

Thesis Course Petition found online and in the Registration Office. A student intending to graduate in January or May must submit a completed thesis to the advisor and reader four weeks from the end of the semester of expected completion. A final, fully corrected copy must be emailed to the Registration Office by the date specified in the Academic Calendar. The Registration Office will note completion and forward to the Library for uploading to TREN/Archive.org.

TH.M. WRITING COURSE DESIGNATION

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

The Th.M. program typically culminates in a significant piece of writing that requires scholarly research. This writing requirement can be fulfilled either through a thesis or a Th.M. writing course within the student's area of concentration. One Th.M. writing course is required of all Th.M. students who do not write a thesis.

The writing course can be done as a Th.M.-level directed study course, such as an out-of-sequence or research course, or it can be done as a standard class that is elevated to the Th.M. (900) level and designated as a writing course within which the student completes additional research and writing. Because writing courses are only taken by students who do not write theses, special emphasis is placed on the student's fulfillment of additional written requirements (i.e. extended research paper) as agreed upon by the student, the Th.M. program director, the course instructor, and the registrar.

The writing course must be taken in the student's area of concentration. The research paper must be a minimum of 25–35 pages in length (at least 10-15 pages more than the standard course requirement). Writing courses are subject to all the policies, deadlines and procedures governing other "standard" courses. If the student is designating a standard course on the schedule as the Th.M. Writing Course, the student should register for the standard course by the deadline and submit the completed Writing Course Designation Petition to the Registration Office no later than two weeks after the semester begins. If the student is doing a directed study to fulfill this requirement, the student should submit the completed Th.M. Directed Study Petition to the Registration Office by the directed study petition deadline in the Academic Calendar, which is one week before the standard course add deadline.

TIME LIMITS FOR DEGREES

See Satisfactory Academic Progress for time limits on completion of degree programs to maintain eligibility for federal financial aid. A limit of 10 years from date of initial entry into a degree program is placed on the time for securing the M.Div. degree and D.Min. degree. A limit of seven

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

years from date of initial entry is in effect for all other master's programs, excepting the Th.M., which has a limit of four years.

TRANSCRIPTS

Transcript Requests

All requests for academic transcripts must be made to the Registration Office. Both paper and secure electronic transcripts may be requested. Transcripts will never be emailed directly to a recipient, but PDF copies can be delivered to email via secure electronic delivery.

Transcript Records

In accordance with the accepted standards and practices of institutions of higher education in the United States,

BMI University will not alter the recording of any course on a transcript once the course has been completed. Further, the seminary will not alter a grade recorded on a transcript unless requested to do so by the relevant faculty member, Judicial Committee or Academic Dean upon approval of an appeal of the grade by the student. Students concerned about their academic progress in a given course should consider withdrawing from that course. If a student withdraws from a course after the drop deadline occurs, the course will appear on the transcript as a withdrawal (W). Courses withdrawn after the drop deadline (see the Academic Calendar) are subject to the usual refund policy stated in the Financial Information section of the Academic Catalog.

TRANSFER BETWEEN DEGREE PROGRAMS

Students wishing to transfer between degree programs may request a change through the Registration with a Degree Change Request form. Program changes to the MA in Christian Counseling, MA in Counseling, Master of Theology (Th.M.), Doctor of Ministry, or any degree from a Certificate program require an application through the Admissions Office; please contact

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

the Admissions Office for details. Students granted a change of degree status will then fall under the requirements stipulated by the catalog in effect at the time of program change.

TRANSFER CREDIT

A student may receive credit toward graduation by transfer of academic work taken at other accredited graduate schools. No transfer credit is permitted in the Master of Theology or Doctor of Ministry programs. For all other degrees no more than 50% of a student's BMIU program can be fulfilled through transfer credit, shared credit, or advanced standing.

If a degree was completed at another school accredited by the Association of Theological Schools, the total credit hours that BMIU will accept as transfer credit may not exceed 50% of whichever degree has less credit hours – either the completed degree at the other ATS accredited school or the degree the student intends to complete at BMIU. For example, if a student completed a 60-hour degree at another ATS accredited school and is

pursuing a 48-credit hour degree at BMIU, they can receive up to 24 hours of transfer credit at BMIU.

Unaccredited graduate work is occasionally accepted at partial value, although the general rule is that no more than nine elective hours will be given for such work. Exegesis courses are never transferred.

Transfer evaluations are performed by the Registration Office upon receipt of a request by accepted students and typically take four weeks to process. To be considered for transfer credit, a grade of "C" or better is required.

Transfer courses graded on a pass/fail or satisfactory/unsatisfactory basis may be accepted as long as the student still has some pass/fails remaining in his/her BMI University degree program. Such transfer courses will reduce the number of pass/fails the student has available at BMIU and may limit eligibility for graduation honors (see Pass/Fail Policy). Transferred grades will not be displayed on the transcript nor be used in the computation of the GPA. Transfer credit is not granted for work completed more than ten years prior to matriculation at BMIU.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

Transferability of credits completed at BMIU is at the discretion of the accepting institution and it is the student's responsibility to confirm whether or not credits will be accepted by another institution.

Transfer Credit into Counseling Degrees

A maximum of 18 counseling credits may be transferred to the MACC or MACO program, including a maximum of 12 core counseling credits and 6 counseling elective credits. Only counseling courses taken from a CACREP accredited institution will be considered for transfer. In accordance with CACREP guidelines, clinical classes where counseling skills and clinical competencies are taught and evaluated must be completed at BMIU and cannot be transferred from another institution. Counseling courses taken more than 6 years prior to the date of the transfer request will not be considered for transfer, even if taken at a CACREP accredited institution or if previously taken at BMIU.

VETERANS AFFAIRS EDUCATION BENEFIT

BMIU cooperates with the federal and state governments in supporting veterans (active duty and reserve) and their dependents eligible for education benefits. These include Department of Defense federal tuition assistance, state tuition assistance, and Department of Veterans Affairs benefits under the Montgomery GI Bill® and the Post-9/11 GI Bill®.

BMIU is a Yellow Ribbon-approved school. Applications and information regarding eligibility for benefits may be found at www.gibill.va.gov. For further information regarding enrollment certification, contact the School Certifying Official in the Registration Office.

BMIU complies with the requirements of 38 USC 3679(e) Veterans Benefits and Transition Act of 2018 with respect to covered individuals entitled to educational assistance under chapter 31, Vocational Rehabilitation and Employment, or chapter 33, Post-9/11 GI Bill® benefits as follows:

• Any covered individual may attend or participate in the course of education during the period beginning on the date on which the individual provides to the seminary a certificate of eligibility for entitlement to educational assistance under chapter 31 or 33 (or a

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

"Statement of Benefits" obtained from the Department of Veterans Affairs' (VA) website—eBenefits, or a VAF 28-1905 form for chapter 31 authorization purposes) and ending on the earlier of the following dates:

- the date on which payment from VA is made to the seminary; o 90 days after the date the seminary certifies tuition and fees following receipt of the certificate of eligibility.
 - The seminary will not impose any penalty or late fees or deny access to classes, libraries, or other institutional facilities, nor will the seminary require a covered individual to borrow additional funds due to an inability to meet financial obligations to the seminary due to delayed disbursement funding from VA under chapter 31 or 33.

The seminary may require covered individuals to take the following additional actions:

- Submit a certificate of eligibility for entitlement to educational assistance no later than the first day of a course of education.
- Submit a written request to use such entitlement.
- Provide additional information necessary to the proper certification of enrollment by the educational institution.
- Make additional payment for the amount that is the difference between the amount of the student's financial obligation and the amount of the VA education benefit disbursement.
 BMIU complies with the Veterans Access, Choice, and Accountability Act of 2014 in that it is a private educational institution and does not charge different tuition rates for in-and out-of-state students.

GI Bill® is a registered trademark of the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA). More information about education benefits offered by VA is available at the official U.S. government Web site at https://www.benefits.va.gov/gibill.

VIOLATIONS OF ACADEMIC INTEGRITY

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

The seminary considers all breaches of personal and academic integrity to be serious offenses. As such, the seminary has zero tolerance for such behaviors.

Cheating involves, but is not limited to, the use of unauthorized sources of information during an examination.

Duplication of course requirements involves the submission of the same (or substantially same) work for credit in two or more courses without the knowledge and consent of the instructor (see Duplication of Course Requirements). Plagiarism involves the use of another person's distinctive ideas or words, whether published or unpublished, and representing them as one's own instead of giving proper credit to the source.

BMIU Policy on AI Usage in Academic Work

Our mission as an institution of theological education is to prepare men and women for ministry. Generative

Artificial Intelligence (AI) is a developing field of machine learning capable of generating texts, images, code and other types of content that is a growing resource in our world. Human learning means acquiring a base of knowledge, skills, and attitudes needed for Christ's ministry in and through the Church. Since AI does impact academics and Christian ministry, we expect faculty to elucidate what appropriate usage of AI means for their particular courses. However, beyond any explicit allowance by professors, using AI to replace one's own thinking and engagement with assignments (including but not limited to research papers, course discussions, digital posts, presentations or exams) is a form of cheating. Leveraging generative AI in this manner will be considered a violation of academic integrity. As a community of learners committed to upholding scholarly standards, we value engagement with primary and scholarly sources, originality, creativity, deep learning through reflection, as well as the continuous development of critical thinking and writing skills. Violations of academic integrity will be brought to the BMIU Judicial Committee.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

All allegations of cheating and plagiarism are referred to the Judicial Committee. The Judicial Committee is a subcommittee of the Academic Affairs Committee with representatives from the faculty of all three academic divisions.

The Judicial Committee is chaired by the institutional Dean of Students of the seminary.

Allegations and Appeals Process:

- A faculty member will identify and substantiate a suspected violation of academic integrity. The faculty member has the prerogative to meet with the student for clarification concerning the suspected violation of academic integrity.
- 2. As soon as is reasonably possible, the faculty member will present the allegation to the Dean of Students.
- 3. Within three business days, the Dean of Students will give written notification of the allegation and due process to the accused student.
- 4. The student will have the option to respond in writing to the allegations within no more than ten business days of the Dean of Students' notification. This response must be directed to the Dean of Students.
- 5. The Dean of Students will gather all appropriate information and present it to the Judicial Committee for action. The Judicial Committee will have ten business days to meet, review the case and render a decision.

The student has the right to appear before the Judicial Committee to defend his/her case and may do so by making a request to the chair of the Judicial Committee prior to the meeting.

- A. Those who violate the seminary's policy on cheating and plagiarism will be subject to one or more of the following penalties: a failing grade on the assignment in question, a failing grade for the course, suspension from the seminary, dismissal from the seminary, or revocation of degree. Other penalties, if any, may be assigned at the committee's discretion.
- B. Matters may also be referred to the Guidance Committee and/or the Dean of Students at the discretion of the Judicial Committee.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

- 6. Within three business days of receiving the Judicial Committee's decision, the Dean of Students will send written notification of the decision to the student and all appropriate parties.
- 7. If the student so desires, he/she may appeal the Judicial Committee's decision by submitting a written petition to the Academic Dean within ten business days.
- Within ten business days, the Academic Dean will send written notification to the student and all appropriate parties of his/her decision to uphold or change the Judicial Committee's original decision.
- 9. If the student so desires, he/she may appeal the Academic Dean's decision by submitting a written petition to the Provost within ten business days.
- 10. Within ten business days, the Provost will send written notification to the student and all appropriate parties of his/her decision to uphold or change the Academic Dean's original decision. The Provost's decision will be final.
- 11. If a student is scheduled to graduate while an allegation is in process or under appeal, the above process will be accelerated if reasonably possible. If the allegation is not fully resolved at the time of graduation, the student will be permitted to participate in the graduation exercises, but he/she will not receive a diploma until the issue has been resolved.

The above durations are typically extended during the January and summer sessions, depending on the availability of the faculty member(s) involved. If a pending decision will affect future enrollment (i.e., prerequisites, etc.), the student should contact the Dean of Students for guidance. Reasonable deviations from these procedures will not invalidate a decision or proceeding unless significant prejudice to the student may result.

VISITING STUDENTS

Students planning to attend the University for the sole purpose of transferring credits to another school may be admitted as visiting students. Visiting students are classified as non-degree-seeking students and are ineligible to register for reading and research courses, out-of-sequence courses, and other types of directed studies. It is entirely the responsibility of the student to check with

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

his/her home school to ensure the school will accept the course(s) taken at BMI University as transfer credit.

VOTER REGISTRATION

Some state laws require educational institutions to make available mail-in affidavits for student voter registration.

Students should contact their home Registration Office for details or the appropriate state election official to receive the appropriate state form. For out-of-state students wishing to vote in a state other than their home campus state, the federal mail-in affidavit of voter registration or a mail-in registration form supplied by that state may be used.

WAIVERS FOR COURSE REQUIREMENTS

Waivers allow a student to substitute a different course within the curriculum for one specifically required in the student's program. The substituted course must normally be within the same department as the original requirement. Typically, waivers are granted to students who have done similar work at other institutions, either at the graduate or undergraduate level. When meeting with the appropriate professor, the student should be prepared to discuss content that was covered in the previous coursework, either by producing syllabi, course descriptions or transcripts showing completed work.

Occasionally, a student will be granted permission to waive a requirement with another course similar in design but varying in focus without having completed previous coursework at another school. In such cases, approval will be granted only when the student can show adequate reason why the substitute course would be more appropriate for the student's intended vocational goals. Waivers will not be granted for reasons such as convenience to a student's schedule, lack of proper planning on the part of the student, change of degree program late in the student's academic career, or because of previous experience gained outside a classroom setting. The Degree Requirement Waiver Petition is available in the Canvas Registration Hub. Waiver requests require approval of the appropriate division and/or professor and Registration.

[&]quot;Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"

WITHDRAWAL/LEAVE OF ABSENCE

Students requesting a leave of absence for a limited time should submit the official notification of leave of absence form (found in the Registration Hub in Canvas) to their Registration Office. Students intentionally withdrawing from the school should submit the official notification form (found in the Registration Hub in Canvas) to their Registration Office. DMIN students must submit official notification to the Program Manager. A student remaining inactive for a period extending beyond two years from the date of last enrollment will be officially withdrawn for inactivity.

If an officially withdrawn student desires to return within five years from the date of last enrollment, reinstatement may be requested by submitting a Student Reactivation Request form to the Registration Office. In some instances, the Registration Office may request a reference and/or church endorsement (required for MDIV).

Upon reinstatement, the student will be permitted to register for courses. Withdrawn students who desire to return after five years from the date of last enrollment, or resume a Counseling degree regardless of last enrollment date, must reapply through the Admissions Office. DMIN students requesting reinstatement must contact the Program Manager.

Service members and reservists who suspend their studies due to service requirements may request a leave of absence for these reasons without academic or financial penalty. The student shall have the option to complete the course at a later date or withdraw from the course with a full refund of fees and tuition paid. If the course is no longer available upon the student's return, the student shall be permitted to complete a replacement course for equivalent credit.

"Developing Christ – Centered Men and Women with the Values, Knowledge and Skills Essential to Impact the World"